### Essays in Unemployment Insurance

by

### David Walton Brown

Submitted to the Department of Economics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Economics

at the

### MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

September 2010

OF TECHNOL OCT 0 8 2010

LIBRARIES

© David Walton Brown, MMX. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part.

**ب** 9/1/10 Author . . . Department of Economics September 1, 2010 7/23/10 Certified by... • • • • • • • Jonathan Gruber Professor of Economics Thesis Supervisor 7/25/ID Certified by .... Amy Finkelstein Professor of Economics Thesis Supervisor Accepted by ..... Esther Duflo

Abdul Latif Jameel Professor of Poverty Alleviation and Development Economics Chairman, Departmental Committee on Graduate Studies

### ARCHIVES

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

### Essays in Unemployment Insurance

by

### David Walton Brown

Submitted to the Department of Economics on September 1, 2010, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

### Abstract

This thesis consists of three essays that examine household responses to state unemployment insurance (UI) generosity across spells of unemployment, with a particular emphasis on the role of liquidity constraints.

Enacted in 1986, the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) provides limited portability of employer-sponsored health insurance coverage amongst job separators. Separated workers are eligible to maintain their employer-sponsored health coverage at the point of separation for a period of typically 18 months, though are obligated to pay 102 percent of the full employer premium. The substantial cost to maintain continuation coverage relative to transitory income poses a potential barrier for the unemployed. Using Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) panels spanning 1990-2003, Chapter One re-evaluates existing evidence of UI adequacy and the limited effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates by assessing the role of UI in maintaining private health insurance coverage across employment status. I first establish the magnitude of the loss of private health insurance coverage associated with unemployment, separating the issue of duration dependence. I find that private coverage falls by approximately 19 percentage points, or 26 percent of pre-separation levels, across employment status. Exploiting plausibly exogenous spatial and temporal variation in UI generosity, I then employ a simulated instruments approach to estimate the effect of UI generosity on private health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed. I find that a 10 percentage points increase in the UI replacement rate increases private coverage amongst the unemployed by 3.0 percentage points, and that a \$100 increase in weekly UI benefits increases private coverage amongst the unemployed by 7.6 percentage points. Although imprecise, these results imply that current UI generosity mitigates the loss of private health insurance coverage by roughly 41 to 44 percent. Stratification across proxies for liquidity constraint and consumption commitment reveals suggestive evidence of an associated liquidity effect.

The policy response to shortfalls in insurance coverage for job separators has been to enact continuation of coverage mandates, which allow job leavers to continue their employersponsored coverage without the typical direct cost subsidization provided to active employees. For the unemployed, this cost is incurred during a period of low transitory income, suggesting a plausibly important role for liquidity constraints in limiting take-up of continuation benefits. Incorporating SIPP panels spanning 1983-2003, Chapter Two first evaluates the effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates in mitigating the fall in private health insurance coverage across spells of unemployment, identified by variation in state mandates and implementation of mandated federal coverage through COBRA. These results imply that 12 months of continuation of coverage eligibility mitigates the fall in private coverage amongst the unemployed with employer-sponsored health coverage prior to separation by approximately 18 percent. Exploiting plausibly exogenous spatial and temporal variation in state UI benefits across the reference period, I then employ a simulated instruments approach to estimate the heterogeneous effect of continuation of coverage mandates across levels of transitory income. These results are consistent with the notion of excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand. Absent state UI, mandate eligibility mitigates only 6 percent of the fall in private coverage. Yet for every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits, private coverage is increased for mandate-eligible separators by 10 percentage points relative to mandate-ineligible separators. Policy makers must comprehensively address both access to group insurance markets as well as ability to pay for constrained households.

Chapter Three re-evaluates existing evidence of a spousal labor supply response to state UI generosity. Although Chetty (2008) documents an associated liquidity effect in the response of unemployment spell duration to UI generosity, there has been no comparable work investigating the importance of liquidity constraints in explaining the crowd-out of spousal labor supply by eligible UI benefits of the household's primary earner. Across such periods of low transitory income of the primary earner, the spousal labor supply of liquidity constrained households plausibly exhibits greater responsiveness to eligible UI benefits. Yet the spousal labor supply response to UI generosity is composed of both an indirect effect, driven by eligible UI benefits of the unemployed primary earner, and a direct effect, driven by own-eligibility of the spouse. The longitudinal nature of the SIPP allows for identification of UI-ineligible spouses, and corresponding sample restrictions purge estimates of the confounding direct effect of UI. Employing a simulated instruments approach that exploits variation within-states across the reference period 1983-2003, I find that each eligible dollar in UI benefits crowds-out spousal earnings by 33 cents across the unemployment spell of the household's primary earner. Despite the sizeable estimate of crowd-out, the predicted increase in spousal earnings absent UI would offset only 13 percent of the lost wages of the unemployed primary earner. Stratification across proxies for liquidity constraint and fixed consumption commitment yields suggestive evidence of an associated liquidity effect. In terms of average spousal earnings, couples proxied as liquidity unconstrained through consideration of net liquid wealth are only 26 percent as responsive to eligible UI benefits of the primary earner relative to couples proxied as liquidity constrained. These results rationalize of the large crowd-out estimates of Cullen and Gruber (2000).

Thesis Supervisor: Jonathan Gruber Title: Professor of Economics

Thesis Supervisor: Amy Finkelstein Title: Professor of Economics .

5

•

### Acknowledgements

I am grateful for the time and effort that my advisors devoted to my research and education. Jonathan Gruber's record of public service and academic contributions is a source of inspiration. Despite a hectic schedule, Jon always made the time to engage with my research, and I value his insight and sensible guidance. Though I may have stretched his patience at times, Jon countered setbacks with a tempered response and good humor. Amy Finkelstein provided a needed correction to the focus of the thesis, and I value her contributions regarding research design and empirical approach. Their labors deserve my sincerest appreciations.

I have also learned from conversations with various faculty members, in particular James Poterba, Michael Greenstone, and David Autor. While I have benefited from informal discussions with numerous peers, I would like to thank Sean Klein, Michael Powell, and Matthew Notowidigdo for their support. I owe the entire departmental staff acknowledgement of their assistance, highlighting the efforts of Gary King.

My graduate education was financially supported through the National Science Foundation's Graduate Research Fellowship, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and the National Bureau of Economic Research.

My interest in economic research, and public finance as a field of interest, was initially developed by Emmanuel Saez at the University of California, Berkeley. He brought a sense of purpose to the tools of economics that triggered a desire to pursue graduate studies. David Card generously incorporated me into his research following completion of my undergraduate studies; his practical approach to investigating issues of economic interest has helped to craft my own ideology.

Yet the most important person in my life has been and continues to be Grace, my lovely wife. Her charm and wit have provided a wonderful interruption from the tumultuous life of a graduate student. Her irreverent views towards contemporary economic thought keep me from taking economics too seriously.

# Contents

1 Main	taining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of	
Unem	ployment Insurance	15
1.1	Motivation	15
1.2	A Brief Literature Perspective	17
1.3	Data	20
1.4	Health Insurance Coverage Amongst the Unemployed	23
	1.4.1 Descriptive Statistics	23
	1.4.2 Health Insurance Transitions	24
	1.4.3 Estimating the Fall in Coverage	25
	1.4.4 Evaluating Duration Dependence	27
1.5	Evaluating the Role of UI	
	1.5.1 Incorporating UI Generosity	
	1.5.2 Baseline Specification	32
	1.5.3 Baseline Results	35
	1.5.4 Imperfect Controls	37
	1.5.5 Partially Interacted Model	38
	1.5.6 Collapsed Spells	40
1.6	Asset Heterogeneity	41
	1.6.1 Identifying Liquidity Contrained Households	41
	1.6.2 Stratification Across Proxies	43
1.7	Conclusion	45
Referen	1ces	47
Figures	5	52
Tables.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	56
2 Main	taining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of	
Conti	nuation of Coverage Mandates	69
2.1	Motivation	69
2.2	A Brief Literature Perspective	71

2.3	Data	
2.4	Continuation of Coverage Mandates	
	2.4.1 Descriptive Statistics	77
	2.4.2 Estimating the Fall in Private Coverage	
	2.4.3 Mandate Effectiveness	80
2.5	The Role of UI	
	2.5.1 Incorporating UI Generosity	
	2.5.2 Excess Sensitivity to Cash-In-Hand	91
	2.5.3 Interacted Results	94
2.6	Conclusion	
Referen	ces	97
Figures		
Tables.		
3 Re-ev	valuating Unemployment Insurance and the Crowd-Out of	
Spous	al Labor Supply	113
3.1	Motivation	
3.2	A Brief Literature Perspective	115
3.3		
	Data	
3.4	Data Crowd-Out of Spousal LS	
3.4	Data Crowd-Out of Spousal LS 3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics	
3.4	Data Crowd-Out of Spousal LS 3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics 3.4.2 Baseline Specification	
3.4	Data Crowd-Out of Spousal LS 3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics 3.4.2 Baseline Specification 3.4.3 Spousal Labor Supply Response	
3.4	<ul> <li>Data</li> <li>Crowd-Out of Spousal LS</li></ul>	110 117 120 120 121 121 126 
3.4 3.5	<ul> <li>Data</li> <li>Crowd-Out of Spousal LS</li></ul>	110 117 120 120 120 121 126 128 131
3.4 3.5	<ul> <li>Data</li> <li>Crowd-Out of Spousal LS.</li> <li>3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics</li></ul>	110 
3.4 3.5	<ul> <li>Data</li> <li>Crowd-Out of Spousal LS</li></ul>	110 117 120 120 120 121 126 128 131 131 133
3.4 3.5 3.6	Data Crowd-Out of Spousal LS 3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics 3.4.2 Baseline Specification 3.4.3 Spousal Labor Supply Response 3.4.4 Restricting to UI-Ineligible Spouses Asset Heterogeneity 3.5.1 Identifying Liquidity Constrained Households 3.5.2 Stratification Across Proxies Conclusion	110 
3.4 3.5 3.6 Referen	Data Crowd-Out of Spousal LS 3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics 3.4.2 Baseline Specification 3.4.3 Spousal Labor Supply Response 3.4.4 Restricting to UI-Ineligible Spouses Asset Heterogeneity 3.5.1 Identifying Liquidity Constrained Households 3.5.2 Stratification Across Proxies Conclusion	110 

# List of Figures

1 Maintainin	g Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of
Unemploym	nent Insurance15
Figures	
Figure 1.	Transitions – Basic Source of Coverage
Figure 2.	Transitions – Conditional on Private Coverage in Wave Prior to Separation $\dots 52$
Figure 3.	Transitions – Own Employer Coverage Prior to Separation
Figure 4.	Transitions – Spousal Employer Coverage Prior to Separation
Figure 5.	The Effect of Job Loss on Private Insurance Coverage of the Unemployed54
Figure 6.	The Effect of Job Loss on Private Insurance Coverage by Completed Duration
Figure 7.	Heterogeneous Effect of Unemployment by UI Generosity
Figure 8.	Heterogeneous Effect of UI Generosity by NLW Proxy
Figure 9.	Heterogeneous Effect of UI Generosity by GLW Proxy
Figure 10	. Heterogeneous Effect of UI Generosity by Mortgage Proxy
2 Maintainin	g Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of
Continuatio	on of Coverage Mandates
Figures	
Figure 1.	Distribution of State Mandates
Figure 2.	Distribution of Spells

## List of Tables

1 Maintaining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of					
Unemployment Insurance	15				
Tables	56				
Table 1. Summary Statistics Across Samples of Interest	56				
Table 2. Effect of Unemployment on Private Health Insurance Coverage	57				
Table 3. Evaluating Duration Dependence	58				
Table 4. Unemployment Insurance Generosity by State	59				
Table 5. Unemployed Specification (RR)	60				
Table 6. Unemployed Specification (WBA)	60				
Table 7. Alternative Generosity Measure Comparison	61				
Table 8. Imperfect Controls (RR)	62				
Table 9. Imperfect Controls (WBA)	62				
Table 10. Partially Interacted Specification (RR)	63				
Table 11. Partially Interacted Specification (WBA)	63				
Table 12. Collapsed Specification	64				
Table 13. Summary Statistics by Net Liquid Wealth Quartile	65				
Table 14. Heterogeneous Effect by Household NLW	66				
Table 15. Heterogeneous Effect Across Net Liquid Wealth Quartiles	67				
Table 16. Heterogeneous Effect by Household GLW	68				
Table 17. Heterogeneous Effect by Household Mortgage Status	68				
2 Maintaining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of					
Continuation of Coverage Mandates	69				
Tables10	01				
Table 1. Continuation of Coverage Laws	01				
Table 2. Summary Statistics Across Samples of Interest	02				
Table 3. Private Health Insurance Coverage Across Employment Status	03				
Table 4. Continuation of Coverage Eligibility    10	04				
Table 5. Continuation of Coverage Eligibility – Alternative Models	05				

	Table 6.	Endogeneity of Pre-Separation Coverage to Continuation of Coverage	
		Mandates	106
	Table 7.	Falsification Check – Early COBRA Phase-In	107
	Table 8.	Stratified Results Across Source of Pre-Separation Coverage	. 108
	Table 9.	Stratified Results Across Household Composition	109
	Table 10.	Stratified Results Across Pre-Separation Health Status	. 109
	Table 11.	Unemployment Insurance Generosity by State	110
	Table 12.	Excess Sensitivity to Cash-In-Hand	111
	Table 13.	Excess Sensitivity to Cash-In-Hand: Stratified by Mandate Eligibility	112
3 R	e-evaluat	ing Unemployment Insurance and the Crowd-Out of	
Sp	ousal La	bor Supply	113
Tab	oles		140
	Table 1.	Summary Statistics Across Samples of Interest	140
	Table 2.	Unemployment Insurance Generosity by State	141
	Table 3.	Spousal Labor Supply – Participation Response	142
	Table 4.	Spousal Labor Supply – Hours Response	143
	Table 5.	Spousal Labor Supply – Earnings Response	143
	Table 6.	Purging Spousal UI Eligibility	144
	Table 7.	Summary Statistics by Net Liquid Wealth Quartile	145
	Table 8.	Heterogeneous Effects by Household NLW	146
	Table 9.	Heterogeneous Effects by Household Mortgage Status	147

.

# Chapter 1

# Maintaining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of Unemployment Insurance

### 1.1 Motivation

The US health insurance market is distinguished by the relationship between employment and access to group insurance markets. As a result, job separation typically entails a loss of income as well as access to group insurance markets. One cited feature of health care reform is the ability to maintain health insurance coverage across job status (The White House 2009). The existing federal program established to facilitate this goal falls under the sweeping reform of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA). Under this program, employees who separate from their jobs are generally able to continue their employer-sponsored coverage for up to 18 months. Yet, individuals are required to pay the full premium as well as a small administrative surcharge to continue their insurance through COBRA. Workers insured through employer-sponsored coverage typically directly pay only 16 percent of the cost of individual coverage and 27 percent of the cost of family coverage (Claxton et al. 2008).<sup>1</sup> In 2009, the full annual cost of employer-sponsored health insurance averaged \$4,824 for an individual policy and \$13,375 for a family policy (KFF 2009a). A recent Kaiser Family Foundation (2009b) survey found that 59 percent of adults with employer-sponsored coverage would find it very difficult to pay the full cost of their premiums if they were no longer employed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Although evidence supports the notion of cost-shifting to employees through wages (e.g. Baicker and Chandra 2006), non-wage income is not insured through UI. Thus loss of subsidized health insurance coverage through the employer represents both a large price distortion, even with access to continuation coverage, and a substantial loss of uninsured benefits.

Whereas consumption measures evaluated by the existing literature exhibit only moderate declines associated with unemployment, health insurance coverage exhibits a substantial drop across employment status, suggesting market imperfections and potential inadequacy of unemployment insurance (UI) benefits. Using data from the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) spanning 1990-2003, I re-evaluate existing evidence of UI adequacy and the limited effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates by assessing the role of UI in maintaining health insurance coverage across employment status. By focusing exclusively on an observation window following the effective date of COBRA legislation, I avoid potentially confounding factors associated with state continuation mandates.<sup>2</sup>

Despite availability of continuation benefits under COBRA throughout the reference period, I find that private health insurance coverage falls amongst the unemployed by approximately 19 percentage points, or 26 percent of pre-separation levels of coverage. Investigating dynamics across spells of unemployment reveals limited evidence of duration dependence. Conditional upon completed duration, the severity of the fall in private coverage is amplified as a spell progresses. Exploiting plausibly exogenous spatial and temporal variation in UI generosity, I implement a simulated instruments approach to estimate the effect of UI generosity on private health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed, restricting to UI-eligible unemployment spells. I estimate that a 10 percentage points increase in the UI replacement rate increases private coverage amongst the unemployed by 3.0 percentage points, and that a \$100 increase in weekly UI benefits increases private coverage amongst the unemployed by 7.6 percentage points. Although imprecisely measured, scaling these results implies that current UI generosity mitigates the loss of private health insurance coverage by roughly 41 to 45 percent.

Rising unemployment has heightened political interest in extending health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed. As of February 2009, the number of unemployed persons in the United States had risen by 5.0 million to 12.5 million, and the unemployment rate had grown by 3.3 percentage points to 8.1 percent over the previous 12 months (BLS 2009). On February 17, 2009, President Obama signed into law H.R. 1, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which according to CBO (2009) estimates will result in \$787 billion in additional government deficit over the 2009-2010 period. Of the \$149 billion devoted to improving access to health, \$24.7 billion was assigned to provide a 65 percent subsidy of health care insurance premiums for the unemployed under the COBRA program. An additional \$40 billion was assigned to provide extended UI benefits through December 31, 2009 and increase benefits by \$25 per week (DOL 2009a). A similar 65 percent subsidy was offered through the Health Coverage Tax Credit, a part of the Trade Act of 2002, for qualifying workers who lost their jobs due to international trade. In 2006 only an estimated 12 to 15 percent of the approximately 200,000 eligible households participated in the program (Dorn 2008). However, that program was structured as a refundable tax credit, which required that workers pay the full premium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Brown (2010a) separately considers the phase-in of COBRA, incorporating earlier SIPP panels.

prior to reimbursement.

Stratification across proxies for access to credit reveals suggestive evidence of an associated liquidity effect, providing insight into the perceived failure of the Health Coverage Tax Credit and informing future policy considerations.<sup>3</sup> Specifically, I find parameter concentrations that reveal substantial responsiveness amongst liquidity constrained households relative to unconstrained households. I consider both pre-separation net liquid wealth and pre-separation gross liquid wealth as proxies of liquidity constraint. Alternatively, I consider mortgage status at the point of separation as a proxy for consumption commitment, with largely consistent inference. These results suggest that the responsive margin is driven by liquidity-constrained households, and that delayed tax credits may be of limited efficacy relative to policies that directly subsidize the purchase price of continuation coverage.

The rest of the paper proceeds as follows. A brief review of the existing literature is discussed in the next section. Section 1.3 details the data and core sample selection criteria. Section 1.4 evaluates the magnitude of the fall in private health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed, controlling for heterogeneity in the demand for insurance and separating the issue of duration dependence. Section 1.5 incorporates measures of individual UI generosity and implements a simulated instruments approach to estimate the effect of UI generosity in mitigating the loss of private health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed. Section 1.6 differentiates heterogeneity in the effect of UI generosity across proxies of liquidity constraint and consumption commitment. The last section concludes.

### **1.2** A Brief Literature Perspective

#### Health Insurance Coverage and Unemployment

The US health insurance market is distinguished by the relationship between employment and access to group insurance markets, though this relationship has eroded somewhat in recent history. Cutler (2003) finds that despite economic prosperity in the 1990s, increased premiums associated with employer-sponsored health insurance largely explains the decline in health insurance coverage across this period resulting from a reduction in take-up. In turn, Gruber and McKnight (2003) attribute this increase in premiums with rising costs, falling tax rates, expansions of public insurance, and increased managed care penetration. Despite this, approximately 88 percent of private health insurance coverage was acquired through the workplace in 2008 (DeNavas-Walt et al. 2009).

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ In the current policy climate, it is reasonable to question the merit of such studies, as the United States faces radical health insurance reform. Yet in the early 1970s, financing and the impact of cost sharing took center stage in the national health care debate. To inform this debate over free, universal health care and whether the benefits would justify the cost, RAND researchers designed and conducted the Health Insurance Experiment (RAND Corporation 2009).

Yet, previous work detailing the loss of health insurance coverage associated with unemployment is largely inconsistent. Some evidence (Monheit et al. 1984, Klerman and Rahmna 1992) suggests that low rates of insurance amongst the unemployed is largely explained by a lack of coverage while on the previous job. This evidence contrasts with other studies (Berki et al. 1985, Podgursky and Swaim 1987, Bazzoli 1986), which report large declines in insurance coverage following job loss. Modeling underlying preference heterogeneity, Gruber and Madrian (1997) find that over the 1983-1989 period the likelihood of private insurance coverage drops by roughly 20 percentage points following a job separation.

#### Costs of Short-Term Uninsurance

Although health insurance coverage is not a direct measure of consumption, there is evidence to suggest that smoothing insurance coverage across employment status may proxy for smoothing medical care consumption. Adults and children uninsured for less than one year are less likely to receive recommended screenings and are more likely to have gone without a needed physician visit due to cost relative to the insured (Ayanian et al. 2000, Olson et al. 2005). Only emergency departments are required by federal law to stabilize all individuals irrespective of ability to pay, though the uninsured may be denied follow-up care for even urgent medical conditions if unable to pay in full. Health providers are not required to provide care to the uninsured, restricting access to needed care. The uninsured are typically billed for any care received and often face higher charges than the insured (Asplin et al. 2005). By forgoing care to avoid medical debt, the uninsured may worsen health problems (Schwartz 2007), heightening the difficulty of re-securing employment. To the extent that health care consumption is not perfectly substitutable over time, then, there are potential consequences to even relatively short spells of uninsurance.

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996 limits the exclusion of pre-existing conditions for individuals with uninterrupted coverage. Yet individuals uninsured for 63 days or more, defined as a break in 'creditable coverage', may have pre-existing condition exclusions imposed by a new employer-sponsored health plan for most health conditions for which treatment, advice, or diagnosis were received in the six months prior to enrolling in an employer-sponsored insurance plan (DOL 2009b). In 2005, nearly three in five adults who considered buying non-group coverage had difficulty finding a plan they could afford, and one in five were either turned down by an insurance carrier, charged a higher premium based on health status, or had a specific health condition excluded from coverage (Collins 2006). Again, even relatively shorts spells of uninsurance can have long-term implications that extend beyond the immediate duration of the unemployment spell.

### Adequacy of UI Benefits

A central question for the design of the UI program is the adequacy of UI benefits, in terms of

maintaining the standard of living of recipients while unemployed.<sup>4</sup> Yet, increased generosity of the UI system crowds out private insurance coverage along a number of dimensions: precautionary savings (Engen and Gruber 2001, Klein 2009), spousal labor supply (Cullen and Gruber 2000, Brown 2010b), and severance pay (Chetty and Saez 2010). Rather than simply the computation of benefit levels or wage replacement rates, then, this literature suggests the use of consumption behavior responses to UI benefits as a metric of adequacy. Hamermesh and Slesnick (1998) find that the consumption of households receiving UI benefits falls little relative to comparable households in the economy, suggesting that UI benefits are largely adequate. Similarly, Gruber (1997) demonstrates that increases in UI benefits are not translated directly into increased consumption, supporting the conclusion that the unemployed rely upon other resources to smooth consumption throughout an unemployment spell. Dissimilarly, health insurance coverage exhibits a dramatic decline following separation, suggesting potential inadequacy of current UI generosity. I investigate the implications of increased UI generosity in terms of mitigating the fall in private coverage.

### Liquidity Effect

While the relationship between employment and access to group insurance markets suggests a potentially large role for continuation of coverage mandates in reducing the prevalence of uninsurance amongst the unemployed, existing work concerning the effectiveness of continuation benefits in decreasing uninsurance has found only modest effects (Klerman and Rahmna 1992, Gruber and Madrian 1997, Brown 2010a). Considering the substantial effective subsidization of the cost of insurance relative to the non-group market, these results imply a small price elasticity of insurance. This evidence is consistent with the low estimate of price elasticity of demand for insurance in Thorpe et al. (1992) and Marquis and Long (1995), yet inconsistent with the estimates of Leibowitz and Chernew (1992) and Gruber and Poterba (1994). However, this viewpoint ignores the plausible role of household liquidity constraint in restricting take-up of continuation benefits, given the high cost of continuation coverage relative to transitory income across spells of unemployment.

Browning and Lusardi (1996) provides an inconclusive review of existing studies evaluating whether households are liquidity constrained. However, given the extremely skewed asset distribution amongst workers prior to unemployment (Gruber 2001), a non-trivial fraction of the unemployed are plausibly unable to smooth transitory income shocks relative to permanent income. For these households, the liquidity effect may be considered a socially beneficial response to the correction of credit and insurance market failures. Several recent studies have used consumption data to investigate the importance of liquidity constraints and partial insurance (Johnson, Parker, and Souleles 2006; Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston 2008). In the context of UI, Bloemen and Stancanelli (2005) find evidence that UI benefits help to smooth consumption for households without financial wealth at the time of job loss. This result is

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ A review of the study of UI adequacy is contained in O'Leary (1996).

consistent with the findings of Browning and Crossley (2001) concerning concentration of the consumption-smoothing response to the Canadian UI system within a subset of households without liquid assets. Chetty (2008) differentiates moral hazard and liquidity effects in the endogenous duration of an unemployment spell to UI benefits. More recent evidence from Brown (2010a) finds that the effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates is sensitive to eligible state UI benefits, suggesting that households are particularly responsive to available continuation benefits when UI benefits sufficiently bolsters a household's ability to pay.

### 1.3 Data

I incorporate data from the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) panels spanning the reference period October 1989 - December 2003.<sup>5</sup> Each SIPP panel surveys a national set of households at four month intervals (waves) for  $2\frac{1}{2}$ -4 years, with sample sizes ranging from approximately 14,000 to 36,700 interviewed households.<sup>6</sup> At each interview, households are asked questions in reference to the four month recall period. Data are collected regarding health insurance coverage, income and labor force participation, as well as a wide array of socioeconomic characteristics of each household member and of the household as a whole. The SIPP provides monthly data on income and health insurance coverage and weekly data on labor force status. Relative to other widely used sources, such as the CPS and PSID, the advantages of the SIPP are the availability of asset data and high-frequency data on individual and household income, employment status, detailed health insurance coverage, and UI benefit receipt. Deliberate over-sampling of the low-income population provides a suitably large sample of unemployment spells. I supplement the SIPP with (1) monthly national price indices and seasonally adjusted monthly state unemployment rates as reported by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics, and (2) state-year level annual employer individual and family health insurance premium data from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey Insurance Component (MEPS-IC), spanning 1996-2003.<sup>7</sup>

Starting from the universe of job separations across the pooled SIPP panels, I retain spells of unemployment, defined as spells following a job separation during which individuals are either on layoff or are searching for a new job. Observations are not conditioned on duration.<sup>8</sup>

 $<sup>^5{\</sup>rm US}$  Census Bureau. Survey of Income and Program Participation Users' Guide. http://www.census.gov/sipp/usrguide.html (Accessed September 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The length of observation varies across panels. The 1990 and 1991 panels contain 8 waves. The 1992 and 1993 panels contain 9 waves. The 1996 panel contains 12 waves. The 2001 panel contains 9 waves. Owing to the overlapping design of the survey, observations are continuous across the reference period, excepting for March – September 2000, where a minor interruption arose over a funding shortfall and the subsequent cancellation of the in-progress 2000 panel, which was re-started as the 2001 panel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Available at http://www.meps.ahrq.gov

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>I consider exclusions of spells of less than 1 month from the analysis, as: (1) spells of less than 1 month may be false transition in the SIPP, and (2) it is difficult to properly assign reported health insurance coverage, measured at the monthly level, across a transitional month. Results are robust to exclusion, though these spells

As labor force nonparticipation among this sample is often disguised long-term unemployment (Clark and Summers 1979), I do not exclude observations for workers who drop out of the labor force at some point during an unemployment spell. I measure the duration of a spell as consisting of all weeks of separation from work. For those who have some weeks of unemployment (either search or layoff), 17.4 percent of their spells are weeks out of the labor force. Spells begin with initial month of separation and end with the first full month of re-employment.<sup>9</sup>

I restrict attention to prime-age males, 25-54 years old, thus focusing on job-separators who have a high rate of attachment to the labor force. I include only unemployment spells once I have observed at least one quarter of employment experience.<sup>10</sup> This allows for the accurate measurement of non-employment spell duration, as well as characteristics of pre-separation jobs, most importantly imputation of pre-separation wages and pre-separation health insurance coverage.

The resulting left-censoring for unemployment spells in-progress at the start of the respective SIPP panel disproportionately omits the long-term unemployed, potentially skewing the composition of remaining spells.<sup>11</sup> For prime-age males, the above selection rule excludes only approximately 15 percent of the sample, whereas for women and younger/older men, the share of separations excluded would be approximately 48 percent. Thus, for prime-age males, this selection rule is less prohibitive in terms of generalization. This restriction also limits the impact of schooling and early retirement decisions, as well as childcare decisions, on the resulting pool of job separations. If married, I restrict to households where both the husband and wife are 25-54 years old due to inter-dependence of health insurance decisions within the household.

I further exclude separations for which I have missing individual or job characteristics or basic health insurance coverage. These restrictions leave 10,280 unemployment spells in the core analysis sample, consisting of 154,480 monthly observations, of which 30,208 are months unemployed.

### Health Insurance Coverage

Health insurance coverage is a monthly measure, and I differentiate private, public, and uninsured coverage status.<sup>12</sup> Private insurance is defined as any health insurance coverage other

are included in baseline specifications to maintain focus on the representative spell.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Alternatively, in results not reported I exclude the initial month of separation due to ambiguity of health insurance coverage assignment in a transitional month. Results are largely consistent. In results below, I include the initial month of separation in an attempt to maintain focus on the representative spell.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This exclusion eliminates all monthly observations for individuals who never work in three consecutive months, as well as the initial months for workers whose first three months of work occurs later in the respective SIPP panel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>To the extent that durations respond to state UI generosity, then, spells of unemployment for particularly responsive individuals are less likely to be included in the sample. Discussion of the 'dynamic sample-selection' bias is detailed in Diamond and Hausman (1984).

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ As I am unable to observe generosity of insurance coverage, I cannot distinguish underinsurance. Underinsurance refers to individuals covered by health insurance, but the provisions of that insurance does not adequately protect the individual from high medical expenses. As of 2007 there were an estimated 25 million

than Medicare or Medicaid and includes employer-sponsored coverage, continuation coverage, and non-group coverage. Once per wave, the detailed source of an individual's health insurance coverage is revealed along a number of dimensions: whether the insurance is in the individual's name or some other family member's name and whether the policy is sponsored by an employer/union or acquired in a non-group setting. I impute monthly assignment respecting the nature of the survey design.<sup>13</sup> Baseline specifications below are constructed using person-month level observations to allow for evaluation of health insurance dynamics across employment status as well as throughout a given unemployment spell.<sup>14</sup>

#### Seam Bias

As individuals are required to recall information from the preceding four months of the reference period for each wave, it is unclear how much unique information is contained in monthly responses. Individuals have a tendency to propagate their status at the point of the interview backwards through the preceding months.<sup>15</sup> A disproportionately large number of labor force transitions are reported on the 'seam' between interviews, leading to artificial spikes in the hazard rate. This bias extends to transitions in insurance coverage (Klerman and Rahman 1991).

I use monthly observations as many spells of unemployment are less than four months in duration. In this context, seam bias will produce false classifications of labor participation, blurring the distinction between the employed and unemployed. Further, health insurance coverage may be falsely classified, dropping off prematurely leading up to a separation. Thus I draw information on prior employed health insurance coverage from the wave preceding the point of separation. Of course, coverage may still drop off with artificial abruptness following a separation and short spells of uninsurance may be underreported.<sup>16</sup>

underinsured adults in the US, a dramatic rise from the 16 million underinsured in 2003 (Schoen et al. 2008). To the extent that individuals experiencing layoff transition to less generous coverage (commonly cited with health insurance policies purchased on the non-group market), results to follow will understate the true fall in insurance coverage associated with unemployment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>For waves in which individuals are employed throughout the wave, I assign employer-sponsored coverage if the worker reports private insurance in his own name through an employer at the end of the wave. In waves for which a worker is not employed for some part or entirety of the wave, I assume that the reported coverage refers to the fourth reference month (end of the wave), thus I impute monthly coverage from the current wave provided that the unemployment spell extends through the end of the wave. Else, for spells in-progress at the start of a wave, I impute coverage based upon reported coverage in the previous wave. I am unable to clearly assign source of insurance coverage during the spell for some subset of spells. This outlined approach is problematic, so I also consider restricting relevant results below to only observations for the fourth reference month, with largely consistent results. In all cases, I code individuals as covered by employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation based upon reported coverage in the wave prior to separation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Potential sample selection bias owing to 'overweighting' long spells in the baseline specifications is addressed by collapsing the data into person-spell level observations in Section 1.5.6. This produces results more typical of a representative spell, though at the loss of the ability to explore dynamics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>See Klerman (1991) for a detailed discussion of the seam bias problem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Results are re-considered using only the fourth reference month, just prior to the interview in the unobserved fifth month. Although point estimates are largely comparable, statistical imprecision impedes inference.

### 1.4 Health Insurance Coverage Amongst the Unemployed

### **1.4.1** Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics for the core sample relative to alternative sampling restrictions are presented in Table 1. As reported in column (1), 90.2 percent of employed prime-age males have some form of private health insurance coverage; the majority of this coverage, 85.6 percent, is provided through the worker's employer.<sup>17</sup> In contrast, only 60.7 percent of the non-employed in column (2) report private health insurance coverage. Similarly, only 59.0 percent of the unemployed in column (3) report private coverage.<sup>18</sup> These data reveal a raw private health insurance coverage gap of over 31.2 percentage points between the employed and the unemployed. However, prior to separation, only 71.8 percent of the unemployed report private health insurance coverage, suggesting significant population heterogeneity between workers employed throughout the respective panel and those experiencing unemployment. In terms of demographics, those experiencing job loss tend to disproportionately attain lower levels of education and earn significantly less compared to the employed sample. These factors are typically associated with low private insurance coverage and may partially explain the large raw coverage gap between the employed and the unemployed.

Comparison of the core sample of unemployed in column (3) relative to individuals experiencing non-employment in column (2) reveals no substantive differences across populations in terms of health insurance coverage or demographics. The unemployed and non-employed report average private coverage across relevant spells of 59.0 percent and 60.7 percent, respectively. Prior to separation, 71.8 percent of the unemployed report private coverage, compared to 72.8 percent of the non-employed. Similarly, the populations are comparable in terms of age, marital status, spousal work status, racial composition, family size, educational attainment and earnings. These similarities are striking in light of the unemployment restriction reducing the sample of 15,876 spells of non-employment to 10,280 spells of unemployment, an exclusion of more than 35 percent of the sample of non-employment spells. Presumably, then, results to follow provide insight not only in reference to spells of unemployment, but more generally with respect to spells of non-employment.<sup>19</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Only 4.6 percent of the employed report private coverage in own name purchased in the non-group market (5.6 percent of private coverage in the worker's name). 8.4 percent of the employed (9.3 percent of private coverage) report coverage in the spouse's name, the majority of which is employer-sponsored coverage. In total, 93.3 percent of private coverage in derived through either the worker's employer or the spouse's employer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Less than 0.9 percent of the employed and approximately 3.1 percent of the unemployed report public insurance coverage, suggesting that evaluation of private coverage is the empirically-relevant health coverage margin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Similarly, UI monetary eligibility restrictions imposed in Section 1.5 yield a largely comparable population of UI-eligible unemployment spells in column (4), though as expected due to the nature of these restrictions, average annual earnings and private health insurance coverage prior to separation rise, while public health insurance coverage prior to separation falls.

### **1.4.2** Health Insurance Transitions

Prior to presenting the empirical model, I briefly consider the flow of workers across health insurance coverage status around the point of separation. Figure 1 details the transition paths for individuals experiencing unemployment, unconditional on health insurance coverage prior to separation.<sup>20</sup> As expected, there is a sharp rise in the rate of uninsurance and a muted increase in public insurance coverage associated with unemployment. In the month prior to separation, the uninsurance rate is 28.2 percent of workers. In the month of separation, this fraction rises to 34.9 percent, and by three months after the point of separation this fraction reaches 44.5 percent of the unemployed. Longer unemployment spell durations are associated with a more pronounced rise in uninsurance, though it is unclear from the figure whether this is attributed to population heterogeneity with respect to completed unemployment spell durations or duration dependence, resulting from either realization of a longer than expected spell, loss of temporary coverage measures, or realization of reduced means of smoothing across the spell. Figure 2 constructs a similar set of transition paths, restricting to workers with private health insurance coverage from any spouse prior to separation.<sup>21</sup> As expected, those with private coverage in the wave prior to separation experience more pronounced patterns, with uninsurance jumping from 5.72 percent in the month prior to separation to 15.6 percent in the month of separation, and further increasing to 29.3 percent three months after the point of separation. For workers unemployed twelve or more months, uninsurance approaches rates of 39 percent.

Figures 3-4 deconstruct private health insurance coverage into a number of detailed sources: private health insurance through the worker's employer, private health insurance in own name purchased in the non-group market, private health insurance through the spouse's employer, and private health insurance in the spouse's name purchased in the non-group market. Figure 3 details transition paths for workers experiencing unemployment conditional on private health insurance in own name through the employer prior to separation. At the point of separation, coverage through the previous employer falls to 62.5 percent. Three months past the point of separation, coverage through the previous employer is reported at 40.5 percent, and the coverage rate continues to decline with duration to a minimum of 9.1 percent twelve or more months past the point of separation.<sup>22</sup> In addition to a modest increase in reported public coverage,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>In results not reported, child records for the dependents of individuals experiencing unemployment exhibit particularly noisy health insurance coverage, yielding results inconsistent with expectations, motivating their exclusion from specifications below. Spousal records for wives exhibit comparable results to the husband.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Private coverage begins to fall prior to the point of separation. Although some fraction of workers may legitimately lose coverage prior to separation, this more likely reflects the 'seam bias' inherent in the survey. Workers who lose coverage conditional on separation propagate the uninsured status at the point of the interview through the start of the wave, encompassing 0-3 months employed depending upon the sequencing of the separation in relation to the interview schedule.

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ The initial large fraction of individuals continuing to report health insurance coverage through the former employer, presumably continuation coverage, is at odds with the results of Flynn (1992), who estimates that 19.3 percent of individuals who were terminated, laid off, or quit from firm that had health insurance chose to

there are sizeable movements towards both private insurance in own name purchased in the non-group market (7.9 percent three months past the point of separation) and private coverage through the spouse's employer (10.7 percent three months past the point of separation).<sup>23</sup> The majority of transitions, though, result in a rising rate of uninsurance, 24.3 percent at the point of separation and 55.9 percent three months past the point of separation. Yet, Figure 4 reveals that for individuals receiving coverage through a spouse's employer prior to separation, there is only a tempered rise in the rate of uninsurance. At the point of separation, 7.5 percent report uninsurance, and three months past the point of separation 8.3 percent report uninsurance. This suggests that the fall in private health insurance coverage associated with unemployment may be largely driven either by access to group insurance markets or the relative cost of group insurance through continuation coverage compared to directly subsidized rates while employed, rather than simply the associated income loss.

#### **1.4.3** Estimating the Fall in Coverage

To present an estimate for the effect of unemployment on private health insurance coverage, I estimate multivariate linear probability models similar to Gruber and Madrian (1997) of the form:<sup>24</sup>

$$Private_{ist} = \beta Unemployed_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(1.1)

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-month level.  $Private_{ist}$  is an indicator for private health insurance coverage in a given month. Unemployed<sub>it</sub> is an indicator for whether an individual is unemployed in a given month.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual demographics and job characteristics.  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel, year, and calendar month indicators.<sup>25</sup> Lagged private

take-up continuation benefits. However, as persuasively argued in Gruber and Madrian (1997), despite high out-of-pocket costs, realized take-up amongst certain sub-populations, such as workers who do not move to jobs in which they receive health insurance, is substantially higher.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Although the movement towards the spouse's employer's coverage is amplified by duration, the effect is largely static for movement towards private coverage in own name purchased in the non-group market. The latter likely reflects reporting error, failure to distinguish continuation coverage from non-group coverage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Due to limitations of the linear probability model (LPM), specifically the failure of both the normality and the independence assumption arising from mechanical correlation between the outcome and the error term, as well as infeasible predicted values outside the 0-1 bounds, I alternatively consider binary-choice (probit) specifications. Given similar marginal effects and a high fraction of within-sample predictions, I estimate the LPM for ease of interpretation.

 $<sup>^{25}</sup>$  Individual characteristics include: educational attainment indicators, a race indicator, a marriage indicator, a spousal work status indicator, age bins, and bins for number of children. Characteristics of the worker's job include: 10 Standard Industrial Classification System (SIC) major industry sectors indicators, and 23 Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) major groups occupation indicators. Wage controls include a flexible 7-knot cubic spline in base-period wages and household annual income and 4-knot cubic splines in highest-quarter wages. Alternatively, linear income spline knots are assigned at the 1st,5th,10th,...,90th,95th,99th percentiles of the real earnings distribution for the relevant sample under analysis. Log-linear splines are also considered. Results are consistent across these alternative wage controls. Year indicators control for any national time trends in health insurance coverage, and the month dummies control for seasonal trends in health insurance

coverage critically controls for pre-separation health insurance coverage.<sup>26</sup> Correlation in the behavior of an individual within a panel and across individuals within a state indicates that it is inappropriate to treat monthly observations on health insurance status as independent, thus standard errors are clustered to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state.

I use coverage by any private health insurance source as the dependent variable in the regression specification, rather than a detailed source of insurance for several reasons. First, private health insurance coverage is a monthly measure, whereas employer-sponsored health insurance and other detailed source measures are measured once per wave. Second, this measure nets the impact of unemployment on private insurance coverage, including potential switching to non-employer sources of coverage, such as reliance upon a spouse's employer-sponsored health insurance option. Third, classification of continuation coverage in the SIPP is not clearly assigned as employer-sponsored coverage rather than individually purchased coverage. Lastly, I consider private health insurance coverage, rather than any health insurance coverage, so as to distinguish movement from private to public insurance coverage. The coefficient  $\beta$  on the regressor of interest,  $Unemployed_{it}$ , measures the fall in private health insurance coverage associated with unemployment.

Results are presented in Table 2. In specification (1), unemployment is associated with a highly statistically significant drop in private insurance coverage of approximately 18.95 percentage points for the sample of workers who experience an unemployment spell at some point in the respective panel. This estimate, relying upon observable controls, remains roughly 61 percent as large as the raw private coverage gap between the employed and the unemployed. In specification (2), I incorporate an individual fixed effect to control for unobservable heterogeneity.<sup>27</sup> I estimate that unemployment is associated with a fall in private coverage of 16.10 percentage points, a magnitude approximately 85 percent as large as relying upon observable controls and 52 percent as large as the gap in the raw data.

Specifications (3)-(8) estimate the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment under a number of alternative sample selection criteria. Incorporating non-employment spells, rather than restricting to unemployment, yields comparable measures of the fall in private coverage associated with non-employment; private coverage falls by 17.06 percent relying upon observable controls in specification (5) and 14.4 percent relying upon the individual fixed effect

coverage, as might correspond to open enrollment periods. Panel indicators are included given the overlapping panels design of the SIPP. State indicators control for time-invariant differences across states in health insurance coverage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>For employed observations, prior health insurance coverage is constructed as the individual's private health insurance status in the prior wave. For unemployed observations, prior private health insurance coverage and job characteristics are assigned at their pre-separation values for the entirety of the unemployment spell. The result is a different timing in variable construction for the employed, for whom these variables refer to the prior wave, and unemployed, for whom these variables refer to the wave prior to separation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>I exclude the control for lagged private health insurance in this specification, as the introduction of fixed effects necessarily induces serial correlation in the error term.

to control for heterogeneity in specification (6). Incorporating workers employed throughout the respective panel as a control, I estimate a fall in private coverage associated with nonemployment of 18.57 percent relying upon observable controls in specification (7) and 14.78 percent relying upon the individual fixed effect in specification (8). Consistency across specifications suggests that restrictions imposed to produce the core sample minimally distort the representativeness of these spells relative to the evaluation of non-employment spells.

### 1.4.4 Evaluating Duration Dependence

To model the effect of the duration of an unemployment spell on the magnitude of the fall in private coverage, I replace the  $Unemployed_{it}$  indicator in Equation (1.1) with a series of leading and lagged terms relative to the point of separation, allowing for an evaluation of the dynamics of private coverage across the spell. Specifically, monthly indicators are constructed for each of the 12 months employed prior to job separation, the month of job separation, and each of the 11 months unemployed following the month of separation, with an additional collapsed indicator for 12 or more months unemployed past the point of separation. These results, with covariates suppressed, are presented in Table 3 specifications (1)-(2), and the graphical representation is presented in Figure 5.<sup>28</sup>

Similarity of the results across the specifications suggests that observable controls perform reasonably well relative to individual fixed effects when restricting to the core sample of individuals who experience an unemployment spell at some point in the respective panel. Comparing across observable controls in specification (1) and the individual fixed effect in specification (2), I find that the months of separation is associated with a fall in private coverage of 11.12 percentage points and 10.15 percentage points, respectively. This differential widens as the spells progress, and unemployment six months beyond the point of separation is associated with declines in private coverage of 26.75 percentage points, relying upon observable controls, and 23.55 percentage points, relying upon the individual fixed effect. Referencing Figure 5, the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment is largely realized in the first month of the unemployed spell, though coverage continues to decline sharply through the seventh month of an unemployment spell, at which point private coverage appears to largely stabilize. This is suggestive of duration dependence, though these results are plausibly generated by population heterogeneity across completed spell durations.<sup>29</sup> Statistically significant declines in private coverage in the three months preceding the point of separation, relying upon observable controls or incorporating the individual fixed effect, are evident either graphically in Figure 5 or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Even incorporating individual fixed effects, the negative impact of the three months prior to job separation remain statistically significant. This may be the result of misreporting or seam bias, but restricting to only the seam month yields similar results, with a prominent drop the month prior to separation, suggesting misreporting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>That is, if the impact of unemployment is greatest for individuals who ultimately experience a longer unemployment spell duration, then the decline in private coverage associated with longer durations may result from heterogeneity or expectations over completed duration, rather than duration dependence.

numerically in Table 3 and reflect the 'seam bias' inherent to the sampling design.

To separate the concept of duration dependence, I estimate the individual fixed effects specification stratified across groups of clustered completed spell duration: less than 1 month, 1-3 months, 4-6 months, and 7-12 months. These results are presented in Table 3 specifications (3)-(6), and the graphical representation is presented in Figure 6. The unemployed who experience longer completed spell durations are associated with a more severe fall in private health insurance coverage relative to shorter final durations at the same point within a spell, suggesting heterogeneity across spell type. Relative to periods of sustained employment, in the month of separation private coverage falls by 6.24 percentage points for unemployment spells less than one month in completed duration, 11.16 percentage points for unemployment spells 1-3 months in completed duration, 12.30 percentage points for unemployment spells 4-6 months in completed duration, and by 14.57 percentage points for unemployment spells 7-12 months in completed duration. This monotonic relationship holds at every relevant comparison point across spells. However, the continued fall in private coverage as the spell progresses within the same cluster of final spell durations suggests a modest role for duration dependence, as well, though it is unclear whether this results from an income effect, information revelation, or some other effect.

### 1.5 Evaluating the Role of UI

### 1.5.1 Incorporating UI Generosity

Information on the regulations regarding UI eligibility criteria and benefit schedules across states is reported semiannually by the United States Department of Labor. The basis for both the monetary eligibility calculator and benefits calculator come from the initial calculators developed by Gruber (1997) and later updated by Chetty (2008). This paper improves upon the inherited calculators by incorporating more recent data, enhancing accuracy through consultation of legislative documentation, and extending eligibility criteria to include distributional considerations.

#### Eligibility

Eligibility for UI is multi-dimensional. Monetary eligibility is established through qualifying wages, often paired with a required wage distribution across the 'base period', defined as the first four of the past five calendar months.<sup>30</sup> The worker must not have exhausted available benefits within a given benefits period. Recipients must additionally demonstrate nonmonetary eligibility, generally consisting of: (1) unemployed through no fault of their own, (2) able and

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$ Example: In January 1999, Texas required that the applicant: (1) earn base period wages at least 37 times that of the computed weekly benefit amount and (2) document wages in at least 2 quarters.

available to work full-time, and (3) actively seeking full-time work.<sup>31</sup>

A job separation is excluded if prior work history appears to make the worker ineligible for UI. This motivates exclusion of self-employed workers from the sample, as they cannot avail themselves to the UI system.<sup>32</sup> I restrict to spells in which the individual reports looking for work in at least some months in order to focus on unemployment and not strictly labor force exit. However, while UI eligibility requires continuing demonstration of labor force attachment, in specifications reported below observations are included if individuals report stopping search effort, effectively dropping out of the labor force, to account for the discouraged worker effect.

I include temporary layoffs, despite concerns of potentially different information about probabilities of layoff and recall, as well as potential ex-ante arrangements with the employer, for two reasons: (1) temporary layoffs consist of approximately 20 percent of all unemployment spells in my core sample and exclusion may result in non-representative spells, and (2) these individuals may constitute a particularly responsive margin as they are plausibly more aware of the UI system's parameters.<sup>33</sup>

#### Reason for Separation

The SIPP asks respondents whether an individual experiencing job separation was discharged, laid off, left because the job was temporary, or voluntarily quit.<sup>34</sup> Amongst the core sample of unemployment spells satisfying monetary eligibility requirements, 54 percent of separations are coded as voluntary, 13 percent as involuntary discharge, and only 33 percent as involuntary layoff. However, non-trivial UI receipt reported at some point during the spell for those who report voluntary separation (25 percent) or involuntary discharge (40 percent) compared to those reporting involuntary layoff (66 percent) indicates that individuals inconsistently report the reason for job separation. Thus I retain all qualifying unemployment spells regardless of self-reported reason for separation.<sup>35</sup> Although restricting to spells of unemployment in which the worker is actively searching for work plausibly focuses on involuntary separation, some

 $<sup>^{31}</sup>$ A waiting period is also imposed, typically one week. Given person-month observations, I ignore the impact of this provision, though this will understate the impact of actual eligible UI benefits in the first month of unemployment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>An indicator for self-employment status was removed starting with the 1996 panel. I rely upon the BLS definition of self-employed as workers for their own, unincorporated businesses, including those who worked for profit or fees in their own unincorporated business or professional practice. If self-employed as workers for their own, incorporated businesses, then these workers are not classified as self-employed because they are paid employees of their own companies. A small fraction of workers report self-employment income less than full wage income. For this group, I classify the individual as self-employed if self-employment income constitutes at least 50 percent of total wage income. For consistency, this measure is applied across all panels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Temporary layoffs are documented to be endogenous to the level of UI generosity. Thus if a disproportionately large number of temporary layoffs are included as a result of high UI generosity and if those spells are documented to have natural smoothing properties, perhaps through ex-ante arrangements with the employer, then UI generosity may have a spurious positive relationship with health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Existing empirical results are conflicting. Nonetheless, results are largely robust to the exclusion of temporary layoffs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>This measure is expanded as part of the 1996 SIPP restructuring. The author's calculations re-structure responses from the 1996 and 2001 panels to be consistent with the 1990-1993 panels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>In alternative baseline specifications not reported, separations are classified as having experienced 'invol-

fraction of the sample reflect UI-ineligible voluntary separations. Estimated coefficients will then tend to understate the effect of UI generosity in mitigating the fall in private coverage amongst the UI-eligible unemployed population.

### **Benefits**

Receipt of UI benefits is not automatically provided, rather an individual satisfying statedefined eligibility criteria must apply for benefits. Among eligibles, take-up is much less than full. Blank and Card (1991) estimate take-up rates of roughly 67 percent among eligibles. An alternative to the use of eligibility is the actual UI benefits receipt amongst the unemployed. However, this poses a potentially serious selection bias, as take-up of UI may be endogenous to benefit level, thus I do not condition on receipt of UI benefits.<sup>36</sup> Also, receipt of public assistance is generally noisily measured in survey data. While this may call for use of eligibility as an instrument for actual UI receipt, Gruber (1997) persuasively argues that UI benefit eligibility, rather than actual UI receipt, is of direct policy relevance.

Eligible UI weekly benefit amounts are constructed as non-linear, and in some states complex, functions of wage levels and distribution in the base period.<sup>37</sup> Accurate benefits estimation requires five calendar quarters of earnings history, which is not available for a non-trivial subset of the sample. Instead, I impute an individual's earnings history as completely as the data allow, requiring a minimum of one quarter of wage data. Additional inputs used in determining weekly benefit amounts vary by state-year and include: annual earnings, number of children, spousal work status, and average tax rates. State-specific rules for minimum and maximum weekly benefit amounts are then imposed and vary greatly across states. The worker's replacement rate is constructed as the ratio of the UI weekly benefit amount to the state states, citing confidentiality concerns, preventing the assignment of state laws for these individuals.<sup>39</sup> These additional restrictions leave a sample of 7,669 UI-eligible unemployment spells.

untary separation', distinguished by layoff and discharge. Restricting to the set of job separators satisfying non-monetary eligibility for UI yields point estimates of larger magnitude, though the restricted sample size yields considerable inaccuracy that prohibits statistical inference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Restricting the sample to those who take-up UI could lead to selection bias due to the endogenous nature of the take-up decision with respect to the benefit level (Anderson and Meyer 1997). If factors determining UI take-up are correlated with the change in an individual's private health insurance coverage associated with unemployment, this will tend to overstate the effect of UI on private insurance coverage of the unemployed. There is some 'option value' to individuals who do not take-up benefits, but derive value from the availability of UI resources should the individual encounter a longer-than-expected unemployment duration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Example: In January 2001, Texas weekly benefit amounts (wba) are assigned as 1/25 of high quarter wages, subject to a minimum wba of \$48 and a maximum wba of \$294. With 13 weeks per quarter, this is designed to replace approximately 50 percent of a recipient's weekly wage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>If unemployment is expected to increase earnings, such that the eligible weekly benefit amount exceeds weekly earnings over the base period, I exclude the spell. Point estimates are minimally affected by this exclusion restriction, though precision is improved.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>These states are Alaska, Idaho, Iowa, Maine, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, Vermont, and Wyoming.

A summary of the source of variation in UI generosity across states is presented in Table 4. Although there is benefit generosity variation with each state over time, variation is largely drawn from a cross-state comparison. Across UI-eligible spells, the average UI weekly benefit amount is \$172, with state-specific values ranging from a minimum of \$123 in Nebraska to a high of \$239 in Hawaii. The average UI replacement rate across all UI-eligible spells is 50.1 percent, with state-specific values ranging from a minimum of 40.4 percent in Louisiana to a maximum of 67.4 percent in Washington DC.

### Duration of Benefits

Typically, individuals are eligible for UI benefits for a maximum entitlement of 26 weeks. The maximum is limited by past earnings as well as state-imposed caps on the fraction of base period wages that total unemployment benefits may replace within a 52 week period.<sup>40</sup> As the cap is hit earlier for individuals with higher replacement rates, more generous UI entitlement durations may be misleading as a margin of UI generosity across individuals within a state. Further, the maximum entitlement period may be extended through 'trigger' levels of state unemployment during recessionary periods or through a federal extended benefits program. Endogeneity of these extensions with respect to labor market opportunities suggests exclusion of this factor from estimation. In the analysis below, I consider the entire duration of the spell, regardless of expiration of UI eligibility, noting the endogeneity concerns above. This decision further relates to the notion of momentum in the health insurance decision.<sup>41</sup>

#### UI Generosity and Endogenous Spell Durations

As UI distorts the relative prices of leisure and consumption, reducing the marginal incentive to search for a job, increased generosity of the social insurance program is expected to reduce labor supply. Moffitt (1985) and Meyer (1990) demonstrate that a 10 percent increase in UI benefits results in a 4-8 percent increase in unemployment durations in the US. As discussed in Section 1.4, longer completed unemployment spell durations are associated with lower health insurance coverage rates at all points in a spell. Thus, endogeneity of duration to UI generosity will tend to underestimate the impact of the income effect associated with greater UI generosity on private health insurance coverage during the unemployment spell, though this bias is second-order.<sup>42</sup>

A related issue arises from the potential endogeneity of layoff to the generosity of the UI system, though the existing literature is inconsistent. Feldstein (1978) and Topel (1983) find supporting evidence in the context of temporary layoffs, in contrast to the inconsistent relationship detailed by Anderson and Meyer (1994). It is unlikely that such selection drives the results below, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>Example: In January 2001, Texas capped total unemployment benefits at 27 percent of base period wages. <sup>41</sup>A natural experiment to consider is the break in unemployment benefits occurring at the point of benefits

exhaustion. However, the limited sample size of unemployment durations exceeding eligibility provides too little statistical power. Coefficients of approximately 0 suggest momentum in the health insurance decision, in some cases contractually through open enrollment periods in the event of 'switching' to a spouse's insurance coverage.

 $<sup>^{42}</sup>$  This issue is partially addressed by the collapsed specification is Section 1.5.6.

modeling the probability of layoff as a function of UI generosity and a set of demographic control reveals a small and insignificant effect of UI generosity on the probability of layoff.

### Graphical Evidence

Figure 7 presents graphical evidence of the heterogeneous effect of UI generosity on the fall in private health insurance coverage by estimating the extended version of Equation (1.1), stratified by eligible UI generosity for the state-year. Constructing the generosity measure at the state-year level removes confounding individual characteristics, such as income, from driving the results.<sup>43</sup> Visual inspection reveals a more dramatic fall in private health insurance coverage for individuals experiencing separation in below-median generosity state-year pairs relative to above-median generosity state-year pairs. A more rigorous treatment is detailed below.

### **1.5.2** Baseline Specification

In the baseline specification, I restrict to months unemployed within a UI-eligible unemployment spell.<sup>44</sup> To evaluate the effect of eligible UI generosity on health insurance coverage, I estimate multivariate linear probability models of the form:

$$Private_{ist} = \beta RR_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(1.2)

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-month level. *Private*<sub>ist</sub> is an indicator for private health insurance coverage in a given month.  $RR_{it}$  is a measure of an individual's eligible wage replacement rate under the relevant state UI system and varies continuously between 0 and 1.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual demographics and job characteristics.<sup>45</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel, year, and calendar month indicators. State indicators control for time-invariant heterogeneity across states correlated with UI generosity, such as risk aversion. Time indicators control for common trends in private health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed. Additionally, I incorporate seasonally adjusted state unemployment levels to account for potential legislative endogeneity.<sup>46</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>The measure employed is the simulated instrument of the state-year UI replacement rate, detailed below. This measure is purged of individual characteristics and state distributions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>This specification has the appeal of removing the confounding factor of false anticipation effects relative to incorporating employed observations. I re-consider an interacted model incorporating both months unemployed and months employed in Section 1.5.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Controls include those under Equation (1.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>Seasonally adjusted unemployment rates are used in place of non-seasonally adjusted unemployment rates as the discussion of legislative endogeneity of the form above would suggest policy deviations from atypical fluctuation in unemployment. One dimension of endogeneity captured by this approach is the 'trigger' of extended UI benefits resulting from sufficiently high state unemployment.

The coefficient  $\beta$  on the regressor of interest,  $RR_{it}$ , measures the effect of UI generosity on the probability that an individual reports private health insurance coverage. The inclusion of state and time fixed effects results in a model effectively identified from higher order interactions of wage, state, and time, assumed to be legitimately excluded form an individual's health insurance coverage decision.<sup>47</sup> Effectively,  $\beta$  is identified by the differential private health insurance coverage rates of high- and low-earning unemployed workers across states that provide these earnings levels with different relative UI benefits.

As  $RR_{it}$  is a measure of eligible benefits, rather than received benefits, the estimated parameter  $\beta$  captures the differential effect of eligible UI generosity on private health insurance coverage rather than the effect of an increase in actual UI benefits received. The individual replacement rate, rather than weekly benefits level, is chosen as the measure of UI generosity in the baseline specification for interpretation and comparability across years.<sup>48</sup> These results are reported in Table 5.

However, it is not obvious that behavior responds to the replacement rate, or fraction of wage income replaced by the state UI program, rather than the weekly benefit amount, measured in dollar terms. This issue is one of relative versus absolute generosity. As the replacement rate is a mechanically decreasing function of income within a state-year, owing to the progressive benefits structure, and the weekly benefit amount is a weakly increasing function of income within a given state-year, comparing results across both specifications is a reasonable check for proper income controls, as well as consistency in responsiveness along a margin of generosity classification. These alternative specifications are reported in Table 6.<sup>49</sup>

Perhaps the most compelling index is the anticipated cost of COBRA coverage within a given state-year. As approximately 75 percent of the unemployed sample is married, I consider the average employer cost of family health insurance premiums by state-year as reported by the MEPS-IC.<sup>50</sup> The alternative generosity measure, then, is the nominal individual eligible UI weekly benefit amount scaled by the average employer-sponsored family coverage premium. These data are only available across the 1996-2003 period, so I only briefly consider this alternative generosity measure in Table 7. I re-construct results incorporating both the replacement rate and the real weekly benefit amount measures of UI generosity using this restricted reference

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>A potential violation is state trends in private health insurance coverage correlated with the evolution of state UI generosity over time. Inclusion of the lagged private coverage from the wave prior to separation attempts to control for such a spurious correlation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>Use of the replacement rate does not necessitate explicit use of a price index to generate comparability of the generosity measure across panels. However, a wage index is implicity applied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>Weekly benefit amounts are discounted to January 1990 dollars using the Medical Care component of the Consumer Price Index (CPI), motivated by the fact that the rate of increase in health insurance premiums outpaces the aggregate CPI. Regrettably, the Medical Component of the Producer Price Index, perhaps a more reasonable adjustment, is not available for the duration of the study. Alternative indexes are considered in specifications not reported, using the aggregate CPI and the Prescription Drug component of the CPI. Inference across these alternative specifications is comparable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>I refrain from adjusting the generosity measure index based upon family composition to prevent population heterogeneity from driving the results.

period to demonstrate consistency of results across the panels and maintain comparability.

#### Simulated Instrument Approach

Motivation for the implementation of a simulated instruments instrumental variables strategy is drawn from Meyer (1990), noting that the UI replacement rate for an individual is a function of the legislative environment in a given state-year, but also of an individual's characteristics. Even with flexible controls, relative state UI generosity may reflect differences in the distribution of incomes and other individual characteristics across states, thus confounding inference of the effect of UI on private health insurance coverage. I therefore instrument for predicted eligible UI benefits using 'simulated eligibility', a strategy developed in Currie and Gruber (1996) and detailed in application to UI generosity in Levine (1993) and Gruber (1997). A related two-step procedure is proposed and implemented in Chetty (2008).

Using the national sample of individuals in each six month period, given the frequency of reported policy updates, I assign that sample to each state in that period. I calculate each individual's eligible weekly benefit amount and determine the eligible replacement rate. I then average the resulting replacement rates across the simulated sample for each state-year. The resulting instrument is purged of potentially confounding individual characteristics of the individuals in that state-year and is a function of only the legislative environment in that state-year.<sup>51</sup> This simulated instrument is then incorporated as an excluded instrument.<sup>52</sup>

A second motivation for constructing the simulated instruments is related to the inherent measurement error of the UI benefits calculator. Although a noisy proxy for eligible benefits for a given individual, as a result of imputation and imprecise measurement of income distribution throughout the base period, the estimated UI weekly benefits amounts should be correct on average. This noise component, however, will drive the estimated coefficients towards zero in the classical errors-in-variables construction. Although the simulated instrument is, of course, a noisy measure as well, I can reasonably assume that the measurement error is uncorrelated across the measures, provided no systematic over- or under-estimation of weekly benefits amounts. The simulated instruments approach will then produce consistent estimates of the effect of eligible UI benefits in mitigating the fall in private coverage under this assumption.

One limitation to this approach, however, is a restriction in the variance of the UI generosity measures, as the instruments are fixed at a point in time across all individuals within the state. As detailed in Table 4, the majority of variation in the simulated instrument is driven by dif-

 $<sup>^{51}</sup>$ As the SIPP panels sample potentially systematically different populations over time, I have alternatively constructed the simulated instrument using a fixed national sample from 1996, with wage data inflated by the Employment Cost Index for wages and salaries. These results, not reported, provide similar inference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>The power of the simulated instrument is confirmed by the Kleibergen-Paap statistic, which is well beyond reasonable thresholds, rejecting weak instruments. Similarly, a partial  $R^2$  of excluded instruments is approximately .28 for specifications with demographics. However, with state FE, the partial  $R^2$  is reduced to .07, though the Kleibergen-Paap statistic remains suitably high. The Anderson-Rubin confidence set, robust to weak instruments, yields comparable inference to the standard inference reported below.

ferences across states, rather than within-states over time.<sup>53</sup> Results of simulated instruments approach (2SLS) are reported alongside the OLS results in Tables 5 and 6.

### 1.5.3 Baseline Results

### Replacement Rate as a Measure of UI Generosity

Table 5 presents the baseline results using the replacement rate as the measure of eligible UI generosity. Specifications (1)-(4) consider OLS estimation, ignoring the potential endogeneity issue and measurement issue discussed above. In specification (1), I report a model for private health insurance coverage, excluding all demographics. The mechanical relationship between replacement rate and income results in a negative association between the UI replacement rate coefficient and private health insurance coverage. In specification (2), I incorporate demographic controls, including wage splines. The coefficient on the UI replacement rate flips sign, and the result suggests that a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate increases private coverage by .11 percentage points. This sign reversal on the replacement rate suggest adequacy of the wage splines. Specification (3) incorporates a control for legislative endogeneity, the state seasonally adjusted unemployment rate, which enters insignificantly and yields a similar coefficient on our regressor of interest, suggesting that a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate increases private coverage by .11 percentage points. Specification (4) incorporates state fixed effects, producing a similar point estimate, though the result is marginally significant. These results suggest that a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate increases private coverage amongst the unemployed by .13 percentage points.

Scaled by the average UI replacement rate in the sample of UI-eligible spells of unemployment, 50.1 percent, these results suggest that existing UI generosity mitigates the fall in private coverage by 6.5 percentage points. Specification (3) of Table 2 provides an estimate for the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment amongst UI-eligible separation. Relying upon observable controls, I estimate a fall in private coverage of 19.13 percentage points, given existing levels of UI generosity.<sup>54</sup> Together, these results suggest that absent UI, unemployment would result in a fall in private coverage of approximately 25.6 percentage points. Thus, existing UI generosity may alternatively be interpreted as mitigating roughly 25.4 percent of the fall in private coverage that would occur absent UI.

Specifications (5)-(8) of Table 5 consider the simulated instruments approach. Consistent with expectations, there is no sign flip under this approach when incorporating demographics, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>This relationship holds for both real weekly benefit amounts as well as the replacement rates.

 $<sup>^{54}</sup>$ For comparison, incorporating an individual fixed effect in specification (4) yields a tempered fall in private coverage of 16.11 percentage points associated with unemployment. Alternative scaling based upon this result would yield somewhat larger estimates of the effect of UI generosity in mitigating the fall in private coverage amongst the unemployed.

the instrument, by construction, is uncorrelated with individual characteristics. Relative to the OLS specifications, the 2SLS approach yields larger estimates of the effect of marginal increases in the eligible UI replacement rate on private coverage amongst the unemployed, reflecting either imperfect controls for individual characteristics or the inherent measurement error discussed above. Specification (7), which excludes state fixed effects, suggests that a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate increases private coverage by .30 percentage points. Scaled by the sample average UI replacement rate, this corresponds to an increase in private coverage resulting from existing levels of UI generosity of approximately 15.0 percentage points. Scaled by the implied fall in private coverage absent UI, these results suggest that existing levels of UI generosity mitigate roughly 43.9 percent of the fall in private coverage absent UI. Incorporating state fixed effects in specification (8) yields a point estimate of comparable magnitude, yet the robust standard error is inflated as the instrument's variation is largely across-states rather than within-states across-time, resulting in a statistically insignificant point estimate.

### Weekly Benefit Amount as a Measure of UI Generosity

Table 6 presents analogous results incorporating the eligible real UI weekly benefit amount as the measure of generosity. The measure is scaled by  $\frac{1}{100}$ , such that point estimates correspond to the effect of a \$100 increase in the UI weekly benefit amount on private health coverage amongst the unemployed. Results are largely consistent with those of the baseline specification. The simulated instruments approach in specification (7) suggests that for every \$100 in eligible UI benefits, the private coverage increases by 7.64 percentage points amongst the unemployed. Scaled by an average UI weekly benefit amount of \$172, this results implies that existing UI generosity levels mitigate the fall in private coverage across employment status by 13.1 percentage points. Given a fall in private coverage across employment status of 19.13 percentage points evaluated at existing levels of UI generosity, these results suggest that absent UI private coverage would fall by approximately 32.2 percentage points. Thus, existing levels of UI generosity mitigate roughly 40.6 percent of the fall in private coverage absent UI. As above, though the OLS specification is robust to inclusion of state fixed effects, by restricting to within-state across-time variation in the instrument, results of the simulated instruments approach are too noisy to draw proper inference when state fixed effects are included in specification (8), though the point estimate is again similar.

### Fraction of Continuation Coverage Costs as a Measure of UI Generosity

Table 7 restricts to the 1996-2003 reference period, owing to the data limitations of the MEPS-IC. Specifications (4) and (5) re-construct results of the simulated instruments approach, incorporating the eligible UI replacement rate and the eligible UI weekly benefit amount as measures of UI generosity, respectively. These point estimates are comparable to those of the extended reference period. Specifically, a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is estimated to have increased private coverage amongst the unemployed by .43 percentage
points, relative to an estimate of .30 in the baseline specification. Similarly, a \$100 increase in UI weekly benefit amount is estimated to increase private coverage amongst the unemployed by 9.51 percentage points, compared to an estimate of 7.64 in the baseline specification. These results are particularly encouraging given passage of HIPAA in 1996, easing concerns that the pooled effect may not apply across panels. Specifications (3) and (6) consider the alternative generosity measure of UI nominal weekly benefit amount scaled by the state-year average cost of employer-sponsored family coverage. Under OLS estimation in specification (3), I find that as the UI weekly benefit amount is increased by the average cost of continuation coverage, private coverage amongst the unemployed increases by 4.0 percentage points. Under the simulated instruments approach in specification (6), I find a larger effect of 9.8 percentage points. These results closely mirror those of the UI weekly benefit amount measure of UI generosity, scaled by the CPI, suggesting adequacy of that metric.

#### **1.5.4 Imperfect Controls**

Although state fixed effects are accommodated in the OLS specification above, the simulated instruments approach loses significance, resulting from limited variation in UI generosity within-states across-time. Thus the data are unable to accommodate state trends. This raises the concern that heterogeneous trends in private health insurance coverage across employment status, such as implementation of pooling mechanisms in the non-group market, may spuriously drive the results if correlated with UI generosity. As a result, an array of imperfect controls are considered: employed observations for individuals experiencing UI-eligible unemployment within the respective panel, employed observations for individuals continuously employed throughout the panel, and non-employed observations for individuals experiencing UI-ineligible separations, failing to meet either monetary or non-monetary restriction criteria.

Clearly, each control group is far from ideal. The employed observations for individuals experiencing UI-eligible unemployment at some point in the panel present a less-than-ideal control as: (1) false anticipation effects, as documented in Section 1.4.4, may create a false effect of UI generosity on private health insurance coverage while approaching separation if health insurance coverage is falsely back-coded through the wave, and (2) the effect of UI while employed will not contain other contemporaneous effects of unemployment on private coverage correlated with state UI generosity. Both the continuously employed and UI-ineligible separators consist of fundamentally dissimilar populations in comparison with UI-eligible separators, thus distinctions may be driven by population heterogeneity.

Regardless, each group is expected to demonstrate limited sensitivity to simulated eligible UI generosity if the baseline model is properly identified, as each control group is ineligible for UI receipt. I estimate modifications of Equation (1.2) for each imperfect control group. Results are presented in Table 8 alongside baseline results for the replacement rate measure of UI generosity and in Table 9 for the weekly benefit amount measure of UI generosity. Results are

encouraging and support interpretation of the baseline specification as causal. Compared to the baseline specifications, the control groups exhibit diminutive sensitivity to UI generosity. Considering the simulated instrument approach in specification (5) or Table 8, a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is estimated to increase private coverage amongst the UI-eligible unemployed by .30 percentage points in the baseline specification. By comparison, months employed are only 9.8 percent as responsive to UI generosity as months unemployed for the same set of separators, and this may reflect in part the 'seam bias' discussed above. The always employed population are only 1.0 percent as responsive as the UI-eligible unemployed. Perhaps most compelling, the UI-ineligible experiencing spells of non-employment are only 13.2 percent as responsive compared to the core sample, and the estimate is wrong-signed, that is a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is estimated to decrease private coverage amongst the UI-ineligible by .04 percentage points. Similar inference is drawn from comparison across specifications in Table 9; relative to the core sample in specification (5), months employed are only 14.4 percent as responsive to UI generosity as measured by the weekly benefit amount in specification (6), the always employed are 4.7 percent as responsive in specification (7), and though the UI-ineligible population is 23.8 percent as responsive in specification (8), the estimate is again wrong-signed. These results are encouraging, as across the specifications point estimates for the control groups are comparatively modest, often wrong-signed, and generally insignificant.

### 1.5.5 Partially Interacted Model

To determine the significance of the estimated effect of eligible UI generosity on health insurance coverage for the UI-eligible unemployed sample relative to the employed observations for these same individuals, I estimate partially interacted multivariate linear probability models modified from Equation (1.1) of the form:

$$Private_{ist} = \beta_1 Unemployed_{it} + \beta_2 RR_{it} + \beta_3 Unemployed_{it} \bullet RR_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(1.3)

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-month level, and include months unemployed and months employed for workers who experience UI-eligible unemployment at some point within the respective panel. *Private<sub>ist</sub>* is an indicator for private health insurance coverage in a given month. *Unemployed<sub>it</sub>* is an indicator for whether an individual is unemployed in a given month. *RR<sub>it</sub>* is a measure of an individual's eligible wage replacement rate under the relevant state UI system and varies continuously between 0 and 1.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics.<sup>55</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel, year, and calendar month indicators.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Controls are equivalent to Equation (1.2). Controls are drawn from the wave prior to separation for months unemployed and from the prior wave for months employed.

 $\beta_1$  provides an estimate of the fall in private insurance coverage absent state UI.  $\beta_2$  measures the effect of UI generosity on the probability that an individual reports private health insurance coverage across months employed and months unemployed.  $\beta_3$  estimates the sensitivity of the effect of UI generosity on the probability that an individual reports private health insurance coverage across months unemployed relative to months employed. Results of Section 1.5.4 suggest that eligible UI generosity significantly increases the probability of private insurance coverage amongst the unemployed, but not amongst months employed for workers experiencing UI-eligible unemployment at some point within the respective panel. Results above suggest that  $\beta_1 < 0$  as unemployment is associated with a dramatic fall in private coverage in Section 1.4.3,  $\beta_2 \approx 0$  given limited sensitivity of the employed observations to UI generosity in Section 1.5.4, and that  $\beta_3 > 0$  given sensitivity of private coverage to UI generosity amongst the unemployed in Section 1.5.2.

Results for the eligible replacement rate measure of UI generosity are presented in Table 10. Under the simulated instruments approach, there is a dramatic decline in private coverage associated with unemployment, a highly statistically significant fall of 20.1 percentage points in specification (8). Although increased generosity of UI as captured through the replacement rate is associated with an increase in private coverage, the result is diminutive in comparison to the effect of increased generosity conditional upon unemployment. Specifically, a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is estimated to increase private coverage by .04 percentage points irrespective of employment status, though this result is statistically insignificant. By comparison, a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is estimated to the employed relative to the employed, and the result is marginally significant. Thus the employed are only approximately 16 percent as responsive to UI generosity as the unemployed, consistent with the results of Section 1.5.4. Scaled by the implied fall in private coverage absent UI, these results suggest that existing levels of UI generosity mitigate roughly 52.7 percent of the fall in private coverage.<sup>56</sup>

Comparable inference is drawn from the results for the eligible weekly benefit amount alternative measure of UI generosity presented in Table 11. Absent UI, private coverage is estimated to fall by a highly statistically significant 16.6 percentage points under the simulated instruments approach in specification (8). A \$100 increase in the UI weekly benefit amount increases private coverage by 1.62 percentage points irrespective of employment status, though this result is insignificant. By comparison, conditional upon unemployment, a \$100 increase in the UI weekly benefit amount increases the probability of private coverage by 5.46 percentage points relative to months employed, and this result is highly statistically significant. Scaled by the implied fall in private coverage across employment status absent UI, these results suggest that existing UI generosity levels mitigate roughly 56.7 percent of the fall in private coverage,

 $<sup>^{56}</sup>$ Specifically,  $\frac{.2114.5011}{|-.2009|} \approx .527$ . This calculation only accounts for the heterogeneous effect of UI generosity across employment status, as the effect of UI generosity irrespective of employment status does not differentially affect the unemployed population, thus cannot offset the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment.

similar to the 53.8 percent estimated under the replacement rate measure of UI generosity.

# 1.5.6 Collapsed Spells

Documentation of duration endogeneity to UI generosity (Meyer 1990, Chetty 2008) suggests a potential sample selection bias inherent to the person-month analysis above. To avoid overweighting long spells, which presumably appear disproportionately in response to increased UI generosity, spells of unemployment are collapsed to a single observation. Similarly, spells are weighted by the reciprocal number of spells per individual, such that the sum of an individual's weights equals 1, to avoid over-weighting short, repeated spells. This approach is appealing as variation in UI generosity is naturally drawn from across spells, as benefits are fixed within a spell, conditional on take-up. Collapsed models are of the form:

$$Private_{ist} = \beta RR_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(1.4)

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-spell level.  $\overline{Private_{ist}}$  is the average private health insurance coverage rate for an individual across the unemployment spell, constructed as the fraction of months insured across the spell.  $R_{it}$  is a measure of an individual's eligible wage replacement rate under the relevant state UI system and varies continuously between 0 and 1.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics.<sup>57</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel, year, and calendar month indicators. Standard errors are clustered to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state, given correlation across repeated spells as well as across couples residing within a state.

Results are of the collapsed model are reported in Table 12 alongside baseline results. Although point estimates are somewhat smaller in magnitude than the baseline specifications, patterns are consistent and significance is retained. Evaluating the simulated instruments approach, the collapsed model in specification (6) reports an increase in average private coverage across the spell of .22 percentage points associated with a 1 percentage point increase in the eligible UI replacement rate, compared to an increase of .30 percentage points in the baseline specification re-produced in specification (5). This suggests that the effect of UI generosity in mitigating the fall in private coverage is approximately 73.3 percent as large under the collapsed specification with respect to the replacement rate measure of UI generosity. Similarly, an increase of \$100 in the eligible UI weekly benefit amount is associated with an increase in average private coverage across the spell of 5.53 percentage points, compared to an increase of 7.64 percentage points in the baseline specification re-produced in specification (7). This suggests that the effect of UI generosity in mitigating the fall in private coverage is approximately 72.4 percent as large

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>Controls are equivalent to Equation (1.2). Controls are drawn from the wave prior to separation.

under the collapsed specification with respect to the weekly benefit amount measure of UI generosity. This diminished magnitude can be explained in part by the re-weighting of spells away from long spells of unemployment as under person-month observations and towards the representative spell.

# **1.6** Asset Heterogeneity

## 1.6.1 Identifying Liquidity Constrained Households

Browning and Crossley (2001), Bloemen and Stancanelli (2005), and Sullivan (2008) detail consumption drops during unemployment mitigated by UI generosity for households with little financial assets, though limited sensitivity amongst households with higher asset holdings. Chetty (2008) finds similar evidence with respect to hazard rates for leaving unemployment. In related work, Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston (2008) find that consumption-income comovement is pronounced for households with low asset holding. A natural extension, then, of the above framework is to evaluate heterogeneous sensitivity of private insurance coverage across spells of unemployment to UI generosity amongst plausibly liquidity constrained households relative to liquidity unconstrained households.

The SIPP is designed to provide a broader context for analysis by incorporating supplemental data contained within 'topical modules', uniquely matched to individuals within the 'core' dataset. Though the SIPP contains no direct measure of a household's access to credit markets, SIPP respondents are interviewed about detailed household wealth holdings at a single interview point in the 1990-1993 panels, and once annually in the 1996 and 2001 panels. As a result, pre-separation asset data are available for approximately 50 percent of these unemployment spells. I include only observations for which I observe asset holdings prior to the point of separation, to avoid issues of asset draw-down during an unemployment spell, which may respond to the level of UI generosity. Although the SIPP imputation methodology has been criticized (Curtin et al. 1989, Hoynes et al. 1998), non-random imputation suggests potential bias from the exclusion of imputed values, thus I retain these observations.<sup>58</sup>

I focus on net liquid wealth as the primary proxy for liquidity constraint. Following Chetty (2008), I define net liquid wealth as gross liquid wealth less unsecured debt.<sup>59</sup> Although substantial unsecured debt may limit a household's ability to finance an unemployment spell, unsecured debt may alternatively reflect a household's access to unsecured borrowing. This motivates alternative consideration of gross financial wealth as a proxy for liquidity constraint.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>Gruber (2001) finds no systematic difference in results owing to exclusion of imputed results, though wealth adequacy is approximately 50 percent lower, reflecting the non-random imputation assignment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>Liquid wealth is defined as total wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Net liquid wealth is defined as liquid wealth minus unsecured debts.

A secondary proxy for liquidity constraint is mortgage status prior to separation. Gruber (1998) finds that less than 5 percent of the unemployed sell their homes during an unemployment spell, in contrast to high mobility amongst renters. A household burdened with mortgage payments prior to job loss has a fixed consumption obligation, limiting the household's ability to smooth other forms of consumption (Chetty and Szeidl 2007). Yet this consumption commitment results in heightened risk aversion over moderate losses, thus a mortgage may result in additional valuation of health insurance for a household. For both imperfect proxies of liquidity constraint, misclassification will bias the sensitivity differential towards zero, underestimating the potential liquidity effect.

#### Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics across these heterogeneous groups are presented in Table 13.<sup>60</sup> The most striking statistic is that the median unemployed household has only \$175 in net liquid wealth prior to separation, though the distribution is heavily skewed, with mean reporting of \$19,450. Net liquid wealth is non-monotonic in gross liquid wealth, as the first quartile reports \$422 in median liquid wealth relative to \$6,923 in unsecured debt, compared to the second quartile with \$0 in median liquid wealth, but only \$80 in median unsecured debt. In spite of heterogeneity in asset holdings of the household, the average UI replacement rates and average real weekly benefit amounts are similar across the net liquid wealth quartiles. Comparison of the second and fourth quartiles reveals the largest disparities; the average UI replacement rate ranges from 46.1 percent within quartile 4 to 53.7 percent within quartile 2, and corresponding average UI weekly benefits amounts are reported as \$203 and \$146, respectively.

With respect to health insurance coverage, the first quartile of net liquid wealth closely mirrors the pooled sample, reporting an average private coverage across spells of 61.5 percent in comparison to the pooled sample's average private coverage of 62.5 percent. Although the second quartile is roughly 38 percent less likely to have private health insurance across an unemployment spell compared to the pooled sample, these individuals are similarly 32 percent less likely to report private health insurance coverage prior to separation. Correspondingly, public insurance coverage amongst the second quartile of 7.2 percent prior to separation is more than twice that of the pooled sample, 3.0 percent. As quartiles of net liquid wealth vary substantively along more dimensions than simply asset holdings, I therefore stratify across proxies for liquidity constraint and consumption commitment rather than estimate a joint model with commonly identified covariates.

#### Graphical Evidence

 $<sup>^{60}</sup>$ Gruber (2001) finds that the median worker holds sufficient gross financial assets to cover roughly two-thirds of income loss from an unemployment spell, though the extremely skewed distribution suggests that one-third of workers are unable to replace even 10 percent of the income loss. The implication of incorporating net liquid assets suggests further inadequacy of private savings at the median, though the distribution remains highly skewed.

Figures 8-10 present graphical evidence of the heterogeneous effect of UI generosity in mitigating the fall in private health insurance coverage, stratifying across each proxy for liquidity constraint or consumption commitment. Figure 8 estimates the extended version of Equation (1.1) separately by above- and below-median UI state-year generosity and above- and below-median net liquid wealth prior to separation. These results suggest that the differential in private coverage with respect to UI generosity is amplified for separations proxied as liquidity constrained, those with below-median net liquid wealth, and muted for separation proxied as liquidity unconstrained, those with above-median net liquid wealth. Population heterogeneity is expressed through the mitigated fall in private coverage for both high and low generosity proxied liquidity unconstrained households in comparison to both high and low generosity proxied liquidity constrained households. A similar relationship holds for the gross liquid wealth proxy of liquidity constraint in Figure 9.

Figure 10 estimates the extended version of Equation (1.1) separately by above- and belowmedian UI state-year generosity and across mortgage status prior to separation. Unlike the asset proxies, under the mortgage proxy of consumption commitment separations proxied as constrained exhibit a mitigated fall in private coverage in comparison to the unconstrained. This reflects in part the higher average educational attainment and earnings of the constrained group. As above, the constrained group exhibits amplified sensitivity to state-year UI generosity in comparison to the unconstrained group, though the comparison is somewhat less clear in the context of the mortgage proxy. A more rigorous treatment is detailed below.

#### **1.6.2** Stratification Across Proxies

To evaluate heterogeneity in the sensitivity of private coverage to UI generosity, I stratify across proxies for liquidity constraint and consumption commitment, estimating collapsed models modified from Equation (1.4). I further incorporate a linear control for total (illiquid and liquid) household wealth. Table 14 presents results stratified by above- or below-median net liquid wealth level prior to separation. Along both measures of UI generosity, the UI replacement rate and the UI weekly benefit amount, the effect of UI generosity on private health insurance coverage during an unemployment spell is concentrated within the constrained group, with positive, significant coefficients, while coefficients for the unconstrained group are of diminutive magnitude and insignificant. Specifically, under the simulated instruments approach, a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is estimated to increase private insurance coverage amongst the unemployed by .23 percentage points for the constrained group in specification (2) and .06 percentage points for the unconstrained group in specification (6). Thus, the unconstrained separators are estimated to be approximately 26.1 percent as responsive as the constrained separators. Similarly, in terms of the increase in private coverage associated with a \$100 increase in the UI weekly benefit amount in specifications (4) and (8), the unconstrained group is approximately 21.3 percent as responsive as the constrained group.

Alternatively, I consider stratifying across net liquid wealth quartile, rather than above- and below-median distinction.<sup>61</sup> Results are presented in Table 15 and provide suggestive evidence of a liquidity effect concentrated amongst the first quartile of net liquid wealth. Point estimates are monotonically decreasing across net liquid wealth quartiles for both measures of UI generosity, across both OLS and 2SLS specifications. As quartile 1 closely mirrors the pooled sample with exception of substantial unsecured debts, it is unlikely that this effect is driven by population heterogeneity, supporting interpretation of the results above as suggestive evidence of an associated liquidity effect.

As noted above, it is possible that negative net liquid wealth proxies not for liquidity constraint, but rather for access to unsecured borrowing, as might allow an individual to smooth across transitory income shocks such as unemployment. As verification, then, I alternatively stratify across the gross liquid wealth proxy, which produces comparable inference as presented in Table 16. Under the simulated instruments approach, a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is associated with an increase in private coverage amongst the unemployed by .28 percentage points for the constrained group in specification (2) and .07 percentage points for the unconstrained group in specification (6), a sensitivity ratio of approximately 26.0 percent. Similarly, in terms of the increase in private coverage associated with a \$100 increase in the UI weekly benefit amount in specifications (4) and (8), the unconstrained group is approximately 20.9 percent as responsive as the constrained group.

Similarity of results under the net liquid wealth proxy in Table 17 and the gross liquid wealth proxy in Table 15 is not surprising, as the majority of separations are consistently coded as above- or below-median under either proxy of liquidity constraint. Dissimilarly, the constrained types under the mortgage proxy, resulting from consumption commitment, have higher income, educational attainment, and private health insurance coverage than the unconstrained types, who are primarily renters. Separations with a mortgage face a fixed consumption obligation, limiting the household's ability to smooth health insurance coverage as the household faces plausibly more costly choices while experiencing low transitory income. Results of stratification across mortgage status prior to separation are presented in Table 16. These results are consistent with use of net liquid wealth as the proxy for liquidity constraint. In terms of the simulated instruments approach, a 1 percentage point increase in the UI replacement rate is associated with a .29 percentage points increase in private coverage amongst the constrained group in specification (2), compared to an increase of .14 percentage points for the unconstrained group in specification (6). These results imply that the unconstrained group is approximately 46.6 percent as responsive as the constrained group. Similarly, comparison of the effect of a \$100 increase in the UI weekly benefit amount in specifications (4) and (8) suggest that the unconstrained group is approximately 35.2 percent as responsive as the constrained group. This provides a reasonable cross-check that the heterogeneous effects of UI generosity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>Stratification across finer units places too large a strain on the data.

on private health insurance coverage is not spuriously driven by other distinctions across the groups. These results conform to the graphical evidence, where net liquid wealth and gross liquid wealth proxies provide a more clear distinction in sensitivity across the unconstrained and constrained groups in relation to the mortgage proxy.

These results demonstrate that the interaction effect of UI generosity and liquidity constraint or consumption commitment in terms of maintaining private health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed is negative, illustrating a potential excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand for constrained sub-populations. As UI generosity affects private coverage solely through an income effect, I am therefore observing the liquidity effect directly through the heterogeneity in responsiveness detailed above. However, statistical imprecision renders these results merely suggestive of an associated liquidity effect.

# 1.7 Conclusion

Although previous work concerning the effectiveness of continuation mandates have found at most modest effects with respect to increasing private health insurance coverage amongst the unemployed, these studies have failed to address the issue of ability to pay for a household with an unemployed member experiencing low transitory income. I find a dramatic fall in private health insurance coverage for prime-age males experiencing unemployment, despite federally mandated continuation benefits throughout the reference period. However, introduction of UI generosity into the framework reveals that current UI generosity mitigates approximately 41 to 44 percent of the fall in private health insurance coverage that would occur absent UI benefits. Stratification across proxies for a household's access to credit reveals concentration patterns consistent with an associated liquidity effect. Separations proxied as liquidity unconstrained exhibit limited sensitivity to UI generosity, with a measured response only 21-26 percent as large as for the proxied liquidity constrained separation.

These results suggest that policies relying upon non-advanceable tax subsidies, requiring enrollees to pay up-front for coverage and only later receive a tax credit, will likely have limited efficacy relative to policies that directly subsidize the purchase price of health insurance for the unemployed. A recent study (Hewitt Associates Inc. 2009) found that the percentage of involuntarily terminated employees opting for COBRA coverage increased from an average of 19 percent between September 2008 through February 2009 to 38 percent between March 2009 through June 2009, effectively doubling the program participation rate. Eligible workers receive a nine-month 65 percent subsidy, effectively decreasing COBRA continuation costs for the typical worker from \$8,800 annually to only \$3,000 annually, similar to the \$1,900 annual directly subsidized cost incurred by the typical worker with employer-sponsored health coverage. This participation rate ignores workers seeking coverage with a new employer or through a spouse's employer, thus under-reporting take-up of the targeted population. Regardless, this suggests that the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 subsidy, which reduced the immediate purchase price for eligible job separators, may have invoked a substantially larger behavioral response than the 2002 Health Coverage Tax Credit, which provided a refundable, but not advanceable, tax credit.

# References

Anderson, Patricia and Bruce Meyer. 1994. "The Effects of Unemployment Insurance Taxes and Benefits on Layoffs Using Firm and Individual Data." NBER Working Paper #4960.

Anderson, Patricia and Bruce Meyer. 1997. "Unemployment Insurance Take-up Rates and the After-Tax Value of Benefits." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 112(August): 913-937.

Asplin, Brent, et al. 2005. "Insurance Status and Access to Urgent Ambulatory Care Follow-up Appointments." *Journal of American Medical Association* 294(10): 1248-54.

Ayanian, John, et al. 2000. "Unmet Health Needs of Uninsured Adults in the United States." *Journal of American Medical Association* 284(16): 2061-2069.

Baicker, Katherine and Amitabh Chandra. 2006. "The Labor Market Effects of Rising Health Insurance Premiums." *Journal of Labor Economics* 24(3): 609-634.

Bazzoli, Gloria J. 1986. "Health Care for the Indigent: Overview of Critical Issues." *Health Services Research* 21: 353-394.

Berki, Sylvester E., et al. 1985. "Health Insurance Coverage of the Unemployed." *Medical Care* 23(7): 847–854.

Blank, Rebecca M. and David E. Card. 1991. "Recent Trends in Insured and Uninsured Unemployment: Is There an Explanation?" *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 106(4): 1157-89.

Bloemen, Hans and Elena Stancanelli. 2005. "Financial Wealth, Consumption Smoothing and Income Shocks Arising from Job Loss." *Economica* 72(August): 431-452.

Blundell, Richard, Luigi Pistaferri, and Ian Preston. 2008. "Consumption Inequality and Partial Insurance," *American Economic Review* 98(5): 1887-1921.

Brown, David. 2010a. "Maintaining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of Continuation of Coverage Mandates." Unpublished paper.

Brown, David. 2010b. "Re-evaluating Unemployment Insurance and the Crowd-Out of Spousal Labor Supply." Unpublished paper.

Browning, Martin and Thomas F. Crossley. 2001. "Unemployment Insurance Benefit Levels and Consumption Changes." *Journal of Public Economics* 80(1): 1-23.

Browning, Martin and Annamaria Lusardi. 1996. "Household Saving: Micro Theories and Micro Facts." *Journal of Economic Literature* 34(4): 1797-1855.

Bureau of Labor Statistics. "Employment Situation Summary." Washington DC: United States Department of Labor. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.bls.gov/news.release/archives/empsit\_03062009.pdf. Chetty, Raj. 2008. "Moral Hazard vs. Liquidity and Optimal Unemployment Insurance." *Journal of Political Economy* 116(2): 173-234.

Chetty, Raj and Emmanuel Saez. 2010. "Optimal Taxation and Social Insurance with Endogenous Private Insurance." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 2(2): 85-114.

Chetty, Raj and Adam Szeidl. 2007. "Consumption Commitments and Risk Preferences." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 122(May): 831-877.

Clark, Kim B. and Lawrence H. Summers. 1979. "Labor Market Dynamics and Unemployment: A Reconsideration" *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1: 13–60.

Claxton, Gary, et al. 2008. "Health Benefits In 2008: Premiums Moderately Higher, While Enrollment in Consumer-Directed Plans Rises in Small Firms." *Health Affairs* 27(6): w492-w502.

Collins, Sara R., et al. 2006. "Squeezed: Why Rising Exposure to Health Care Costs Threatens the Health and Financial Well-being of American Families." New York: The Commonwealth Fund.

Congressional Budget Office. Washington, DC. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/99xx/doc9989/hr1conference.pdf.

Cullen, Julie and Jonathan Gruber. 2000. "Does Unemployment Insurance Crowd Out Spousal Labor Supply?" *Journal of Labor Economics* 18(July): 546-572.

Currie, Janet and Jonathan Gruber. 1996. "Health Insurance Eligibility, Utilization of Medical Care, and Child Health." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 111(2): 431-66.

Curtin, Richard T., F. Thomas Juster, and James N. Morgan. 1989. "Survey Estimates of Wealth: An Assessment of Quality." The Measuring of Saving, Investment, and Wealth. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Cutler, David M. 2003. "Employee Costs and the Decline in Health Insurance Coverage." *Frontiers in Health Policy Research* 6: 27-54.

DeNavas-Walt, Carmen, Bernadette D. Proctor, and Jessica C. Smith. 2009. "U.S. Census Bureau, Current Population Reports, P60-236." *Income, Poverty, and Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2008.* Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Department of Labor. 2009a. "DOL Information Related to the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009." Washington DC: United States Department of Labor. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.dol.gov/recovery/implement.htm.

Department of Labor. 2009b. "Frequently Asked Questions about Portability of Health Coverage and HIPAA." Washington, DC: United States Department of Labor. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/faqs/faq\_consumer\_hipaa.html. Diamond, Peter and Jerry Hausman. 1984. "Individual Retirement and Savings Behavior." *Journal of Public Economics* 23(1-2): 81-114.

Dorn, Stan. 2008. "Health Coverage Tax Credits: A Small Program Offering Large Policy Lessons." Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.

Employment and Training Administration. Various Years. "Significant Provisions of State Unemployment Insurance Laws." U.S. Department of Labor. Washington DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Engen, Eric and Jonathan Gruber. 2001. "Unemployment Insurance and Precautionary Savings." *Journal of Monetary Economics* 47(3): 545-79.

Feldstein, Martin. 1978. "The Private and Social Costs of Unemployment." American Economic Review 68(2): 155-158.

Flynn, Patrice. 1992. "Employment-Based Health Insurance: Coverage Under COBRA Continuation Rules." U.S. Department of Labor, Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, Health Benefits and the Workforce. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Gruber, Jonathan. 1997. "The Consumption Smoothing Benefits of Unemployment Insurance." *American Economic Review* 87(March): 192-205.

Gruber, Jonathan. 1998. "Unemployment Insurance, Consumption Smoothing, and Private Insurance: Evidence from the PSID and CEX." *Research in Employment Policy* 1: 3-31.

Gruber, Jonathan. 2001. "The Wealth of the Unemployed." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 55(1): 79-94.

Gruber, Jonathan and Brigitte C. Madrian. 1997. "Employment Separation and Health Insurance Coverage." *Journal of Public Economics* 66(3): 349-382.

Gruber, Jonathan and Robin McKnight. 2003. "Why Did Employee Health Insurance Contributions Rise?" *Journal of Health Economics* 22(6): 1085-1104.

Gruber, Jonathan and James Poterba. 1994. "The Elasticity of Demand for Health Insurance: Evidence from the Self-Employed." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 109: 701-734.

Hamermesh, Daniel S. and Daniel T. Slesnick. 1998. "Unemployment Insurance and Household Welfare: Microeconomic Evidence 1980-93." *Research in Employment Policy* I: 33-61.

Hewitt Associates. 2009. "COBRA Enrollments Spike in Most Industries Experiencing Mass Layoffs." Web. Accessed Nov. 2009. http://www.hewittassociates.com/Intl/NA/en-US/AboutHewitt/Newsroom/PressReleaseDetail.aspx?cid=7133

Hoynes, Hilary, Michael Hurd, and Harish Chand. 1998. "Household Wealth of the Elderly Under Alternative Imputation Procedures." *Inquiries In The Economics of Aging.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press: 229-254. Johnson, David, Jonathan A. Parker, and Nicholas S. Souleles. 2006. "Household Expenditure and the Income Tax Rebates of 2001." *American Economic Review 96* (December): 1589-1610.

Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research & Educational Trust. 2009a. "Employer Health Benefits Annual Survey (#7936)." Menlo Park, CA: Public Opinion and Survey Research Publications. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://ehbs.kff.org/pdf/2009/7936.pdf

Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research & Educational Trust. 2009b. "Kaiser Health Tracking Poll: February 2009 (#7867)." Menlo Park, CA: Public Opinion and Survey Research Publications. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.kff.org/kaiserpolls/posr022509pkg.cfm

Klein, Sean. 2009. "Precautionary Savings, Insurance Generosity, and Portfolio Choice." Unpublished paper.

Klerman, Jacob A. 1991. "Pitfalls of Panel Data: The Case of the SIPP Health Insurance Data." Proceedings, The 1990's: A Decade of Decisions for Vital and Health Statistics. Public Health Conference on Records and Statistics: 36-39.

Klerman, Jacob A. and Omar Rahman. 1992. "Employment Change and Continuation of Health Insurance Coverage." U.S. Department of Labor, Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, Health Benefits and the Workforce. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Leibowitz, Arleen and Michael Chernew. 1992. "The Firm's Demand for Health Insurance. In: U.S. Department of Labor, Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration." *Health Benefits* and the Workforce. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Levine, Phillip B. 1993. "Spillover Effects Between the Insured and Uninsured Unemployed." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 47: 73–86.

Marquis, M. Susan and Stephen H. Long. 1995. "Worker Demand for Health Insurance in the Non-Group Market." *Journal of Health Economics* 14: 47–64.

Meyer, Bruce. 1990. "Unemployment Insurance and Unemployment Spells." *Econometrica* 58(July): 757-782.

Moffitt, Robert. 1985. "Unemployment Insurance and the Distribution of Unemployment Spells." *Journal of Econometrics* 28(April): 85-101.

Monheit, Alan C., et al. 1984. "Health Insurance for the Unemployed: Is Federal Legislation Needed?" *Health Affairs* 3(Spring): 101–111.

O'Leary, Christopher. 1996. "The Adequacy of Unemployment Insurance Benefits." Advisory Council on Unemployment Compensation: Background Papers 3.

Olson, Lynn M., Suk-fong S. Tang, and Paul W. Newacheck. 2005. "Children in the United States with Discontinuous Health Insurance." *New England Journal of Medicine* 353(4): 382-391.

Podgursky, Michael and Paul Swaim. 1987. "Health Insurance Loss: the Case of the Displaced Worker." *Monthly Labor Review* 110(4): 30–33.

RAND Corporation. "Years Ahead to Be Decisive Ones, AHA President Says as Delegates Hold First Annual Meeting in Washington." Washington DC: RAND Corporation. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.rand.org/pubs/research\_briefs/RB9174/index1.html.

Schoen, Cathy, et al. 2008. "How Many are Underinsured? Trends Among U.S. Adults, 2003 and 2007." *Health Affairs* 27(4): w298-w309.

Schwartz, Karyn. 2007. "How Trends in the Health Care System Affect Low-Income Adults: Identifying Access Problems and Financial Burdens." *Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured* 7705.

Sullivan, James X. 2008. "Borrowing During Unemployment: Unsecured Debt as a Safety Net," *Journal of Human Resources* 43(2): 383-412.

Thorpe, Kenneth, et al. 1992. "Reducing the Number of Uninsured by Subsidizing Employment-Based Health Insurance: Results from a Pilot Study." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 262: 945–948.

Topel, Robert. 1983. "On Layoffs and Unemployment Insurance," *American Economic Review* 73(4): 541-59.

White House. "The President's Plan." Washington DC: United States Government. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.whitehouse.gov/issues/health-care.





Figure 2. Transitions - Conditional on Private Coverage in Wave Prior to Separation.

52



Figure 4. Transitions - Spousal Employer Coverage Prior to Separation.



Figure 6. The Effect of Job Loss on Private Insurance Coverage by Completed Duration.







Figure 10. Heterogeneous Effect of UI Generosity by Mortgage Proxy.

		Inh	Senaration Sample	
	Employed	Non-Employed	Linemployed	LII-Eligible
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Health Insurance Coverage		- Marine - Carlos - C		
Mean (Private HI) Across Spell		60.7	59.0	60.6
Private HI	90.2	72.8	71.8	75.8
Private HI in Own Name	81.8	61.1	60.2	62.6
Public HI	0.9	3.2	3.1	2.6
Employer-Provided HI	77.2	54.9	54.4	57.0
Demographics				
Age	39.3	38.2	38.2	38.3
Married	81.7	73.2	74.6	74.9
Working Spouse	57.2	48.4	48.6	48.7
Non-White	15.8	22.1	22.4	21.7
Number of Children	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.1
Education: Less than HS	7.6	15.4	16.8	16.3
Education: HS Graduate	29.9	36.2	38.4	38.4
Education: Some College	27.1	26.0	25.8	26.2
Education: 4+ Years of College	35.3	22.4	19.0	19.2
Annual Earnings	\$29,767	\$20,046	\$19,326	\$20,572
Median Annual Earnings	\$25,396	\$16,549	\$16,279	\$17,338
Completed Spell Durations (Weeks)				
Duration		17.0	14.6	14.4
Median Duration		10.0	9.0	8.0
UI Benefits				
UI Replacement Rate				50.1
Real WBA				\$172
Spells	72,965	15,876	10,280	7,669

	Table 1
Summary Statistics	Across Samples of Interest

Table entries are mean values unless noted otherwise. Statistics are based upon the wave prior to separation unless noted otherwise, with exception of the employed sample, for which values are based upon the first wave in which the individual establishes sufficient earnings history to impute earnings. Data are drawn from the 1990, 1991, 1992, 1993, 1996, and 2001 SIPP panels. Left-censored spells of non-employment and unemployment (in-progress at the start of the panel), are excluded. UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. UI replacement rate is constructed as the eligible weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-separation wage. Duration is defined as weeks elapsed from end of last job to start of next job and does not adjust for right-censoring (spells in-progress at the end of the panel). All monetary values are in real 1990 values.

	Experi	lence	Evnerience	UI-Fligible	Experi	ience	Employ	ed and
Population	Unomple	ovment	Unempl	wment	Non-Emn	lovment	Non-Em	ploved
Moon Dopondent	731	731	737	.737	.746	.746	.887	.887
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Unemployed	- 1895***	- 1610***	- 1913***	- 1611***	1706***	1444***	1857***	1478***
onemployed	( 0066)	(0018)	(0070)	(.0018)	(.0054)	(.0014)	(.0062)	(.0009)
Ago 20 24	0102**	(.0010)	0093**		0088**		.0063***	
Age 30-34	(0043)		(0042)		(.0037)		(.0014)	
Ago 25-29	(.0045)		0093*		0114***		.0102***	
Age 33-35	( 0049)		(0050)		(0033)		(.0019)	
Ago 40-44	(.0045)		0150**		0161***		.0111***	
Age 40-44	.0133		( 0066)		(0052)		(.0024)	
Acc 15 10	(.0004)	_	0000		0111**		0098***	
AB6 42-43	(0055)		( 0057)		(0051)		(0019)	
	(.005)		(.0037)		0784***		0164***	
Age 50-54	.0221		.0222		.0204		.0104	
NI . AA/I %	(.0000)		(.0050)		(.0031)		01/12***	
Non-white	0231		0250***		0520		( 0019)	
	(.0047)		(.0048)		(.0048)		(.0013)	
Married	.0238***	0055	.0238***	.0010	.0304	.0033	.0056	.0020
	(.0072)	(.0097)	(.0078)	(.0099)	(.0056)	(.0074)	(.0027)	(.0023)
Spouse Works	.0697***	.0404***	.0693***	.0408***	.0658***	.0331***	.0256***	.0162***
	(.0047)	(.0027)	(.0049)	(.0028)	(.0036)	(.0022)	(.0023)	(.0007)
Kids: 1	0054		0040		0044		002/**	
	(.0044)		(.0045)		(.0048)		(.0012)	
Kids: 2	0166***		0156***		0136***		0054***	
	(.0042)		(.0044)		(.0039)		(.0010)	
Kids: 3	0318***		0303***		0298***		0107***	
	(.0052)		(.0054)		(.0047)		(.0016)	
Kids: 4+	0531***		0520***		0507***		0218***	
	(.0083)		(.0085)		(.0079)		(.0028)	
HS Graduate	.0267***		.0274***		.0314***		.0260***	
	(.0056)		(.0061)		(.0063)		(.0039)	
Some College	.0364***		.0362***		.0450***		.0333***	
	(.0063)		(.0067)		(.0059)		(.0044)	
College Graduate	.0593***		.0592***		.0699***		.0394***	
	(.0075)		(.0079)		(.0073)		(.0043)	
Prior Private HI	.6411***		.6394***		.6323***		.7073***	
	(.0073)		(.0072)		(.0066)		(.0058)	
Wage Splines	х	Х	х	Х	х	Х	х	х
Year/Month Fixed Effects	х	Х	х	Х	х	Х	х	х
State Fixed Effects	х		х		x		х	
Occupation/Industry Effects	х		x		х		х	
Individual Fixed Effects		х		х		х		х
Observations	163,918	163,918	154,502	154,502	248,082	248,082	973,714	973,714

 Table 2

 Effect of Unemployment on Private Health Insurance Coverage

The dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). Observations are person-month level. Sample restrictions for each specification are detailed in Section 4 and Section 5. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001. Omitted categories: Age 25-29, White, No Kids, Unmarried, Non-Working Spouse, Less than HS.

	Evalu	ating Duration De	ependence			
	Experience U	nemployment	Completed	Duration of	Unemploymer	nt Spell
	Observables	Individual FE	<1 Month	1-3 Months	4-6 Months	7-12 Months
Mean Dependent	.731	.731	.664	.631	.594	.475
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
12 Months Before	.0011	.0121***	.0387**	.0005	.0250	.0331
	(.0028)	(.0035)	(.0166)	(.0157)	(.0150)	(.0257)
11 Months Before	0008	.0069*	.0082	0265	0137	.0238
	(.0040)	(.0042)	(.0196)	(.0193)	(.0172)	(.0323)
10 Months Before	.0027	.0108***	.0319*	0285	0126	.0436
	(.0038)	(.0040)	(.0193)	(.0187)	(.0171)	(.0304)
9 Months Before	.0013	.0101**	.0359*	0258	0135	.0082
	(.0043)	(.0042)	(.0185)	(.0179)	(.0167)	(.0297)
8 Months Before	0001	.0101***	.0610***	0360**	.0038	.0086
	(.0035)	(.0037)	(.0182)	(.0171)	(.0163)	(.0262)
7 Months Before	0009	.0089**	.0436**	0191	.0102	0133
	(.0042)	(.0036)	(.0171)	(.0166)	(.0155)	(.0256)
6 Months Before	0001	.0094***	.0324**	0101	.0201	0279
	(.0029)	(.0030)	(.0149)	(.0134)	(.0142)	(.0223)
5 Months Before	.0011	.0102***	.0410**	0041	.0292**	0272
	(.0032)	(.0034)	0.0161	(.0153)	(.0146)	(.0250)
4 Months Before	0076**	.0029	.0419***	.0027	.0241*	0432**
	(.0036)	(.0032)	(.0149)	(.0142)	(.0130)	(.0214)
3 Months Before	0186***	0081**	.0237	0218	.0144	0276
	(.0041)	(.0034)	(.0145)	(.0137)	(.0123)	(.0207)
2 Months Before	0301***	0194***	.0121	0303**	0129	0412**
	(.0036)	(.0030)	(.0137)	(.0132)	(.0118)	(.0195)
1 Months Before	0441***	0348***	0100	0471***	0451***	0549***
	(.0034)	(.0029)	(.0131)	(.0125)	(.0113)	(.0179)
Month of JobSeparation	1112***	1015***	0624***	1116***	1230***	1457***
	(.0045)	(.0029)	(.0210)	(.0151)	(.0127)	(.0231)
1 Month After	1766***	1656***		1303***	1439***	1516***
	(.0073)	(.0034)		(.0151)	(.0127)	(.0230)
2 Months After	2118***	1941***		1403***	1558***	1746***
	(.0069)	(.0039)		(.0162)	(.0126)	(.0230)
3 Months After	2248***	2060***			1692***	1820***
	(.0076)	(.0045)			(.0142)	(.0230)
4 Months After	2427***	2178***			1659***	1918***
	(.0104)	(.0056)			(.0164)	(.0230)
5 Months After	2582***	2297***			1792***	1976***
	(.0113)	(.0062)			(.0201)	(.0230)
6 Months After	2675***	2355***				1922***
	(.0112)	(.0070)				(.0230)
7 Months After	2790***	2458***				1955***
	(.0122)	(.0078)				(.0235)
8 Months After	2701***	2390***				1754***
	(.0126)	(.0091)				(.02483)
9 Months After	2807***	2532***				1871***
	(.0144)	(.0098)				(.0259)
10 Months After	2787***	2560***				1886***
	(.0167)	(.0106)				(.0279)
11 Months After	2560***	2409***				2032***
	(.0238)	(.0059)				(.0274)
12+ Months After	2914***	2672***				
	(.0326)	(.0149)				
Observations	163,918	163,918	16,416	21,836	30,704	20,044

Table 3

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). Observations are person-month level. The population includes individuals experiencing at least one unemployment spell. Subpopulation totals do not sum to the pooled sample as a result of category exclusion (12+ Months) and non-assignment of observations following an unemployment spell. Except for the first column, all specifications estimate the individing fixed effect model. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

	Number of	Mean Weekly Benefit	Standard Deviation	Mean Simulated	Standard Deviation	Mean Replacement	Standard	Mean of Simulated	Standard Deviation
State	Spells	Amount	of WBA	Instrument (WBA)	of SI (WBA)	Rate	Deviation of RR	Instrument (RR)	of SI (RR)
Alabama	121	126.97	29.24	127.95	4.16	46.74	17.41	42.37	2.32
Arizona	181	137.37	26.35	138.93	5.39	48.63	20.75	43.67	2.65
Arkansas	53	156.73	63.60	174.08	9.04	55.57	13.67	50.99	3.51
California	1123	152.03	49.91	151.42	9.97	44.51	18.79	44.67	3.42
Colorado	109	159.98	74.61	162.47	14.35	45.79	13.21	46.02	4.28
Connecticut	115	224.78	72.67	201.36	7.63	51.98	16.50	55.43	3.10
Delaware	31	181.14	53.35	175.03	5.29	51.71	12.75	52.41	2.44
D.C.	18	184.09	66.80	205.97	14.65	67.40	17.17	57. <b>4</b> 4	3.98
Florida	392	151.44	53.32	162.40	7.48	49.25	13.00	46.04	3.29
Georgia	200	151.91	41.16	149.36	11.33	46.91	17.21	47.35	2.92
Hawaii	7	239.39	72.50	219.88	8.30	60.69	12.04	62.60	1.88
Illinois	458	185.86	71.80	174.27	9.53	49.64	16.90	51.29	3.31
Indiana	211	153.53	43.86	150.12	28.53	43.26	19.72	45.53	6.16
Kansas	72	181.84	52.48	184.30	8.08	53.55	16.84	52.25	2.36
Kentucky	123	154.55	63.39	165.01	16.01	50.25	14.87	48.81	1.76
Louisiana	137	133.03	42.42	130.91	7.17	40.43	11.88	40.11	0.76
Maryland	125	185.49	37.90	173.25	4.72	45.21	18.17	51.51	2.11
Massachusetts	184	233.98	85.64	224.76	12.59	57.30	15.68	59.45	2.73
Minnesota	253	196.71	67.34	193.65	12.38	56.40	17.23	54.13	3.28
Mississippi	152	130.60	27.92	133.26	4.15	46.52	16.23	42.17	2.03
Missouri	254	145.18	27.96	145.90	9.35	48.22	20.28	44.84	1.99
Nebraska	48	124.35	38.13	130.47	16.97	47.60	16.56	40.76	3.19
Nevada	34	165.06	47.66	165.26	7.09	56.10	16.29	49.94	3.05
New Hampshire	48	157.01	52.90	146.85	19.26	40.82	12.68	41.93	1.77
New Jersey	298	230.25	80.41	209.69	9.71	55.48	13.49	58.77	1.10
New Mexico	24	146.48	42.10	155.45	10.37	53.42	14.10	46.68	2.69
New York	574	180.39	74.11	172.60	16.00	47.40	10.68	47.91	2.65
North Carolina	272	173.26	60.64	183.75	14.76	52.07	12.73	52.26	3.62
Ohio	480	159.64	62.19	157.18	5.06	46.61	9.08	45.17	1.04
Oklahoma	95	170.29	43.20	176.03	9.62	50.49	17.66	49.94	2.86
Oregon	132	191.00	71.18	187.99	10.48	56.02	12.88	53.90	0.87
Pennsylvania	475	221.85	72.89	215.38	8.46	59.91	17.04	57.94	2.84
Rhode Island	37	277.14	49.52	230.37	9.11	59.37	16.15	62.07	2.77
South Carolina	87	150.85	39.80	153.40	6.79	48.64	16.32	47.33	2.74
Tennessee	203	140.59	42.15	149.78	12.97	49.99	17.85	45.51	3.03
Texas	659	162.41	57.46	176.81	6.69	54.83	18.08	51.46	2.51
Utah	31	177.81	62.58	179.51	12.52	55.23	16.41	51.47	2.93
Virginia	132	149.70	40.34	149.89	10.40	47.03	17.76	48.20	5.09
Washington	241	214.23	79.26	195.49	15.93	56.54	16.78	55.79	3.97
West Virginia	118	148.25	64.24	169.20	4.75	51.54	6.58	47.73	1.05
Wisconsin	220	187.30	46.32	173.58	12.24	50.35	15.21	50.41	3.99
United States	8.527	171.61	65.86	170.07	25.89	50.11	16.79	49.24	5.81

Table 4 Unemployment Insurance Generosity by State

Spell counts indicate the number of UI-eligible unemployment spells observed within each uniquely identified state across the 1990, 1991, 1992, 1993, 1996, and 2001 SIPP panels. Eligibility includes both monetary and non-monetary components. Calculated weekly benefit amounts and replacement rates are constructed through simulation at the individual level, building upon the benefits/eligibility calculators developed in Gruber (1997) and modified by Chetty (2008). Discussion regarding construction of the simulated instruments is presented in Section 5.2. All monetary values are in real 1990 values.

		0	LS			25	SLS	
Mean Dependent	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
UI RR	2286***	.1126**	.1060**	.1345*	.4798***	.3152***	.3008***	.2714
	(.0581)	(.0530)	(.0508)	(.0727)	(.1322)	(.1110)	(.1086)	(.2374)
Prior Private HI	.5796***	.4699***	.4692***	.4593***	.6600***	.4721***	.4715***	.4583***
	(.0188)	(.0148)	(.0147)	(.0148)	(.0202)	(.0142)	(.0141)	(.0151)
Year/Month Effects	х	Х	Х	х	х	Х	Х	X
Duration Controls	х	Х	Х	х	х	х	Х	х
Wage Splines		Х	Х	х		Х	х	Х
Demographics		Х	Х	х		х	Х	х
Unemployment Rate			Х	х			Х	Х
State Effects				х				х
Observations	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208

 Table 5

 Unemployed Specification (RR)

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (2). Observations are person-month level and include only UI-eligible unemployed observations. The UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. The UI replacement rate is constructed as the individual nominal weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

			Та	ble 6					
		Un	employed Sp	ecification (V	VBA)				
		0	LS			2SLS			
Mean Dependent	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535	.535	
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
Real UI WBA/100	.1012***	.0459**	.0445**	.0587*	.0982***	.0782***	.0764***	.0837	
	(.0097)	(.0200)	(.0206)	(.0305)	(.0278)	(.0270)	(.0265)	(.0714)	
Prior Private HI	.5460***	.4680***	.4675***	.4592***	.5478***	.4676***	.4671***	.4585***	
	(.0142)	(.0145)	(.0144)	(.0146)	(.0165)	(.0141)	(.0140)	(.0145)	
Year/Month Effects	х	Х	Х	X	х	Х	Х	х	
Duration Controls	х	Х	Х	X	х	Х	Х	х	
Wage Splines		х	х	х		х	х	х	
Demographics		Х	Х	х		Х	Х	х	
Unemployment Rate			Х	х			Х	х	
State Effects				х				х	
Observations	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	30,208	

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (2). Observations are person-month level and include only UI-eligible unemployed observations. The UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. The UI web has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coeffient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on private health insurance coverage of the unemployed. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

		OLS			2SLS	
Mean Dependent	.557	.557	.557	.557	.557	.557
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
UI RR	.1121			.4341**		
	(.0756)			(.1685)		
Real UI WBA/100		.0487**		'	.0951**	
·		(.0242)			(.0393)	
Nominal UI WBA/			.0401*			.0977**
Family Premium			(.0223)			(.0473)
Prior Private HI	.5318***	.5304***	.5307***	.5352***	.5302***	.5318***
	(.0230)	(.0225)	(.0225)	(.0233)	(.0223)	(.0224)
Year/Month Effects	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Duration Controls	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Wage Splines	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Demographics	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Unemployment Rate	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
State Effects						
Observations	12,568	12,568	12,568	12,568	12,568	12,568

 Table 7

 Alternative Generosity Measure Comparison

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (2). Observations are person-month level and include only UI-eligible unemployed observations. Supplemental data from the MEPS-IC are available only for the 1996-2003 period, thus all estimation is performed with the restricted reference period. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

			Imperf	ect Controls (RR)				
		0	LS			29	SLS	
	-		Controls			Controls		
	UI-Eligible Unemployed	Employed	Always Employed	UI-Ineligible	UI-Eligible Unemployed	Employed	Always Employed	UI-Ineligible
Mean Dependent	.535	.794	.935	.407	.535	.794	.935	.407
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
UI RR	.1060**	.0135	0.0017	.0254	.3008***	.0296	00289	0398
	(.0508)	(.0130)	(.0015)	(.0842)	(.1086)	(.0310)	(.0030)	(.1634)
Prior Private HI	.4692***	.6928***	.7558***	.4394***	.4715***	.6929***	.7637***	.4378***
	(.0147)	(.0063)	(.0066)	(.0211)	(.0141)	(.0062)	(.0092)	(.0204)
Year/Month Effects	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х
Duration Controls	х			Х	х			х
Wage Splines	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Demographics	х	х	x	х	х	х	х	х
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
State Effects								
Observations	30,208	124,294	725,582	19,990	30,208	124,294	725,582	19,990

Table 8

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (2). Observations are at the person-month level. Prior Private HI refers to the individuals status in the previous wave if employed and to the wave prior to separation if unemployed or UI-ineligible. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly wages. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

			Imperfe	ct Controls (WBA	N)					
		0	LS			29	SLS			
	-		Controls		-		Controls			
Sample	UI-Eligible Unemployed	Employed	Always Employed	UI-Ineligible	UI-Eligible Unemployed	Employed	Always Employed	UI-Ineligible		
Mean Dependent	.535	.794	.935	.407	.535	.794	.935	.407		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)		
Real UI WBA/100	.0445**	.0078***	.0028**	.0080	.0764***	.0110*	.0036	0182		
	(.0206)	(.0025)	(.0011)	(.0199)	(.0265)	(.0062)	(.0022)	(.0368)		
Prior Private HI	.4675***	.6925***	.7557***	.4387***	.4671***	.6924***	.7557***	.4389***		
	(.0144)	(.0063)	(.0066)	(.0209)	(.0140)	(.0063)	(.0065)	(.0204)		
Year/Month Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	x		
Duration Controls	х			х	х			х		
Wage Splines	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		
Demographics	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		
State Effects										
Observations	30,208	124,294	725,582	19,990	30,208	124,294	725,582	19,990		

Table 9 nperfect Controls (WBA)

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (2). Observations are at the person-month level. Prior Private HI refers to the individuals status in the previous wave if employed and to the wave prior to separation if unemployed or UI-ineligible. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. The UI what has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a real \$100 increase in UI what on private health insurance coverage of the unemployed. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

		0	LS			25	LS	
Mean Dependent	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Unemployed	- 2313***	2301***	2292***	2283***	2231***	2056***	2038***	2009***
onemployed	(.0350)	(.0309)	(.0307)	(.0304)	(.0779)	(.0718)	(.0718)	(.0723)
1 JI RR	1143***	.0498***	.0468***	.0303**	.1370***	.0691*	.0623*	.0400
<b>O</b> TTIN	(.0117)	(.0134)	(.0134)	(.0151)	(.0400)	(.0362)	(.0343)	(.0900)
Unemployed*ULRR	.1084**	.0940**	.0948**	.0977**	.2226**	.2099**	.2074**	.2114*
onemployee of the	(.0464)	(.0405)	(.0403)	(.0487)	(.0919)	(.0820)	(.0821)	(.1129)
Prior Private HI	.7489***	.6799***	.6794***	.6740***	.7770***	.6730***	.6726***	.6673***
	(.0075)	(.0067)	(.0068)	(.0075)	(.0079)	(.0071)	(.0072)	(.0080)
Year/Month Effects	X	x	X	х	х	Х	х	х
Wage Splines		х	Х	Х		Х	х	х
Demographics		х	Х	х		х	х	х
Unemployment Rate			Х	х			х	х
State Effects				X				х
Observations	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502

Table 10	
Partially Interacted Specification (I	RR)

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (3). Observations are at the person-month level and include both employed and unemployed observations for individuals who experience at least one unemployment spell within the panel. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. The coefficient on the interaction term is a fairly standard difference-in-difference estimator. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.001.

	I	Partially Inte	eracted Spec	ification (WB	A)					
		0	LS		2SLS					
Mean Dependent	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743	.743		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)		
Unemployed	1837***	1711***	1706***	1713***	1724***	1700***	1688***	1655***		
	(.0123)	(.0121)	(.0121)	(.0121)	(.0340)	(.0334)	(.0332)	(.0333)		
Real UI WBA/100	.0560***	.0074	.0070	0038	.0221***	.0119	.0114	0162		
,	(.0052)	(.0048)	(.0050)	(.0054)	(.0060)	(.0073)	(.0071)	(.0266)		
Unemployed*Real UI WBA/100	.0498***	.0338***	.0329***	.0336***	.0626**	.0583**	.0578**	.0546***		
C	(.0089)	(.0083)	(.0083)	(.0086)	(.0260)	(.0249)	(.0247)	(.0250)		
Prior Private HI	.7293***	.6830***	.6825***	.6774***	.7489***	.6847***	.6842***	.6789***		
	(.0067)	(.0064)	(.0064)	(.0070)	(.0088)	(.0074)	(.0075)	(.0080)		
Year/Month Effects	x	Х	х	х	х	Х	Х	Х		
Wage Splines		х	х	х		Х	х	Х		
Demographics		х	х	х		Х	Х	Х		
Unemployment Rate			X	х			Х	Х		
State Effects				x				x		
Observations	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502	154,502		

Table 11

Dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (3). Observations are at the person-month level and include both employed and unemployed observations for individuals who experience at least one unemployment spell within the panel. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollards and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient on the interaction term corresponds to the effect of a real \$100 increase in wba on private health insurance coverage of the unemployed relative to the employed. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

			Collapsed	Specification						
		0	LS		2SLS					
	Baseline	Collapsed	Baseline	Collapsed	Baseline	Collapsed	Baseline	Collapsed		
Mean Dependent	.535	.606	.535	.606	.535	.606	.535	.606		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)		
UI RR	.1060**	.0693**			.3008***	.2206***				
	(.0508)	(.0318)			(.1086)	(.0778)				
UI Real WBA/100			.0445**	.0273**			.0764***	.0553***		
			(.0206)	(.0132)			(.0265)	(.0166)		
Lagged Private HI	.4692***	.5629***	.4675***	.5617***	.4715***	.5637***	.4671***	.5608***		
	(.0147)	(.0163)	(.0144)	(.0161)	(.0141)	(.0154)	(.0140)	(.0156)		
Year/Month Effects	X	Х	X	х	х	Х	X	x		
Duration Controls	х	х	Х	х	х	х	Х	х		
Wage Splines	х	Х	X	х	х	Х	Х	х		
Demographics	х	Х	Х	х	х	х	х	х		
Unemployment Rate	х	Х	Х	х	х	Х	х	х		
State Effects										
Observations	30,208	7,669	30,208	7,669	30,208	7,669	30,208	7,669		

Та	ble	12	
hazaello	Sni	acific	atio

Under collapsed specifications, the dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (4). Observations are person-spell level. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the individual's number of spells, such that an individual's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on average private health insurance coverage of the unemployed. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\* 0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

		Ne	t Liquid Wealth Qu	artile	
Sample	Pooled	1	2	3	4
Net Liquid Wealth Range		<(\$1510)	(\$1510)-\$174	\$175-\$10,199	>\$10,199
Health Insurance Coverage					
Mean (Private HI) Across Spell	62.5	61.5	39.0	69.0	80.4
Private HI	76.9	74.0	51.6	79.9	90.1
Private HI in Own Name	61.8	61.1	45.7	65.5	74.4
Public HI	3.0	2.5	7.2	2.0	0.4
Employer-Provided HI Before Job Loss	55.6	54.8	42.3	58.7	66.2
Demographics					
Age	38.6	37.5	37.5	37.9	41.5
Married	74.7	82.0	71.0	71.4	74.6
Working Spouse	49.8	54.2	37.7	50.0	57.2
Non-White	22.3	22.7	36.5	20.8	9.3
Number of Children	1.1	1.3	1.3	1.0	0.9
Education: Less than HS	15.3	13.9	29.2	12.9	5.6
Education: HS Graduate	36.6	37.7	40.3	39.8	28.5
Education: Some College	27.8	30.5	25.1	28.5	26.9
Education: 4+ Years of College	20.3	17.9	5.5	18.9	38.9
Annual Earnings	\$20,544	\$18,841	\$14,184	\$21,095	\$28,059
Median Annual Earnings	\$17,268	\$16,881	\$12,458	\$18,619	\$24,292
Completed Spell Durations (Weeks)					
Duration	13.0	12.2	14.4	12.6	14.0
Median Duration	8.0	7.0	9.0	8.0	9.0
UI Benefits					
UI Replacement Rate	52.0	52.1	53.7	51.0	46.1
Real WBA	\$177	\$175	\$146	\$183	\$203
Assets					
Net Liquid Wealth	\$19,450	-\$11,824	-\$291	\$3,163	\$86,792
Median Net Liquid Wealth	\$175	-\$5,394	\$0	\$2,339	\$38,268
Liquid Wealth	\$24,313	\$1,899	\$409	\$4,832	\$90,146
Median Liquid Wealth	\$1,637	\$422	\$0	\$3,579	\$41,685
Unsecured Debt	\$4,862	\$13,723	\$700	\$1,669	\$3,353
Median Unsecured Debt	\$1,090	\$6,923	\$80	\$250	\$827
Home Equity	\$29,441	\$19,838	\$13,124	\$26,616	\$58,195
Median Home Equity	\$8,190	\$2,424	\$0	\$10,674	\$41,827
Mortgage Indicator	50.0	47.5	33.3	50.1	67.7 ·
Renter Indicator	33.8	38.3	50.2	33.1	13.6
Spells	4,258	1,065	1,065	1,064	1,064

**Table 13** ummary Statistics by Net Liquid Wealth Quartii

Table entries are means unless otherwise noted. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. Unemployment duration is defined as time elapsed from end of last job to start of next job and does not adjust for right-censoring. Asset and liability data is collected once per panel prior to the 1996 panel, twice per panel thereafter. Eligible unemployment spells without sufficient asset data are excluded, including spells for which asset data are observed following a job separation. This restriction excludes approximately 50 percent of the UI-eligible sample. Liquid wealth is defined as total household wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Net liquid wealth is defined as liquid wealth minus unsecured debt. All monetary values are in real 1990 dollars.

		Tietero,	Beneous En	eet by Housen						
			I	lousehold Net	t Liquid Weal	th				
		Below	Median			Above Median				
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS		
Mean Dependent	50.3	50.3	50.3	50.3	74.7	74.7	74.7	74.7		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)		
UI RR	.1262**	.2261**			0409	.0619		<u> </u>		
	(.0607)	(.1098)			(.0882)	(.1229)				
UI WBA			.0541**	.0891***			.0127	.0190		
			(.0239)	(.0341)			(.0227)	(.0339)		
Prior Private HI	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	х	`х ́	X		
Year/Month Effects	х	Х	Х	х	х	х	х	х		
Duration Controls	х	X	Х	х	х	х	х	X		
Wage Splines	х	Х	Х	х	х	Х	х	x		
Demographics	х	Х	Х	х	х	х	Х	х		
Unemployment Rate	х	Х	х	х	х	х	x	X		
Observations	2,130	2,130	2,130	2,130	2,128	2,128	2,128	2.128		

 Table 14

 Heterogeneous Effect by Household NLW

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (4). Observations are at the individual-spell level. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the individual's number of spells, such that an individual's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on private health insurance coverage of the unemployed. Liquid wealth is defined as total household wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Net liquid wealth is defined as liquid wealth minus unsecured debt. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

					Het	terogeneous	Effect Acros	s Net Liquid	Nealth Quart	iles						
							House	ehold Net Liq	uid Wealth Qu	uartile						
		Q	1			a	2			Q	13			Q	4	
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS
Mean Dependent	61.5	61.5	61.5	61.5	39.0	39.0	39.0	39.0	69.0	69.0	69.0	69.0	80.4	80.4	80.4	80.4
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)
UI RR	.1547*	.3809**			0.0834	.1057			.0085	.0477			1811	.0029		
	(.0806)	(.1871)			(.0678)	(.1924)			(.1330)	(.2221)			(.1044)	(.1727)		
UI WBA	'	· /	.0754**	.1149**			.0279	.0724			.0105	.0262			.0041	.0185
			(.0287)	(.0450)			(.0345)	(.0507)			(.0322)	(.0579)			(.0228)	(.0285)
Wage Splines	х	х	x	x	х	х	х	x	х	Х	х	х	x	х	х	Х
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	х	Х	х	х	х	х	х	X
Employed HI Control	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	х	Х	х	х	x	х	Х	х
Duration Controls	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	x	х	Х	х
Demographics	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	Х	Х	` X	х	х	Х	Х
Year Effects	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	Х	Х	х	x	х	Х	Х
State Effects																
Observations	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,064	1,064	1,064	1,064	1,064	1,064	1,064	1,064

Table 15

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (4). Observations are at the individual-spell level. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the individual's number of spells, such that an individual's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coeffient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on private health insurance coverage of the unemployed. Liquid wealth is defined as total household wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Net liquid wealth is defined as liquid wealth minus unsecured debt. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.051.

		Household Gross Liquid Wealth											
		Below	Median										
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS					
Mean Dependent	47.2	47.2	47.2	47.2	77.8	77.8	77.8	77.8					
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)					
UI RR	.1787**	.2769**			0223	.0720							
	(.0696)	(.1190)			(.0797)	(.1283)							
UI WBA			.0658**	.0872***			.0176	.0182					
			(.0271)	(.0327)			(.0184)	(.0255)					
Prior Private HI	х	X	х	х	Х	х	Х	х					
Year/Month Effects	х	х	х	х	Х	х	Х	Х					
Duration Controls	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х					
Wage Splines	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х					
Demographics	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х					
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х	x	х	х	х					
Observations	2,129	2,129	2,129	2,129	2,129	2,129	2,129	2,129					

	Table 16	5	
Heterogeneous	Effect by	Household	GLW

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (4). Observations are at the individual-spell level. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the individual's number of spells, such that an individual's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coeffient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on private health insurance coverage of the unemployed. Liquid wealth is defined as total household wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

	n	eterogeneo	us chect by	nousenoiu ivi	origage Statt	15		
			Household I	Mortgage Stat	tus at Point o	f Separation		
		Mor	tgage			No Mo	ortgage	
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS
Mean Dependent	72.6	72.6	72.6	72.6	52.4	52.4	52.4	52.4
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
UI RR	.0905*	.2919***			.0404	.1359		
	(.0502)	(.0861)			(.0627)	(.1988)		
UI WBA			.0461***	.0597***			.0100	.0210
			(.0126)	(.0167)			(.0340)	(.0459)
Wage Splines	х	Х	Х	х	х	х	х	х
Unemployment Rate	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Employed HI Control	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х
Duration Controls	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х
Demographics	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Year Effects	x	х	х	х	X	х	х	х
Observations	2.132	2.132	2.132	2.132	2.126	2.126	2.126	2.126

 Table 17

 Heterogeneous Effect by Household Mortgage Status

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (4). Observations are at the individual-spell level. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the individual's number of spells, such that an individual's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on private health insurance coverage of the unemployed. Mortgage proxy indicates household status at the point of separation. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

# Chapter 2

# Maintaining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of Continuation of Coverage Mandates

# 2.1 Motivation

In 2008, more than 88 percent of private health insurance coverage was acquired through the workplace (DeNavas-Walt et al. 2009). Limited health insurance portability across employment status in the US health insurance market typically entails a loss of access to group insurance markets associated with job separation. The policy response to shortfalls in insurance coverage across employment status has been to enact continuation of coverage mandates. Uniform coverage was implemented under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA), which allows job separators to continue their employer-sponsored coverage for up to 18 months.<sup>1</sup> Workers who take-up these continuation benefits are required to pay the full employer premium as well as a small administrative surcharge. Yet while employed, workers insured through employer-sponsored coverage typically directly pay only 16 percent of the cost of their individual coverage and 27 percent of the cost of family coverage while employed (Claxton et al. 2008). In 2009, the full annual cost of employer-sponsored health insurance averaged \$4,824 for an individual policy and \$13,375 for a family policy (KFF 2009a). For the unemployed, this cost is incurred during a period of low transitory income, suggesting a plausibly important role for liquidity constraints in limiting take-up of continuation benefits for households with insufficient assets to self-finance the unemployment spell and limited access

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>COBRA is phased-in over the July 1986 - June 1987 period, at the start of the employer's next benefit year.

to credit markets. A recent Kaiser Family Foundation (2009b) survey found that 59 percent of adults with employer-sponsored coverage would find it very difficult to pay the full cost of their premiums if they were no longer employed.

This paper incorporates Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) panels spanning the reference period 1983-2003 and evaluates the effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates in mitigating the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment. Through simulation of eligible state unemployment insurance (UI) benefits, I investigate excess sensitivity of implied take-up of continuation benefits to cash-in-hand. The effect of mandate eligibility is identified primarily through heterogenous implementation of the federal mandate given preexisting state mandates.<sup>2</sup> A related analysis from Gruber and Madrian (1997) finds limited effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates in maintaining private coverage for the sample of all non-employment spells, without direct application to unemployment or interactions with UI benefits. This paper, then, is able to answer a number of questions of interest related to the effectiveness of continuation mandates and specifically the heterogeneous response by cash-in-hand.

First, how effective are state continuation of coverage mandates in mitigating the fall in private coverage for the unemployed? I evaluate the effect of mandated eligibility on the probability that an eligible individual reports private coverage across an unemployment spell, identified by changes in state mandates over time. Although eligibility is nearly universal following the phase-in of COBRA, the impact of the federal mandate is heterogeneous across states due to pre-existing state mandates.<sup>3</sup> I find that eligibility for 12 months of continuation benefits increases the probability that an unemployed individual with previous employer-sponsored coverage reports private coverage by 7.2 percentage points. To scale this result, I estimate the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment as varies across continuation of coverage eligibility. These results suggest that mandate eligibility, despite the high cost of continuation coverage relative to transitory income, mitigates the fall in private coverage by approximately 18 percent.

A series of robustness checks follows. I consider potential sample selection bias resulting from endogeneity of pre-separation health coverage to mandate eligibility and find trivial implications. Further, I construct a falsification test incorporating an early phase-in of COBRA to test for heterogeneous underlying state trends. These results validate the baseline empirical approach. I also consider contemporaneous effects of unobserved state action by analyzing a sample of unemployed with private, non-employer health coverage prior to separation. This control group exhibits modest sensitivity to state-year variation in mandate eligibility, again

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Additionally, there are a number of states that either implement continuation of coverage mandates or extend the eligible months under pre-existing mandates relative to the start of the reference period. Reference Table 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Identification is similar to the approach of Card and Krueger (2000), where implementation of a federal minimum wage is binding only for states with a lower pre-existing minum wage.

validating the baseline empirical approach.

Second, is the responsiveness to mandate eligibility heterogeneously distributed across subpopulations? I consider stratifications by household composition, specifically single workers, workers married to employed spouses, and workers married to non-employed spouses. I find a responsiveness range associated with 12 months of mandate eligibility in terms of increased private coverage that varies from 4.2 percentage points for workers married to working spouses to 15.1 percentage points for workers married to non-employed spouses. Presumably, these heterogeneous responses are driven, at least in part, by varying outside options available to the household. Alternatively, I stratify across self-reported health status prior to separation, given heterogeneous costs of, or even access to, non-group private coverage. I find that unemployed classified in the worst health categories are almost three times as responsive to 12 months of mandate eligibility relative to unemployed classified in the best health categories, and that results are monotonic increasing in terms of health deterioration.

Third, to what extent does the effectiveness of mandate eligibility vary with state UI generosity? This presumably reflects the extent to which responsiveness to mandate eligibility is affected by cash-in-hand. Given endogeneity concerns regarding the predicted eligible UI benefits, I employ a simulated instruments approach. Absent state UI, mandate eligibility is estimated to increase private coverage by only 2.4 percentage points amongst unemployed workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation. By comparison, evaluated at the sample average eligible weekly UI benefits, mandate eligibility is estimated to increase maintenance of private coverage by 21.3 percentage points. Thus, continuation of coverage mandates are most effective when the unemployed worker has sufficient transitory income, as provided through UI benefits, suggesting an important role of liquidity constraints in explaining observed take-up rates.<sup>4</sup>

The rest of the paper proceeds as follows. A brief review of the existing literature is discussed in the next section. Section 2.3 details the data and core sample selection criteria. Section 2.4 evaluates the effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates in mitigating the fall in private coverage for the unemployed. Section 2.5 incorporates a measure of individual eligible UI benefits and implements a simulated instruments approach to estimate the heterogeneous effect of mandates eligibility across UI benefit levels. The last section concludes.

# 2.2 A Brief Literature Perspective

Health Insurance Coverage and Unemployment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Investigating the role of liquidity constraints would be a valuable addition to the analysis. Yet, household asset data as might substantiate such an analysis are sporadically collected throughout the period preceding COBRA implementation, rendering such analysis infeasible.

The US health insurance market is distinguished by the relationship between employment and access to group insurance markets. Approximately 88 percent of private health insurance coverage was acquired through the workplace in 2008 (DeNavas-Walt et al. 2009). As a result, health insurance coverage is limited in terms of mobility across employment status. Modeling underlying preference heterogeneity, Gruber and Madrian (1997) find that the likelihood of insurance coverage drops by roughly 20 percentage points following a job separation, evaluated over the 1983-1989 period.<sup>5</sup> More recently, Brown (2010) documents a 19 percentage points fall in private coverage amongst the unemployed across the 1990-2003 period. Shortfalls in insurance coverage across employment status is a persistent issue, and one that affects the more than 14.6 million unemployed persons and their families in the United States (BLS 2010), 45.5 percent of which are long-term unemployed, those jobless for 27 or more weeks.

### Costs of Short-Term Uninsurance

Although insurance is not a direct measure of consumption, there is evidence to suggest that smoothing insurance coverage across employment status may proxy for smoothing medical care consumption. Adults and children uninsured for less than one year are less likely to receive recommended screenings and are more likely to have gone without a needed physician visit due to cost relative to the insured (Ayanian et al. 2000, Olson et al. 2005). Only emergency departments are required by federal law to stabilize all individuals irrespective of ability to pay, though the uninsured may be denied follow-up care for even urgent medical conditions if unable to pay in full. Health providers are not required to provide care to the uninsured, restricting access to needed care. Further, the uninsured are typically billed for any care received and often face higher charges than the insured (Asplin et al. 2005). By forgoing care to avoid medical debt, the uninsured may worsen health problems (Schwartz 2007), heightening the difficulty of re-securing employment. To the extent that health care consumption is not perfectly substitutable over time, and to the extent that pre-existing conditions preclude individuals from later obtaining coverage for necessary medical care, even relatively short spells of uninsurance may have potentially serious welfare costs.

#### Continuation of Coverage Mandates

Although the literature suggests a potentially large role for continuation of coverage mandates in reducing the prevalence of uninsurance amongst the unemployed, existing work concerning the role of continuation mandates in decreasing uninsurance (Klerman and Rahmna 1992, Gruber and Madrian 1997) has found only modest effects.<sup>6</sup> Considering the substantial effective subsidization of the cost of insurance relative to the non-group market, these results imply a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Previous work is conflicting. Some evidence (Monheit et al. 1984, Klerman and Rahmna 1992) suggests that low rates of insurance coverage amongst the unemployed is largely explained by a lack of coverage while on the previous job. This evidence contrasts with other studies (Berki et al. 1985, Podgursky and Swaim 1987, Bazzoli 1986), which report large declines in insurance coverage following job loss.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>A more substantial literature has considered the issue of 'job lock' and the implied fluidity of the U.S. labor market. If job leaving is associated with loss of health coverage, then a worker who might otherwise optimally drop out of the labor force or seek new employment might be locked into a suboptimal job to retain coverage
small price elasticity of insurance. Yet, these studies have ignored the potential importance of liquidity constraints in explaining the low implied take-up of continuation benefits.

This paper broadly re-considers existing evidence regarding the limited effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates in terms of mitigating the fall in private coverage associate with unemployment by considering interaction of mandate eligibility with cash-in-hand through state UI benefits. Plausibly, continuation of coverage mandates are of limited effectiveness absent sufficient transitory income to purchase continuation coverage in the presence of potential credit constraints or consumption commitments.

## 2.3 Data

I use data from the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) panels spanning the reference period October 1983 - December 2003.<sup>7</sup> Each SIPP panel surveys a national set of households at four month intervals (waves) for  $2\frac{1}{2}$ -4 years, with sample sizes ranging from approximately 14,000 to 36,700 interviewed households.<sup>8</sup> At each interview, households are asked questions in reference to the four month recall period. Data are collected regarding health insurance coverage, income and labor force participation, as well as a wide array of socioeconomic characteristics of each household member and of the household as a whole. The SIPP provides monthly data on income and health insurance coverage and weekly data on labor force status. Relative to other widely used data, such as the CPS and PSID, the advantages of the SIPP are the availability of high-frequency data on individual and household income, employment status, detailed health insurance coverage, and UI benefit receipt. Deliberate over-sampling of the low-income population provides a suitably large sample of unemployment spells. I supplement the SIPP with monthly national price indices and seasonally adjusted monthly state unemployment rates as reported by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Starting from the universe of job separations in the pooled SIPP panels, I retain spells of unemployment, defined as spells following a job separation during which individuals are either on layoff or are searching for a new job. Observations are not conditioned on duration.<sup>9</sup> As labor

by an employer's group plan. Gruber and Madrian (1994, 1997) provide evidence that continuation of coverage mandates reduce 'job lock', largely through effective subsidization of transitions to non-employment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>US Census Bureau. Survey of Income and Program Participation Users' Guide. http://www.census.gov/sipp/usrguide.html (Accessed September 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The length of observation varies across panels. The 1984 panel contains 9 waves. The 1985 panel contains 8 waves. The 1986 and 1987 panels contain 7 waves. The 1988 panel contains 6 waves. The 1990 and 1991 panels contain 8 waves. The 1992 and 1993 panels contain 9 waves. The 1996 panel contains 12 waves. The 2001 panel contains 9 waves. Owing to the overlapping design of the survey, observations are continuous across the reference period, excepting for January 1990, due to the incomplete nature of the omitted 1989 panel, and March – September 2000, where a minor interruption arose over a funding shortfall and the subsequent cancellation of the in-progress 2000 panel, which was re-started as the 2001 panel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>As spells of less than 1 month may be false transition in the SIPP and given that inference of health insurance coverage, measured at the monthly level, is perhaps inconsistently reported across individuals, I

force nonparticipation amongst this sample is often disguised long-term unemployment (Clark and Summers, 1979), I do not exclude observations for workers who drop out of the labor force at some point during an unemployment spell. I measure the duration of a spell as consisting of all weeks of separation from work. For those who have some weeks of unemployment (either search or layoff), 17.3 percent of their spells are weeks out of the labor force. Spells begin with the initial month of separation and end with the first full month of re-employment.<sup>10</sup>

I restrict attention to prime-age males, 25-54 years old, thus focusing on job-separators who have a high rate of attachment to the labor force. I include only unemployment spells for which I observe at least one quarter of employment experience prior to separation.<sup>11</sup> This allows for the accurate measurement of non-employment spell duration, as well as characteristics of pre-separation jobs, most importantly imputation of pre-separation wages and pre-separation health insurance coverage.

The resulting left-censoring for unemployment spells in-progress at the start of the respective SIPP panel disproportionately omits the long-term unemployed, potentially skewing the composition of remaining spells.<sup>12</sup> For prime-age males, the above selection rule excludes only approximately 12 percent of the sample, whereas for women and younger/older men, the share of separations excluded would be approximately 52 percent. Thus, for prime-age males, this selection rule is less prohibitive in terms of generalization. This restriction also limits the impact of schooling and early retirement decisions, as well as childcare decisions, on the resulting pool of job separations.<sup>13</sup> If married, I restrict to households where both the husband and wife are 25-54 years old due to inter-dependence of health insurance decisions within the household.

A job separation is excluded if prior work history appears to make the worker ineligible for UI, as discussed at length within Section 2.5 below. I restrict to spells in which the individual reports looking for work in at least some months in order to focus on unemployment and not strictly labor force leavings. However, while UI eligibility requires continuing demonstration of labor force attachment, in specifications reported below, observations are included if individuals report stopping search effort.

consider exclusions of spells of less than 1 month from the analysis. Results are robust to exclusion. These spells are included in baseline specifications to maintain focus on the representative spell.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Alternatively, in results not reported, I exclude the initial month of separation due to ambiguity of health insurance coverage reporting in a transitional month. Results are largely consistent. In results below, I include the initial month of separation as a non-trivial fraction (22.7 percent) of spells are reported to last less than four weeks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>This exclusion eliminates all monthly observations for individuals who never work in three consecutive months, as well as the initial months of observation for workers whose first three months of work occurs later in the panel.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ To the extent that continuation of coverage mandates incentivize longer unemployment spell durations, then spells of unemployment for particularly responsive individuals are less likely to be included in the sample. Given that the duration response is only relevant conditional upon take-up of continuation benefits, this potentially biases downward the estimated effect of mandate eligibility. Discussion of the 'dynamic sample-selection' bias is detailed in Diamond and Hausman (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Early retirement decisions would be particularly problematic for the analysis. A review of endogoneity of the retirement decision to continuation of coverage mandates is contained within Gruber and Madrian (2004).

Individuals from small states are excluded as the SIPP clusters these states, citing confidentiality concerns, preventing the assignment of relevant state mandates and imputation of eligible UI benefits for these individuals.<sup>14</sup>. I further exclude separations for which I have missing individual or job characteristics or missing basic health insurance coverage. These restrictions leave 11,095 unemployment spells, of which 6,301 spells report employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation and constitute the core sample. 5,820 spells are mandate-eligible and 481 spells are mandate-ineligible for either state or federal continuation of coverage protection as detailed in Section 2.4.

#### Health Insurance Coverage

Health insurance coverage is a monthly measure, and I differentiate private, public, and uninsured coverage status. Private insurance is defined as any health insurance coverage other than Medicare or Medicaid and includes employer-sponsored coverage, continuation coverage, spousal coverage, and non-group coverage. Once per wave, the detailed source of an individual's health insurance coverage is revealed along a number of dimensions: whether the insurance is in the individual's name or some other family member's name, and whether the policy is sponsored by an employer/union or acquired in a non-group setting. In the analysis to follow, the basic monthly source of coverage is considered for accuracy, though this will mask potential transitions from employer-sponsored coverage to spousal coverage or non-group coverage.<sup>15</sup> As I am unable to observe generosity of insurance coverage, I cannot distinguish underinsurance.<sup>16</sup>

#### Seam Bias

As individuals are required to recall information from the preceding four months of the reference period for each wave, it is unclear how much unique information is contained in monthly responses. Individuals have a tendency to propagate their status at the point of the interview backwards through the preceding months.<sup>17</sup> A disproportionately large number of labor force transitions are reported on the 'seam' between interviews, leading to artificial spikes in the hazard rate. This bias extends to transitions in insurance coverage (Klerman and Rahman 1992). In this context, seam bias will produce false classifications of labor participation, blurring the distinction between the employed and unemployed, and between insured and uninsured.<sup>18</sup> Thus I draw information on prior employed health insurance coverage from the wave preceding

<sup>17</sup>This issue is evident in Figure 2. See Klerman (1991) for a detailed discussion of the seam bias problem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>These states are Alaska, Idaho, Iowa, Maine, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, Vermont, and Wyoming. West Virginia separations are additionally excluded prior to completed COBRA implementation as the state mandate could not be decisively dated by Gruber and Madrian (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>I code individuals as covered by employer-provided health insurance coverage prior to separation based on whether or not they report such coverage in the wave preceding separation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>As continuation of coverage mandates presumably operate through the purchase of eligible group insurance, the results to follow may then underestimate the true impact of continuation of coverage mandates, as I am unable to differentiate the crowd-out of underinsurance in the non-group market with more comprehensive group market coverage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Results are re-considered using only the fourth reference month just prior to the interview in the unobserved fifth month. Although point estimates are largely comparable, statistical imprecision impedes inference. An alternative would be the use of wavely observations. However, as spell of unemployment are often less that four

the job separation. Of course, coverage may still drop off with artificial abruptness following a separation and short spells of uninsurance may be underreported.

# 2.4 Continuation of Coverage Mandates

Insurance coverage shortfalls resulting from loss of employer-sponsored insurance have prompted continuation of coverage mandates as a policy response to limited portability of private insurance coverage. Common to these mandates are the requirement that the employer's group health insurance provider offer separating employees the option to continue health coverage through the employer's plan for some limited duration. These mandates effectively reduce the cost of insurance to job leavers relative to the non-group insurance market.<sup>19</sup> Beginning with Minnesota implementation in 1974, a total of 27 states had created a patchwork of mandate eligibility prior to the phase-in of uniform worker protections under COBRA at a national level starting in July 1986.

A summary of legislative changes at the state and federal level as adapted from Gruber and Madrian (1997) are presented in Table  $1.^{20}$  A graphical representation of the distribution of state mandates at the start of the reference period and prior to COBRA implementation is presented in Figure 1. At the start of the reference period, 18 states had continuation of coverage mandates in-place, though it is important to note that eligible durations vary substantially, from 1 month in Oklahoma to 18 months in Wisconsin. Prior to federal implementation of COBRA in 1986, an additional 9 states implemented new protections for workers and 1 state increased the number of eligible months, bringing the total number of pre-existing state mandates to  $27.^{21}$  Uniform protection under COBRA is phased-in starting July 1986, with firms required to offer continuation benefits starting with the next plan year. Absent information regarding the firm-specific phase-in of the federal mandate, I phase-in this eligibility by 1.5 months for each month over the July 1986 - June 1987 period, to the legislative maximum of 18 months.<sup>22</sup>

months in duration, this would exclude a large fraction of spells and shift emphasis away from the representative spell.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>As the premium is not directly subsidized, it is unclear the extent to which adverse selection in the continuation coverage take-up decision may generate costs for the employer and remaining employees in terms of higher future premiums.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>State laws come from Hewitt (1985), Thompson Publishing Group (1992) and cross-checked against state statues as cited in Gruber and Madrian (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Given the restriction to spells of unemployment for which the individual is actively looking for work, the focus is presumably upon involuntary separations. As a result, I incorporate all state mandates, irrespective of eligibility restriction to involuntary separations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>An alternative approach, as taken by Klerman (1991) and Gruber and Madrian (1997) is to assign the full 18 months of coverage in January 1987, under assumption that the majority of plan years start in January. Results presented below are largely robust to this alternative implementation of COBRA.

## 2.4.1 Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics across populations of interest are presented in Table 2. Column (1) considers the full sample of unemployment spells without conditioning on pre-separation health insurance coverage. Approximately 56.8 percent of separations occur with employer-sponsored coverage in the worker's name prior to separation. This represents 78.2 percent of all preseparation private coverage and 91.6 percent of all pre-separation private coverage in the worker's name, consistent with the notion that the vast majority of private coverage is derived through the employer.<sup>23</sup> Comparing columns (1) and (2), however, it is apparent that workers with employer-sponsored coverage are dissimilar along some dimensions relative to the aggregate of separators. Specifically, separators with employer-sponsored coverage are more likely to be white, better educated, and report substantially higher pre-separation earnings. Yet, the populations are similar in terms of age, marital status, and spouse's work status.

Comparing separators with employer-sponsored coverage residing within states with and without state mandates prior to COBRA implementation, columns (6) and (8) respectively, reveals a distinction in average private coverage across the unemployment spell, 65.2 percent relative to 59.8 percent. Thus, for workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, state mandate-eligibility appears to mitigate the fall in private coverage by approximately 5.4 percentage points, or 13.4 percent of the raw fall in private coverage for state mandate-ineligible separators. Dissimilarly, comparing the raw fall in private coverage for the aggregate of separators across this same period reveals a relatively smaller effect of mandate eligibility, a difference of approximately 3.6 percentage points. This is consistent with the expectation that state mandates should not mitigate the fall in private coverage for workers without employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation.<sup>24</sup>

Yet, comparing the population composition across mandate eligibility suggests a few potentially confounding factors. Specifically, separators in mandate-eligible states are somewhat older, more likely to be married, to have a working spouse, and to be white, all factors associated with higher rates of private coverage (Brown 2010). Further, mandate eligible separators typically experience shorter unemployment durations. Pre-separation earnings and UI benefits, in terms of the weekly benefit amount and the earnings replacement rate, however, are largely comparable across the groups.

Although the descriptive statistics suggest a potential role for continuation of coverage mandates to mitigate the fall in private coverage across employment status, these comparisons also provide reason for pause. Even in the presence of uniform mandate eligibility under COBRA,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>These statistics do not include coverage through the spouse's employer, which effectively raises the fraction of private coverage obtained through any employer to 89.2 percent.

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$ Scaling the 5.4 percentage points increase in average private coverage across the spell for workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation by the fraction of these workers within the pool of separators suggests an aggregate effect of 3.0 percentage points owing exclusively to the effect of mandate eligibility for workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation.

only approximately 56.8 percent of unemployment spells are eligible to take-up continuation benefits, as pre-separation coverage through the employer is a necessary condition. Further, demographic distinctions between states with and without mandates in-place prior to federal COBRA implementation highlights the need to control for potentially confounding factors given population heterogeneity in the regression framework. These cross-state comparisons indicate the need to incorporate state fixed effects in the specifications to follow. Increasing average private coverage rates across unemployment spells for mandate-eligible separators over time, as illustrated in columns (4) and (6), emphasizes the need for time fixed effects to control for common trends.<sup>25</sup>

## 2.4.2 Estimating the Fall in Private Coverage

Before considering the effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandate, I first estimate the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment for workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation.<sup>26</sup> Specifically, I estimate multivariate linear probability models of the form:

$$Private_{ist} = \beta Unemployed_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(2.1)

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are personmonth level and include months unemployed as well as months employed for those who experience separation at some point within the respective panel. Only those spells with employersponsored coverage prior to separation or pre-separation employed observations for workers who experience a qualifying separation within the respective panel are included. *Private*<sub>ist</sub> is an indicator for private health insurance coverage within the month. *Unemployed*<sub>it</sub> is an indicator for whether an individual is unemployed in a given month.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual demographics and job characteristics.  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators.<sup>27</sup> Correlation in the behavior of an individual within a panel and across individuals within a state indicates that it is inappropriate to treat monthly observations on health insurance status as independent, thus standard errors are clustered to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. The coefficient  $\beta$  on the regressor of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>It is also possible that this discrepancy is in-part explained by the extension in months of coverage under COBRA relative to pre-existing state mandates. Thus, one would expect average private coverage rates to rise, ceteris paribus.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Although Brown (2010) investigates the fall in private coverage associated with unemployment, the results are not restricted to workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Individual characteristics include age bins, a marriage indicator, a spousal work status indicator, a race indicator, educational attainment bins, and bins for number of children. Characteristics of the worker's job include 10 Standard Industrial Classification System (SIC) major industry sectors indicators and 23 Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) major groups occupation indicators. Wage controls include a flexible 5-knot cubic spline in base-period wages and household annual income and 3-knot cubic splines in highest-quarter wages. Year indicators control for any national trends in health insurance coverage. Panel indicators are included given the overlapping panels design of the SIPP. State indicators control for time-invariant differences across states in health insurance coverage.

interest,  $Unemployed_{it}$ , measures the fall in private health insurance coverage resulting from unemployment. In alternative specifications, I incorporate an individual fixed effect to control for unobservable heterogeneity.

#### Fall in Private Coverage Results - Table 3

For purposes of comparison, specifications (1) and (2) estimate the fall in private coverage for all separations, regardless of pre-separation health coverage.<sup>28</sup> Unemployment is associated with a highly statistically significant fall in private coverage of 20.6 percentage points, relying upon observable controls, and 17.2 percentage points incorporating an individual fixed effect.<sup>29</sup> Specifications (3) and (4) present results for separators with private coverage not through the employer prior to separation, including purchase in the non-group market or coverage through a spouse's employer. For these separators, unemployment is associated with a highly statistically significant fall of 9.1 percentage points relying upon observed controls, and 7.6 percentage points incorporating an individual fixed effect.<sup>30</sup> Specifications (5) and (6) present results for separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, unemployment is associated with a highly statistically significant fall in private coverage of 30.5 percentage points relying upon observable controls, and 23.7 percentage points incorporating an individual fixed effect. Thus, separators with employer-sponsored coverage experience a more dramatic fall in private insurance coverage.<sup>31</sup>

I then stratify the sample of separations with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation along mandate eligibility, as a preliminary check to whether mandate eligibility is associated with a mitigated fall in private coverage. Specifications (7) and (8) present results restricted to separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation who are mandate eligible. Relative to the mandate ineligible results, presented in specifications (9) and (10), mandate eligible separators experience a tempered fall in private coverage, 30.5 percentage points compared to 39.5 percentage points relying upon observable controls, and 22.9 percentage points compared to 32.3 percentage points incorporating an individual fixed effect. Thus, for mandateeligible separations, which includes separations occurring within states with mandates prior to COBRA implementation and all separations following the start of COBRA phase-in in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Specification (1) additionally incorporates a lagged control for pre-separation private coverage, drawn from the wave prior to separation, or simply drawn from the prior wave for employed observations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>These results are largely consistent with existing estimates (Gruber and Madrian 1997, Brown 2010), albeit with somewhat different sample restrictions in place.

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$ In results not reported, the sample of all workers without employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, including these separations in addition to the uninsured, exhibit an aggregate fall in private coverage of 5.2 percentage points across employment status relying upon observable controls, and 4.3 percentage points incorporating an individual fixed effect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>This is hardly surprising as a separators with non-group coverage or coverage through a spouse's employer prior to separation experience a negative transitory income shock, but not a price distortion as experienced by separators with employer-sponsored coverage. Similarly, separators uninsured or insured through public provision are not expected to purchase coverage in the non-group market conditional upon unemployement.

July 1986, unemployment is associated with a less severe fall in private coverage relative to mandate-ineligible separations.<sup>32</sup>

#### 2.4.3 Mandate Effectiveness

As continuation of coverage is only available to workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, I restrict the sample to unemployed observations for individuals with private health insurance coverage through the employer in the wave prior to separation.<sup>33</sup> To determine the effectiveness of mandate eligibility in terms of mitigating the fall in private coverage, I estimate the multivariate linear probability model:<sup>34</sup>

$$Private_{ist} = \beta Eligible_{st} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$

$$(2.2)$$

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-month level.  $Private_{ist}$  is an indicator for private health insurance coverage in a given month.<sup>35</sup>  $Eligible_{st}$  is an indicator for non-zero months of mandate eligibility.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics.<sup>36</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. Alternatively, I replace  $Eligible_{st}$  with  $Months_{st}$ , which is treated as a continuous measure of mandate-eligible months. Individuals are assigned the maximum number of months of continuation benefits available under either state provisions or the federal law in place at the time of separation.<sup>37</sup> Correlation in the behavior of an individual within a panel and across individuals within a state indicates that it is inappropriate to treat monthly observations on health insurance status as independent, thus standard errors are clustered to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state.

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$ In alternative results not presented, results are stratified by months of continuation benefits (none, 1-3, 4-6, 7-12, and 13-18 months). Results are monotonic in relation to eligible months, with higher months of continuation benefits associated with a less severe fall in private coverage across the unemployment spell, though the relationship is non-linear. Limited sample size in some specifications impedes statistical inference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Classifying job separators using the detailed source of health coverage in the wave prior to separation circumvents classification issues arising from the seam bias discussed above. This necessarily introduces misclassification as some fraction of separators would have actually dropped employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, though this issue is minor given the wave-to-wave turnover in employer-sponsored coverage amongst the empoyed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>A probit specification is alternatively considered to address concerns regarding limitations of the linear probability model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>I focus on private coverage, rather than detailed source of coverage, as private coverage is reported monthly and the typical unemployment spell is shorter than a SIPP wave (4 months). Further, the focus of the analysis is the effect of continuation of coverage mandates on private coverage amongst the unemployed, including crowdout of alternative sources. Lastly, respondents may misclassify continuation coverage, as individually-purchased coverage as the coverage is no longer a fringe benefit of employment.

 $<sup>^{36}</sup>$ Controls are equivalent to Equation (2.1) with the additional of the monthly state unemployment rate to proxy for economic conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Some state laws require that an employee must have been covered under the employer's insurance for 3-6 months prior to obtaining eligibility for continuation benefits. This restriction is approximated by the restriction to employer-sponsored coverage in the wave prior to separation.

As the estimating equation includes state and time fixed effects, the effect of mandate eligibility or months of mandate eligibility is identified by changes in state laws over time, most prominently through COBRA implementation beginning July 1986. Although eligibility is nearly universal following the phase-in of COBRA, the impact is heterogeneous across states due to pre-existing state mandates. Figure 1 depicts a point-in-time summary of state mandates at the start of the reference period (October 1983) and again prior to the phase-in of COBRA (June 1986).<sup>38</sup> 18 states had some protection in place at the start of the reference period, though prior to COBRA implementation a total of 27 states had implemented some form of protection.<sup>39</sup> While the *Eligible<sub>st</sub>* specification captures only implementation of new state mandates or federal coverage through COBRA for states without pre-existing mandates, the *Months<sub>st</sub>* specification further incorporates the effect of extended eligible months under COBRA, as state mandates typically provide a limited duration of benefits relative to COBRA.

In terms of interpretation of the baseline specification, there are a number of confounding factors that may bias the results as identification relies critically upon the assumption that maintenance of private coverage trends similarly across states with varying levels of months of continuation benefits absent implementation of COBRA. Duration of unemployment spells may respond to mandate eligibility, through subsidization of the cost of health insurance coverage in the unemployed state. Further, the potential endogeneity of pre-separation coverage, resulting from continuation coverage eligibility criteria, may distort the distribution of spells following implementation of a continuation mandate or extension of an existing mandate. Both issues may result in a sample selection bias. Further, as state legislation prior to federal implementation of universal coverage under COBRA is not randomly assigned, heterogeneous state trends associated with implementation of state mandates may create a spurious relation-ship between mandate eligibility and maintenance of private coverage. Lastly, there may be contemporaneous state effects around COBRA implementation that affect maintenance of private coverage. These concerns are addressed in specification checks below and largely support interpretation of the baseline result as indeed causal.

### Results - Table 4

The role of mandate eligibility in mitigating the fall in private coverage amongst the unemployed is presented in Panel 1 of Table 4. Mandate eligibility is estimated to increase the probability of private coverage in the unemployed state by 5.6 percentage points, incorporating the full control set in specification (3), though the result is marginally significant. Scaled by the 39.5 percentage points fall in private coverage for the mandate ineligible as presented in Table 3, this result suggests that mandate eligibility mitigates approximately 14.2 percent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>Although the majority of changes are movements are from 0 to non-0 eligible months, there are also extensions of eligible months for previously enacted state mandates across this period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>However, 3 of the 9 state mandates implemented after the start of the reference period and prior to COBRA phase-in are dated within 6 months of the effective COBRA date.

of the fall in private coverage across employment status.<sup>40</sup> The marginal effect of probit estimation in specification (4) yields a similar result, that mandate eligibility increases private coverage by 6.8 percentage points. Both results are similar to the estimated effect of mandate eligibility absent any covariates in specification (1), 7.2 percentage points.

Alternatively, 12 months of mandate eligibility is predicted to increase the probability of private coverage by 7.2 percentage points, and the result is statistically significant as reported in specification (7). Scaled by the fall in private coverage for the mandate ineligible, this result suggests that 12 months of mandate eligibility mitigates approximately 18.2 percent of the fall in private coverage across employment status. Again, the marginal effect of the probit estimation in specification (8) is similar, an increase in private coverage of 9.2 percentage points. Note that these results are driven by distinct comparisons; specifically, the months of mandate eligibility results incorporate increased eligible months under COBRA relative to pre-existing state mandates. This may explain why the mandate eligibility results are less precisely estimated relative to the months of mandate eligibility results.<sup>41</sup>

These results imply COBRA take-up rates well below commonly cited estimates of approximately 20 percent (Flynn 1992, KFF 1999). However, the results above may under-estimate take-up rates for a number of reasons. First, COBRA enrollment may crowd-out other forms of health coverage available to the unemployed, such as insurance through a spouse's employer or purchase of coverage in the non-group market.<sup>42</sup> Second, individuals may misrepresent their insurance coverage, as eligible separators have 60 days to elect coverage. Third, given inconsistent reporting of an employer's size in the SIPP, it is not feasible to exclude separators ineligible for mandate eligibility, thus potentially understating the responsiveness to mandate eligibility amongst eligible separations.

Yet it is not entirely clear that private health insurance coverage is the appropriate dependent variable. A distinct policy question is to what extent continuation of coverage mandates mitigate the loss of health insurance from any source? Panel 2 of Table 4 reports comparable specifications where the dependent variable is a monthly measure of health insurance coverage through any source. Results are comparable to those considering only private coverage. This is unsurprising given the low rate of public insurance coverage amongst separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, 2.9 percent of spells or 3.5 percent of

 $<sup>^{40}</sup>$  Alternatively, scaled by the predicted fall in private coverage for mandate eligible workers absent the mandate, the result is approximately 15.5 percent of the fall in coverage. By way of comparison, Gruber and Madrian (1997) report that 12 months of mandate eligibility mitigates the fall in private coverage of all non-employment spells by only 6.7 percent.

 $<sup>^{41}</sup>$ It is not entirely clear why months of mandated eligibility, scaled by 12 months (substantially shorter than the 18 months of COBRA coverage), implies larger effects than mandate eligibility. This may in part be explained by state implementation between the start of the panel and the phase-in of COBRA, in which states mandated between 3 and 9 months.

 $<sup>^{42}</sup>$ It would be of interest to estimate this crowd-out effect directly. However, given that source of insurance coverage is revealed wavely (every 4 months) and the typically unemployement spell is less than three months in duration, this approach is infeasible.

months unemployed.<sup>43</sup> Similarly, it is interesting to consider the extent to which continuation of coverage mandates might crowd-out public insurance take-up. Panel 3 of Table 4 reports on the effect of mandate eligibility on public insurance coverage amongst separations with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation. Unsurprising in light of the above analysis, estimated effects are of small magnitude and often inconsistent sign, though probit estimation in specification (4) suggests that mandate eligibility decreases the probability of public insurance coverage by 0.25 percentage points. Similarly, an additional month of mandate eligibility decreases the probability of public coverage by 0.01 percentage points, as reported in specification (8). Neither results is statistically significant.

### Collapsed Specification

Figure 2 presents the distribution of unemployment spell durations in the sample. The distribution is heavily skewed towards relative short durations; the majority of spells are shorter than 3 months. Note that Equation (2.2) weights each unemployed person-month equally, potentially over-weighting longer unemployment spells relative to the representative spell. Thus, I alternatively consider the collapsed model:<sup>44</sup>

$$\overline{Private}_{ist} = \beta Eligible_{st} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(2.3)

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-spell level.  $\overline{Private_{ist}}$  is a measure of the average number of months across the spell in which the unemployed worker reports private health insurance coverage from any source.  $Eligible_{st}$  is an indicator for non-zero months of mandate eligibility.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics taken from the wave prior to separation.<sup>45</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. To avoid overweighting repeated short spells relative to the representative spell, I construct an individual weight equal to the reciprocal of the individual's count of unemployment spells, such that an individual's weights sum to one. In alternative specifications, I replace  $Eligible_{st}$  with  $Months_{st}$ , which is treated as a continuous measure of mandate eligible months.

Comparison of the collapsed specification relative to the linear probability model are presented in Table 5. The weighted spell-based approach of the collapsed model is employed to estimate the effect of mandate eligibility in specification (2), resulting in a point estimate of 5.1 percentage points, compared to the linear probability model estimate of 5.6 percentage points in specification (1). A similar comparison can be made between specifications (5) and (4) in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>This distinction suggests that individuals who switch to public insurance typically experience above-average unemployment spell durations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>The collapsed model is used as the baseline specification for subsequent analysis unless noted otherwise.

 $<sup>^{45}</sup>$ Controls are equivalent to Equation (2.2).

terms of the effect of each month of mandate eligibility, with point estimates of 0.7 percentage points and 0.6 percentage points, respectively. Collapsing spells yields comparable inference.

#### Endogenous Durations

Mandate eligibility decreases the cost of continued unemployment by effectively subsidizing the cost of insurance in the unemployed state. Thus, spell duration is potentially endogenous to mandate eligibility. This suggests the use of an alternative framework that does not condition on continued unemployment. Rather than collapsing to the person-spell level, I instead construct observation windows of varying length following the UI-eligible separation:

$$\overline{Private}_{ist}^{m} = \beta Eligible_{st} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$

$$(2.4)$$

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-separation level.  $\overline{Private}_{ist}^m$  measures the average private health insurance coverage across the *m* months of the observation window, inclusive of both months unemployed as well as months re-employed.  $Eligible_{st}$  is an indicator for non-zero months of mandate eligibility.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics taken from the wave prior to separation.<sup>46</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. Right-censored observations, those separations with insufficient post-separation observational months, are excluded from the specifications. To maintain focus on the representative spell, I consider m = 3, that is 3 months of collapsed observation inclusive of the month of separation.<sup>47</sup> Equation (2.4) estimates the effect of mandate eligibility on average private coverage over the three-month period following a separation resulting in UI-eligible unemployment irrespective of spell duration. Alternatively, I replace  $Eligible_{st}$  with  $Months_{st}$ , which is treated as a continuous measure of mandate-eligible months.

Comparison of the fixed observation window model to the linear probability model and the collapsed spell model is presented in Table 5. The effect of mandate eligibility, specification (3), is estimated as a 5.8 percentage points increase in private coverage across the 3-month window following separations. Similarly, each month of mandate eligibility is estimated in specification (6) to increase the average private coverage across the 3-month window by 0.8 percentage points. All models report similar point estimates and significance, allowing for consistent inference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>Controls are equivalent to Equation (2.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>Alternative lengths were considered. Choice of m = 1 results in weak, imprecisely measured effects of mandate eligibility, due in part to the ambiguous coding of private coverage in the month of separation. Choice of m in excess of 6 similarly results in weak, imprecisely measured effects of mandate eligibility, due in part to a rising fraction of months re-employed as the observation window is extended.

## Specification Checks

#### Endogenous Pre-Separation Coverage

Continuation of coverage eligibility may distort the sample of unemployed workers with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, as this is a condition for eligibility. That is, mandate eligibility may increase valuation of offered employer-sponsored insurance amongst the employed, increasing take-up. If these marginal workers who take-up coverage while working anticipate continuing coverage across an unemployment spell, then the resulting sample selection bias may overestimate the effectiveness of continuation of coverage mandates in mitigating the fall in private coverage across employment status.<sup>48</sup> To evaluate the importance of this potential source of bias, I model the composition of employed health coverage for workers who experience unemployment within the respective panel:<sup>49</sup>

$$Employer_{ist} = \beta Eligible_{st} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$

$$(2.5)$$

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-separation level, without conditioning on source of pre-separation coverage.  $Employer_{ist}$  is an indicator for whether a worker had employer-sponsored coverage in the wave prior to separation.  $Eligible_{st}$  is an indicator for non-zero months of mandate eligibility.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics taken from the wave prior to separation.<sup>50</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. This specification is estimated for all separations, investigating an absolute change in employer-sponsored coverage. Alternatively, I restrict to those with private coverage prior to separation, to evaluate the change in the composition of private coverage. As above, consider replacing  $Eligible_{st}$  with  $Months_{st}$ , which is treated as a continuous measure of mandate-eligible months.

Results are presented in Table 6. Both mandate eligibility and months of eligibility have little empirical relevance in terms of distorting the pre-separation coverage of separators. Mandate eligibility is estimated to actually decrease employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation by 0.2 percentage points, though the result is statistically insignificant. Similar inference is reached in considering the composition of pre-separation private coverage. These results are consistent with comparison of summary statistics in Table 2. Comparing columns (3) and (5), mandate-eligible separations throughout the reference period and restricting to pre-COBRA separations respectively, the percentage of separations with employer-sponsored coverage is similar, 56.9 percent and 56.3 percent. Further, comparing columns (5) and (7), pre-COBRA separations for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>This issue could alternatively be addressed by estimating the effect of mandate eligibility on the aggregate sample of separations, without conditioning on pre-separation employer-sponsored coverage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>The sample consists of all job separations resulting in UI-eligible unemployment, irrespective of preseparation health coverage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>Controls are equivalent to Equation (2.2).

mandate-eligible and mandate-ineligible separations respectively, the percentage of separations with employer-sponsored coverage is again similar, 56.3 percent and 56.1 percent. Thus, this concern appears empirically unimportant.

#### Heterogeneous State Trends

Although Equation (2.3) incorporates state and time fixed effects, the estimated effect of mandate eligibility may be the spurious result of heterogeneous underlying trends across state. To investigate the relevance of this concern, I re-estimate Equation (2.3) for the restricted sample of spells prior to COBRA implementation for states which do not experience modification of state mandates between the start of the reference period and the phase-in of COBRA. For this sample, states are assumed to trend identically across the period prior to COBRA implementation. To test this assumption, I assign falsified 'early' COBRA legislation, phased-in between July 1985 and June 1986. Violation of the identifying assumption would suggest incorporating state-specific trends into the baseline specification.<sup>51</sup>

Results of this falsification test are reported in Table 7. Specifications (1) and (4) re-produce the baseline results for the reference period 1983-2003, incorporating all states uniquely identified in the SIPP, using the true phase-in period of COBRA spanning July 1986 - June 1987. Specification (2) and (5) identify the effect of mandate eligibility and months of mandate eligibility using a restricted sample. I include only spells between October 1983 and June 1987 for states that do not experience relevant modification of state mandates over this period, and all spells following implementation of COBRA. In this way, I produce an estimate of the effect of mandate eligibility identified exclusively from variation in pre-existing state mandates interacted with implementation of COBRA. The results suggest that the effect of mandate eligibility increases average private coverage across spells by 7.6 percentage points, and each month of mandate eligibility increases average private coverage by 0.6 percentage points, similar to the baseline specification results of 5.1 percentage points and 0.7 percentage points presented in specification (1) and (4), respectively. Thus, large and statistically significant results of mandate eligibility con be identified exclusively through COBRA implementation.

The falsification exercise is presented in specifications (3) and (6). Restricting to the set of spells prior to COBRA implementation, I phase-in a false federal mandate one year prior to actual implementation, using the same relative sequencing as the true phase-in of COBRA. I exclude spells for states that introduce or extend existing state mandates across this period. For this restricted sample, the estimated effect of the false federal mandate should be approximately 0 if the baseline specification is properly identified. The results presented are consistent with the expectation, as I find that mandate eligibility is estimated to actually decrease private coverage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>Previous results are largely robust to the inclusion of state-specific trends. However, statistical power is weakened and reliance upon state-year variation in the simulated instruments approach discussed below is impeded.

across the spell by 0.78 percentage points in specification (3), and each month of mandate eligibility is estimated to decrease private coverage by 0.04 percentage points in specification (6). As the baseline results persist with similar sample restrictions to the falsification test, failure of the falsification test to pick up spurious effects of falsified COBRA implementation did not result strictly from these necessary exclusions. Thus, these results present evidence that heterogeneous state trends are not driving the baseline results. Further, the small magnitude of the estimates suggest that heterogeneous state trends are not a serious confounding factor.

### Contemporaneous Effects

Other factors, besides changes in eligibility for continuation of coverage may differ across states over time, such as improvements in non-group insurance market pooling that coincide with changes in continuation of coverage mandates. To address this issue, I re-estimate Equation (2.3) for separators with private coverage prior to separation not through the employer (such as through a spouse's employer or purchase of non-group coverage). Continuation of coverage mandates are inapplicable to this population.

Results for this 'control' set are reported in Table 8. Although identification is equivalent to that of the baseline specification, separators with non-employer private coverage exhibit limited sensitivity to mandate eligibility, estimated to decrease average private coverage across the spell by 1.4 percentage points in specification (3). Conversely, 12 months of mandate eligibility is estimated to increase average private coverage across the spell by 0.4 percentage points in specification (4). These results are inconsistent and diminutive in relation to the baseline results.

#### Heterogeneity Across Household Composition

To the extent that mandate eligibility represents a price distortion relative to the cost of securing private insurance in the non-group market, there will be substantial heterogeneity in this benefit associated with marital status and spousal work status. To investigate plausibly heterogeneous responsiveness to mandate eligibility, I stratify my sample of separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation into three mutually exclusive categories: single, married with an employed spouse, and married with a non-employed spouse. A single worker will have no private insurance option outside of the non-group market absent mandate eligibility. Dissimilarly, a married worker with an employed spouse potentially has access to group rates directly subsidized through the spouse's employer.<sup>52</sup> A married worker with a non-employed spouse has a dependent spouse and has no private insurance option outside the non-group market absent mandate eligibility. I estimate Equation (2.3) separately for each stratified group.

 $<sup>^{52}</sup>$ The SIPP does not contain a consistent measure of health insurance options available to the individual, so it is unclear whether a spouse's employer offers health insurance as a fringe benefit or not.

Results are presented in Table 9. Consistent with expectation, married separators with an employed spouse are the least responsive to mandate eligibility, estimated to increase average private coverage across the spell by 2.5 percentage points in specification (3), or 4.2 percentage points for 12 months of mandate eligibility in specification (4), though neither result is statistically significant. Single separators are more responsive, as mandate eligibility increases the average private coverage across the spell by 8.2 percentage points in specification (1), or 10.1 percentage points for 12 months of mandate eligibility in specification (2). The most responsive group, however, are married separators with a non-employed spouse. For this group, mandate eligibility increases average private coverage across the spell by 11.3 percentage points in specification (6). These results are consistent with the notion that responsiveness to mandate eligibility varies across household composition and outside options.

### Heterogeneity Across Pre-Separation Health Status

As discussed in Gruber and Madrian (1994), non-group coverage often excludes pre-existing medical conditions for some period of time after enrollment, non-group policies typically have higher out-of-pocket expenses relative to group policies, and particularly unhealthy individuals may be unable to obtain coverage at any price. In 2005, nearly three in five adults who considered buying non-group coverage had difficulty finding a plan they could afford, and one in five were either turned down by an insurance carrier, charged a higher premium based on health status, or had a specific health condition excluded from coverage (Collins et al. 2006). Thus, workers in particularly poor health may be more sensitive to mandate eligibility. Incorporating periodic SIPP 'topical modules' provides pre-separation, self-reported health status for approximately 71.8 percent of spells. I construct three mutually exclusive health classifications: respondents reporting either 'Excellent' or 'Very Good' health, respondents reporting 'Good' health, and respondents reporting either 'Fair' or 'Poor' health. I estimate Equation (2.3) separately for each stratified group.

Results are presented in Table 10. Interestingly, results are monotonic decreasing in order of worsening health status.<sup>53</sup> In order of worsening health status, the estimated effect of mandate eligibility in terms of increasing average private coverage across the spell varies considerably: point estimates are 4.0 percentage points in specification (1), 6.7 percentage points in specification (3), and 21.24 percentage points in specification (5), though the result for separators in 'Excellent' or 'Very Good' health is not statistically significant. Similarly, the estimated effect of 12 months of mandate eligibility in terms of increasing average private coverage across the spell vary consistently: points estimates are 7.1 percentage points in specification (2), 9.0

 $<sup>^{53}</sup>$ These results suggest the potential for adverse selection in the take-up decision of continuation benefits. That is, a disproportionately high fraction of separators taking up benefits are high-cost enrollees. The welfare implications are unclear.

percentage points in specification (4), and 19.0 percentage points in specification (6), and each estimate is at least marginally statistically significant. These results are suggestive of heterogeneous responses by health status, and consistent with the notion that responsiveness to mandate eligibility is positively related to the net benefit of continuation coverage relative to the non-group market.<sup>54</sup>

## 2.5 The Role of UI

## 2.5.1 Incorporating UI Generosity

Information on the regulations regarding UI eligibility criteria and benefit schedules across states is reported semiannually by the United States Department of Labor. The basis for both the monetary eligibility calculator and benefits calculator come from the initial calculators developed by Gruber (1997) and later updated by Chetty (2008) and Brown (2010). This paper improves upon the inherited calculators, incorporating earlier panels relative to Brown (2010), while enhancing accuracy through consultation of legislative documentation and extended eligibility criteria to include distributional considerations relative to Chetty (2008).

#### Eligibility

Eligibility for UI is multi-dimensional. Monetary eligibility is established through qualifying wages, often paired with a required wage distribution across the 'base period', defined as the first four of the past five calendar months.<sup>55</sup> The worker must not have exhausted available benefits within a given benefits period. Recipients must additionally demonstrate nonmonetary eligibility, generally consisting of: (1) unemployed through no fault of their own, (2) able and available to work full-time, and (3) actively seeking full-time work.<sup>56</sup>

A job separation is excluded if prior work history appears to make the worker ineligible for UI.<sup>57</sup> This motivates exclusion of self-employed workers from the sample, as they cannot avail themselves to the UI system.<sup>58</sup> I restrict to spells in which the individual reports looking for work in at least some months in order to focus on unemployment and not strictly labor force

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>Comparison of point estimates between the sample of separators in 'Excellent' or 'Very Good' health relative to those in 'Fair' or 'Poor' health status through generalized Hausman tests reveals a difference in the effect of mandate eligibility that is statistically significant at the 10% level. The difference in the effect of months of mandate eligibility is statistically insignificant, as is every comparison involving separators in 'Good' health. Thus, results are merely suggestive.

 $<sup>^{55}</sup>$ Example: In January 1999, Texas required that the applicant: (1) earn base period wages at least 37 times that of the computed weekly benefit amount and (2) document wages in at least 2 quarters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup>A waiting period is also imposed, typically one week. Given person-month observations, I ignore the impact of this provision, though this will understate the impact of actual UI eligible benefits in the first month of unemployment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>Absent a consistent measure of reason for separation within the SIPP, I potentially include some voluntary separations, though the restriction to periods of unemployment where the individual reports looking for work should exclude at least a fraction of voluntary separations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>An indicator for self-employment status was removed starting with the 1996 panel. I rely upon the BLS

leavings. However, while UI eligibility requires continuing eligibility through demonstration of labor force attachment, in specifications reported below observations are included if individuals report stopping search effort, effectively dropping out of the labor force, to account for the discouraged worker effect.

I include temporary layoffs, despite concerns of potentially different information about probabilities of layoff and recall, as well as potential ex-ante arrangements with the employer, for two reasons: (1) temporary layoffs consist of approximately 13 percent of all unemployment spells in my core sample and exclusion may result in non-representative spells, and (2) these individuals may constitute a particularly responsive margin as they are plausibly more aware of the UI system's parameters.<sup>59</sup>

#### **Benefits**

Receipt of UI benefits is not automatically provided, rather an individual satisfying statedefined eligibility criteria must apply for benefits. Among eligibles, take-up is much less than full. Blank and Card (1991) estimate take-up rates of roughly 67 percent among eligibles. An alternative to the use of eligibility is the actual UI benefits receipt amongst the unemployed. However, this poses a potentially serious selection bias, as take-up of UI may be endogenous to benefit level, thus I do not condition on receipt of UI benefits.<sup>60</sup> Also, receipt of public assistance is generally noisily measured in survey data. While this may call for use of eligibility as an instrument for actual UI receipt, Gruber (1997) persuasively argues that UI benefit eligibility, rather than actual UI receipt, is of direct policy relevance.

Weekly UI benefits are constructed as non-linear, and in some states complex, functions of wage levels and distribution in the base period.<sup>61</sup> Accurate benefits estimation requires five calendar quarters of earnings history, which is not available for a non-trivial subset of the

definition of self-employed as workers for their own, unincorporated businesses, including those who worked for profit or fees in their own unincorporated business or professional practice. If self-employed as workers for their own, incorporated businesses, then these workers are not classified as self-employed because they are paid employees of their own companies. A small fraction of workers report self-employment income less than full wage income. For this group, I classify the individual as self-employed if self-employment income composes at least 50 percent of total wage income. For consistency, this measure is applied across all panels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>Temporary layoffs are documented to be endogenous to the level of UI generosity. Thus if a disproportionately large number of temporary layoffs are included as a result of high UI generosity and if those spells are documented to have natural smoothing properties, perhaps through ex-ante arrangements with the employer, then UI generosity may have a spurious positive relationship with health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. However, it is unclear that this bias would result in a non-trivial interaction term with mandate eligibility. Results are largely robust to the exclusion of temporary layoffs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>Restricting the sample to those who take-up UI could lead to selection bias due to the endogenous nature of the take-up decision with respect to the benefit level (Anderson and Meyer 1997). If factors determining UI take-up are correlated with the change in an individual's private health insurance coverage associated with unemployment, then the effect of UI on private insurance coverage of the unemployed will tend to overstate the effect. There is some "option value" to individuals who do not take-up benefits, but derive value from the availability of UI resources should the individual encounter a longer-than-expected unemployment duration.

 $<sup>^{61}</sup>$ Example: In January 2001, Texas weekly benefit amounts are assigned as 1/25 of high quarter wages, subject to a minimum wba of \$48 and a maximum wba of \$294. With 13 weeks per quarter, this is designed to replace approximately 50 percent of a recipient's weekly wage.

sample. Instead, I impute an individual's earnings history as completely as the data allow, requiring a minimum of one quarter of wage data. Additional inputs used in determining weekly benefit amounts vary by state-year and include: annual earnings, number of children, spousal work status, and average tax rate. State-specific rules for minimum and maximum weekly benefit amounts are then imposed and vary greatly across states. The worker's replacement rate is constructed as the ratio of weekly UI benefits to the weekly wage level in the base period.<sup>62</sup>

A summary of the variation in UI generosity across states is presented in Table 11. Although there is benefit generosity variation with each state over time, variation is largely drawn from a cross-state comparison. Average real weekly UI benefits range from a minimum of \$133.40 in Mississippi to a high of \$255.57 in Massachusetts.

## 2.5.2 Excess Sensitivity to Cash-In-Hand

To identify the heterogenous effect of mandate eligibility by cash-in-hand of the separated worker, I consider a modified version of Equation (2.3):<sup>63</sup>

$$\overline{Private}_{ist} = \beta_1 Eligible_{it} + \beta_2 WBA_{it} + \beta_3 Eligible_{it} \bullet WBA_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist} \quad (2.6)$$

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-spell level.  $\overline{Private_{ist}}$  is a measure of the average number of months across the spell in which the unemployed worker reports private health insurance coverage from any source.  $Eligible_{st}$  is an indicator for non-zero months of mandate eligibility.  $WBA_{it}$  is an individual's level of eligible (real) UI weekly benefit amount.<sup>64</sup>  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics taken from the wave prior to separation.<sup>65</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. To avoid overweighting repeated short spells relative to the representative spell, I construct an individual weight equal to the reciprocal of the individual's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup>If unemployment is expected to increase earnings, such that the eligible weekly benefit amount exceeds weekly earnings over the base period, I exclude an individual. Point estimates are minimally affected by this exclusion restriction, though precision is improved.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>Prior to the Tax Reform Act of 1986, which made all UI benefits taxable after December 31, 1986, UI benefits were tax subsidized for households with income below \$12.000 and \$18,000 for single filers and joint filers respectively. Although potentially problematic, binary assignment of eligibility occurs universally in July 1986 and results are similar to the months of eligibility results scaled by one year. Further, exclusion of impacted households yields similar, though less precisely estimated results. In terms of excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand, tax withholdings on UI benefits are voluntary, thus only households with minimal sensitivity to UI benefits should be directly affected in the immediate term.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup>Weekly benefit amounts are discounted to January 1990 dollars using the CPI. Alternatively I consider discounting by the Medical Care component of the Consumer Price Index, motivated by the fact that rate of increase in health insurance premiums outpaces the CPI. Inference is comparable.

 $<sup>^{65}</sup>$ Controls are equivalent to Equation (2.2).

count of unemployment spells, such that an individual's weights sum to one. In alternative specifications, I replace  $Eligible_{st}$  with  $Months_{st}$ , which is treated as a continuous measure of mandate-eligible months.

 $\beta_1$  provides an estimate of the effect of continuation mandates for workers absent state UI benefits.  $\beta_2$  estimates the effect of an increase in eligible UI benefits absent mandate eligibility.<sup>66</sup>  $\beta_3$  estimates the sensitivity of the effect of mandate eligibility to increased cash-in-hand through the state UI system.

To account for potential legislative endogeneity, such as a spurious correlation resulting from state UI generosity increasing during peak economic periods associated with a limited fall in private health insurance coverage – as perhaps through the spouse's employer, I include seasonally adjusted state unemployment levels.<sup>67</sup> State indicators control for time-invariant heterogeneity across states correlated with UI generosity, such as risk aversion. The inclusion of state and time fixed effects results in a model effectively identified from higher order interactions of wage, state, and time, assumed to be legitimately excluded from an individual's health insurance decision. Results are presented in Table 12.

#### Simulated Instrument Approach

Motivation for the implementation of a simulated instruments instrumental variables strategy is drawn from Meyer (1990), noting that the UI replacement rate for an individual is a function of the legislative environment in a given state-year, but also of an individual's characteristics. Even with flexible controls, relative state UI generosity may reflect differences in the distribution of incomes and other individual characteristics across states, thus confounding inference of the effect of UI on private health insurance coverage. I therefore instrument for predicted UI benefit eligibility using 'simulated eligibility', a strategy developed in Currie and Gruber (1996) and detailed in application to UI generosity in Levine (1993) and Gruber (1997). A related two-step procedure is proposed and implemented in Chetty (2008).

Using the national sample of individuals in each six month period, given the frequency of reported policy updates, I assign that sample to each state in that period. I calculate each individual's eligible weekly benefit amount. I then average the resulting weekly benefit amounts across the simulated sample for each state-year. The resulting instrument is purged of potentially confounding characteristics of the individuals in that state-year and is a function of only the legislative environment in that state-year.<sup>68</sup> This simulated instrument is then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>In results not reported, I alternatively consider the replacement rate as a measure of state UI generosity. Results are similar once scaled by sample means, though the replacement rate results are too noisy to draw proper inference. The replacement rate is constructed as  $\left(\frac{\text{nominal wba}}{\text{pre-separation weekly earnings}}\right)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Seasonally adjusted unemployment rates are used in place of non-seasonally adjusted unemployment rates as the discussion of legislative endogeneity of the form above would suggest policy deviations from atypical fluctuation in unemployment. One dimension of endogeneity captured by this approach is the "trigger" of extended unemployment benefits resulting from sufficiently high state unemployment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>As the SIPP panels sample potentially systematically different populations over time, I have alternatively

incorporated as an excluded instrument.<sup>69</sup>

A second motivation for constructing the simulated instruments is related to inherent measurement error of the UI benefits calculator. Although a noisy proxy for eligible benefits for a given individual, owing to imputation and imprecise measurement of the income distribution throughout the base period, the estimated UI weekly benefits amounts should be correct on average. However, this noise component will drive the estimated coefficients towards zero in the classical errors-in-variables construction. Although the simulated instrument is, of course, a noisy measure as well, I can reasonably assume that the measurement error is uncorrelated across the measures, provided no systematic over- or under-estimation of weekly benefits amounts. The simulated instruments instrumental variables approach will then produce consistent estimates of the effect of eligible UI benefits under this assumption.

One limitation to this approach is a restriction in the variance of the UI generosity measure, as the measure is fixed at a point in time across all individuals within the state. As detailed in Table 11, the majority of variation in the simulated instrument is driven by differences across states, rather than within-states over time. Results of simulated instruments instrumental variables specifications (2SLS) are reported alongside the OLS results in Table 12.

#### Endogenous Durations

Given well-documented endogeneity of the duration of the unemployment spell to state UI generosity (Moffitt 1985, Meyer 1990, Chetty 2008), I alternatively consider a modified version of Equation (2.4):

$$\overline{Private}_{ist}^{m} = \beta_1 Eligible_{it} + \beta_2 WBA_{it} + \beta_3 Eligible_{it} \bullet WBA_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist} \quad (2.7)$$

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-spell level.  $\overline{Private}_{ist}^m$  measures the average private health insurance coverage across the *m* months of the observation window, inclusive of both months unemployed as well as months re-employed.  $Eligible_{st}$  is an indicator for non-zero months of mandate eligibility.  $WBA_{it}$  is an individual's level of eligible (real) UI weekly benefit amount.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics taken from the wave prior to separation.<sup>70</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. In alternative specifications, I replace  $Eligible_{st}$  with  $Months_{st}$ , which is treated as a continuous measure of mandate eligible months.

Results of both OLS and 2SLS specifications are reported alongside those of the collapsed spell

constructed the simulated instrument using a fixed national sample from 1990, with wage data inflated by the Employment Cost Index for wages and salaries. These results, not reported, produce similar results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>Both the  $WBA_{it}$  and the  $Eligible_{it} \bullet WBA_{it}$  term are endogenous regressors. The simulated instrument and its interaction with mandate eligibility are incorporated as excluded instruments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup>Controls are equivalent to Equation (2.2).

model in Table 12.

#### 2.5.3 Interacted Results

Table 12 reports interacted results of excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand. OLS specifications are suggestive of a positive interaction, though only the simulated instruments approach yields statistically significant interactions between mandate eligibility and eligible UI benefits. Point estimates under the simulated instruments approach are substantially larger than their OLS analogue, perhaps reflecting the issue of measurement error noted above, though the overall pattern of coefficients under either estimation is consistent with the notion of excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand.

Mandate eligibility, evaluated in the absence of UI, is associated with a highly statistically significant increase in average private coverage across the spell, though the magnitude is diminished relative to baseline specifications. In specification (2), mandate eligibility is associated with an increase in private coverage of 2.4 percentage points evaluated at an eligible UI benefits level of 0, and in specification (4), 12 months of mandate eligibility evaluated at an eligible benefits level of 0 is associated with an increase in private coverage of 2.2 percentage points. Absent state UI, then, mandate eligibility is estimated to mitigate approximately 6.1 percent of the fall in private coverage, relative to a predicted fall of 39.5 percentage points presented in Table 3, and 12 months of mandate eligibility is estimated to mitigate approximately 5.6 percent of the fall in private coverage. These estimates are approximately 42.9 percent and 30.6 percent of the respective baseline results, suggesting that mandate eligibility is minimally effective in mitigating the fall in private coverage absent means of bolstering household ability to pay, such as through state UI.

The coefficient on the interaction term is a measure of excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand with respect to the responsiveness to mandate eligibility. These results imply that responsiveness to mandate eligibility increases with eligible UI benefits. Specification (2) suggests that the probability of maintaining private coverage is increased by approximately 10.0 percentage points for every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits in addition to the pure effect of mandate eligibility reported above. Similarly, results of specification (4) suggest that 12 months of mandate eligibility increase the probability of maintaining private coverage by 7.4 percentage points for every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits in addition to the pure effect of 12 months of mandate eligibility reported above. In total, then, mandate eligibility is estimated to increase the probability of private coverage by 21.3 percentage points evaluated at the sample average of \$190 in eligible weekly UI benefits. Comparing specifications (1)-(4) to analogous specifications (5)-(8), inference is consistent across the collapsed spell model and the 3-month fixed window model, reducing concerns over duration endogeneity. Thus mandate

eligibility appears to be substantially more effective in mitigating the fall in private coverage at higher eligible UI benefit levels, presumably by expanding the household's ability to pay to take-up continuation benefits.<sup>71</sup>

#### Stratified Results Along Mandate Eligibility

Since Equations (2.6) and (2.7) are partially interacted models, there is a concern that heterogeneous factors across the groups correlated with state UI generosity may spuriously drive the interaction term. In response, I estimate stratified models of the form:

$$\overline{Private}_{ist} = \beta WBA_{it} + z_{it}\gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(2.8)

where *i* indexes individuals, *s* indexes states, and *t* indexes time. Observations are at the person-spell level.  $\overline{Private}_{ist}$  is a measure of the average number of months across the spell in which the unemployed worker reports private health insurance coverage from any source.  $WBA_{it}$  is an individual's level of eligible (real) UI weekly benefit amount.  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual and job characteristics taken from the wave prior to separation.<sup>72</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. To avoid overweighting repeated short spells relative to the representative spell, I construct an individual weight equal to the reciprocal of the individual's count of unemployment spells, such that an individual's weights sum to one. Specifications are separately estimated for mandate-eligible spells and mandate-ineligible spells.

Results are presented in Table 13. These results suggest that the large interaction terms identified in Table 12 are not spurious. Rather, average private coverage over mandate-ineligible spells exhibits limited sensitivity to eligible state UI generosity relative to mandate-eligible spells. Comparing OLS results, the subset of mandate-ineligible spells are estimated to report an increase in average private coverage of 7.3 percentage points per \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits in specification (1), compared to 17.5 percentage points for the mandate-eligible subset in specification (3). A similar relationship is observed for the 2SLS estimates, both are more pronounced at 9.5 percentage points and 22.9 percentage points respectively. These results roughly translate to the interacted model results. That is, for a mandate-ineligible spell, the interacted 2SLS results suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits in coverage by 12.75 percentage points, compared to 9.5 percentage points in the stratified specification. Similarly, for a mandate-eligible spell, the interacted 2SLS results suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits increases private coverage by a total of 22.7 percentage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>Note that these results are based on out-of-sample predictions and may not yield meaningful comparisons. Specifically, if individuals are sensitive to small changes in UI around the sample average, perhaps as basic subsistence is assured and health coverage may be a secondary concern for the unemployed, then these results may overstate the true effect of continuation of coverage mandates.

 $<sup>^{72}</sup>$ Controls are equivalent to Equation (2.2).

points, compared to 22.9 percentage points from the stratified results.<sup>73</sup> Thus, the results of the interacted model appear valid, and not driven spuriously by improperly controlled group heterogeneity across the subsets of spells mandate-eligible and mandate-ineligible.

# 2.6 Conclusion

Consistent with the existing literature, I find a robust result that continuation of coverage mandates are only modestly effective in mitigating the fall of private coverage across employment status, reducing the loss of private coverage by approximately 18 percent. Yet responsiveness to mandate eligibility is heterogeneously distributed. I find concentration patterns suggestive of the importance of family composition and outside insurance options, as well evidence of a potential adverse selection issue regarding take-up of continuation benefits. Amongst these responsive populations, however, average private coverage rates are below those of less responsive populations, suggesting that mandate eligibility alone is an insufficient policy response to the issue of shortfalls in insurance coverage associated with unemployment.

Extending the analysis through simulation of eligible UI benefits, I find that absent state UI, mandate eligibility is estimated to increase private coverage by only 2.4 percentage points amongst unemployed workers. By comparison, evaluated at the sample average eligible weekly UI benefits, mandate eligibility is estimated to increase the maintenance of private coverage by 21.3 percentage points.

Excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand suggests an important role of liquidity constraints in limiting take-up of continuation benefits. Policy aimed at improving portability of health coverage across employment status must therefore address not only access to coverage at group market rates, but also address ability to pay for households experiencing low transitory income and, despite the effective subsidy relative to non-group rates, substantially higher out-of-pocket costs of insurance coverage through continuation coverage. Given persistent, dramatic declines in private coverage amongst the unemployed, even those eligible for continuation benefits, these results suggest potential inadequacy of current UI benefits or the need for direct subsidization of the purchase price of continuation coverage.

 $<sup>^{73}</sup>$  These results are substantially greater in magnitude than the results of Brown (2010). This may be partially explained by sample restrictions to employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation, while Brown (2010) incorporated spells irrespective of pre-separation coverage. Further, though point estimates are statistically significant, the confidence intervals on the estimates are wide. Lastly, these estimates are out-of-sample predictions, as Table 11 demonstrates that state UI benefits do not vary dramatically within a state across the reference period.

## References

Anderson, Patricia and Bruce Meyer. 1997. "Unemployment Insurance Take-up Rates and the After-Tax Value of Benefits." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 112(August): 913-937.

Asplin, Brent, et al. 2005. "Insurance Status and Access to Urgent Ambulatory Care Follow-up Appointments." Journal of American Medical Association 294(10): 1248-54.

Ayanian, John, et al. 2000. "Unmet Health Needs of Uninsured Adults in the United States." *Journal of American Medical Association* 284(16): 2061-2069.

Bazzoli, Gloria J. 1986. "Health Care for the Indigent: Overview of Critical Issues." *Health Services Research* 21: 353-394.

Berki, Sylvester E., et al. 1985. "Health Insurance Coverage of the Unemployed." *Medical Care* 23(7): 847–854.

Blank, Rebecca M. and David E. Card. 1991. "Recent Trends in Insured and Uninsured Unemployment: Is There an Explanation?" *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 106(4): 1157-89.

Brown, David. 2010. "Maintaining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of Unemployment Insurance." Unpublished paper.

Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor. 2010. "The Employment Situation - June 2010." Web. Accessed July 2010. http://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/empsit.pdf

Card, David and Alan B. Krueger. 2000. "Minimum Wages and Employment: A Case Study of the Fast-Food Industry in New Jersey and Pennsylvania: Reply." *American Economic Review* 90: 1397-1420.

Chetty, Raj. 2008. "Moral Hazard vs. Liquidity and Optimal Unemployment Insurance." *Journal of Political Economy* 116(2): 173-234.

Clark, Kim B. and Lawrence H. Summers. 1979. "Labor Market Dynamics and Unemployment: A Reconsideration" *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1: 13–60.

Claxton, Gary, et al. 2008. "Health Benefits In 2008: Premiums Moderately Higher, While Enrollment in Consumer-Directed Plans Rises in Small Firms." *Health Affairs* 27(6): w492-w502.

Collins, Sara R., et al. 2006. "Squeezed: Why Rising Exposure to Health Care Costs Threatens the Health and Financial Well-being of American Families." New York: The Commonwealth Fund.

Currie, Janet and Jonathan Gruber. 1996. "Health Insurance Eligibility, Utilization of Medical Care, and Child Health." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 111(2): 431-66.

DeNavas-Walt, Carmen, Bernadette D. Proctor, and Jessica C. Smith. 2009. "U.S. Census Bureau, Current Population Reports, P60-236." *Income, Poverty, and Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2008.* Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Diamond, Peter and Jerry Hausman. 1984. "Individual Retirement and Savings Behavior." *Journal of Public Economics* 23(1-2): 81-114.

Employment and Training Administration. Various Years. "Significant Provisions of State Unemployment Insurance Laws." U.S. Department of Labor. Washington DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Flynn, Patrice. 1992. "Employment-Based Health Insurance: Coverage Under COBRA Continuation Rules." U.S. Department of Labor, Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, Health Benefits and the Workforce. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Gruber, Jonathan. 1997. "The Consumption Smoothing Benefits of Unemployment Insurance." *American Economic Review* 87(March): 192-205.

Gruber, Jonathan and Brigitte C. Madrian. 1994. "Health Insurance and Job Mobility: The Effects of Public Policy on Job-Lock." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 48(1): 86-102.

Gruber, Jonathan and Brigitte C. Madrian. 1997. "Employment Separation and Health Insurance Coverage." *Journal of Public Economics* 66(3): 349-382.

Gruber, Jonathan and Brigitte C. Madrian. 2004. "Health Insurance, Labor Supply, and Job Mobility: A Critical Review of the Literature." *Health Policy and the Uninsured*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press.

Hamermesh, Daniel S. and Daniel T. Slesnick. 1998. "Unemployment Insurance and Household Welfare: Microeconomic Evidence 1980-93." *Research in Employment Policy* I: 33-61.

Hewitt Associates. 1985. Continuation of Group Medical Coverage—A Study of State Laws. Lincolnshire, IL: Hewitt Associates.

Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research & Educational Trust. 1999. "Employer Health Benefits 1999 Annual Survey." Washington: Kaiser Family Foundation.

Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research & Educational Trust. 2009a. "Employer Health Benefits Annual Survey (#7936)." Menlo Park, CA: Public Opinion and Survey Research Publications. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009.

Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research & Educational Trust. 2009b. "Kaiser Health Tracking Poll: February 2009 (#7867)." Menlo Park, CA: Public Opinion and Survey Research Publications. Web. Accessed Sept. 2009. http://www.kff.org/kaiserpolls/posr022509pkg.cfm

Klerman, Jacob A. 1991. "Pitfalls of Panel Data: The Case of the SIPP Health Insurance Data." Proceedings, The 1990's: A Decade of Decisions for Vital and Health Statistics. Public Health Conference on Records and Statistics: 36-39.

Klerman, Jacob A. and Omar Rahman. 1992. "Employment Change and Continuation of Health Insurance Coverage." U.S. Department of Labor, Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, Health Benefits and the Workforce. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Levine, Phillip B. 1993. "Spillover Effects Between the Insured and Uninsured Unemployed." Industrial and Labor Relations Review 47: 73–86.

Meyer, Bruce. 1990. "Unemployment Insurance and Unemployment Spells." *Econometrica* 58(July): 757-782.

Moffitt, Robert. 1985. "Unemployment insurance and the distribution of unemployment spells." *Journal of Econometrics* 28(April): 85-101.

Monheit, Alan C., et al. 1984. "Health Insurance for the Unemployed: Is Federal Legislation Needed?" *Health Affairs* 3(Spring): 101–111.

Olson, Lynn M., Suk-fong S. Tang, and Paul W. Newacheck. 2005. "Children in the United States with Discontinuous Health Insurance." *New England Journal of Medicine* 353(4): 382-391.

Podgursky, Michael and Paul Swaim. 1987. "Health Insurance Loss: the Case of the Displaced Worker." *Monthly Labor Review* 110(4): 30–33.

Schwartz, Karyn. 2007. "How Trends in the Health Care System Affect Low-Income Adults: Identifying Access Problems and Financial Burdens." *Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured* 7705.

Thompson Publishing Group. 1992. Employer's Handbook: Mandated Health Benefits—The COBRA Guide. Salisbury, MD: Thompson Publishing Group.





**Duration (Months)** 

13+

		C	ontinuation o	f Coverage Laws			
State	Date	Months	Voluntary	State	Date	Months	Voluntary
Arkansas	07/20/1979	4	Y	New Hampshire	08/22/1981	10	Ŷ
California	01/01/1985	3	Y	New Mexico	07/01/1983	6	Y
Colorado	07/01/1986	3	Y	North Carolina	01/01/1982	3	Y
Connecticut	10/01/1975	10	Y	North Dakota	07/01/1983	10	Y
	01/01/1987	20	Y	New York	01/01/1986	6	Y
Georgia	07/01/1986	3	Y	Ohio	07/01/1984	6	Ν
Illinois	01/01/1984	6	Y	Oklahoma	01/01/1976	1	Y
	08/23/1985	9	Y	Oregon	01/01/1982	6	Y
lowa	06/01/1984	6	N	Rhode Island	09/01/1977	10	Ν
	07/01/1987	9	Y	South Carolina	01/01/1979	2	Y
Kansas	01/01/1978	6	Y		01/01/1990	6	Y
Kentucky	07/15/1980	9	Y	South Dakota	07/01/1984	3	Y
Maryland	07/01/1986	18	N		03/03/1988	18	Y
Massachusetts	01/01/1977	10	Ν	Tennessee	01/01/1981	3	Y
Minnesota	08/01/1974	6	Y	Texas	01/01/1981	6	Y
	03/19/1983	12	Y	Utah	07/01/1986	2	Y
	06/01/1987	18	Y	Vermont	05/14/1986	6	Y
Missouri	09/28/1985	9	Y	Virginia	04/17/1986	3	Y
Nebraska	01/01/1978	6	Ν	Wisonsin	05/14/1980	18	Y
United States	07/01/1986	18	Y				

Table 1

Sources: Hewitt (1985), Thompson Publishing Group (1992), and state statutes as cited in Gruber and Madrian (1997). Implementation date and mandated months of eligibility are indicated for state-mandated continuation of coverage laws preceding and immediately following implementation of federally-mandated eligibility through COBRA, phased-in between July 1986 and June 1987. Voluntary identifies whether mandate eligibility is extended to voluntary separations or only to involuntary separations.

Observation Period	October 1983 - December 2003				Oct 1983 - June 1986				
Mandate Eligibility	Unrestricted		Eligible (Sta	te/Federal)	Eligible	(State)	Ineligible		
Source of Pre-Separation Coverage	Unrestricted	Employer	Unrestricted	Employer	Unrestricted	Employer	Unrestricted	Employer	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
Health Insurance Coverage							······································	(-/	
Mean (Private HI) Across Spell	57.5	70.4	58.1	71.3	51.4	65.2	50.1	59.8	
Private HI	72.6		72.6		69.0		71.3		
Private HI in Own Name	62.0		62.1		59.7		61.3		
Public HI	2.5		2.6		2.2		2.1		
Employer-Provided HI	56.8		56.9		56.3		56.1		
Demographics									
Age	37.4	38.0	37.6	38.2	35.7	36.6	35.1	35.5	
Married	71.6	72.2	72.3	72.7	67.9	70.6	63.3	66.1	
Working Spouse	45.1	45.2	46.0	46.0	39.9	40.3	34.3	34.7	
Non-White	11.5	10.1	11.1	9.7	13.1	11.0	16.0	14.3	
Number of Children	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.2	1.9	1.8	1.8	1.7	
Education: Less than HS	17.8	13.0	17.6	12.8	24.0	18.3	20.5	14.9	
Education: HS Graduate	39.5	39.1	39.2	38.7	39.0	38.5	43.3	44.5	
Education: Some College	24.5	25.2	24.9	25.6	21.4	24.4	20.5	19.8	
Education: 4+ Years of College	18.1	22.7	18.3	22.9	15.6	18.8	15.8	20.7	
Annual Earnings	\$20,036	\$24,996	\$20,140	\$25,108	\$18,786	\$23,949	\$18,798	\$23,640	
Median Annual Earnings	\$16,949	\$21,804	\$17,004	\$21,852	\$16,328	\$21,756	\$16,230	\$20,981	
Completed Spell Durations (Weeks)									
Duration	14.5	14.5	14.3	14.2	14.7	15.4	16.9	17.9	
Median Duration	9.0	9.0	9.0	9.0	9.0	11.0	11.0	12.0	
UI Benefits									
Real WBA	\$168	\$190	\$169	\$191	\$157	\$183	\$159	\$180	
UI Replacement Rate	50.4	45.0	50.4	45.0	50.3	44.5	50.2	45.2	
Number of Spells	11,095	6,301	10,237	5,820	824	464	858	481	

 Table 2

 Summary Statistics Across Samples of Interest

Table entries are mean values unless noted otherwise. Statistics are based upon the wave prior to separation unless noted otherwise. Data are drawn from the 1984-1988, 1990-1993, 1996, and 2001 SIPP panels. Leftcensored spells of non-employment and unemployment (in-progress at the start of the panel), are excluded. Eligible/Ineligible refer to in-place state/federal mandates; only separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation can opt to continue coverage through the former employer. UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. UI replacement rate is constructed as the eligible weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-separation wage. Duration is defined as weeks elapsed from end of last job to start of next job and does not adjust for right-censoring (spells in-progress at the end of the panel). All monetary values are in real 1990 values.

						E	nployer-Sponsored Coverage				
	Experience UI-Eligible		Private Coverage.			Pooled		Continuation of Continuation of			
Sample Restriction			Non-En	Non-Employer				Coverage Eligible		Coverage Ineligible	
Mean Dependent	7220	7220	.9131	.9131	.8497	.8497	.8526	.8526	.8067	.8067	
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	
Unemployed	- 2060***	- 1720***	- 0910***	0760***	3130***	2370***	3050***	2290***	3950***	3230***	
onemployed	(0051)	(0040)	(.0088)	(.0069)	(.0073)	(.0060)	(.0076)	(.0062)	(.0236)	(.0221)	
Are 30-34	0030	(	0010		0010		.0020		0320		
ABC 30-34	(0047)		(0108)		(.0065)		(.0067)		(.0229)		
Area 25, 20	0040		0060		0050		.0060		0010		
Age 33-35	( 0049)		(0112)		( 0066)		(.0069)		(.0237)		
Ago 40 44	0110**		0060		0120*		0120*		.0310		
Age 40-44	.0110		(0113)		( 0068)		(0070)		(0276)		
A == 4E 40	(.0051)		0750**		(.0000)		0060		0090		
Age 45-49	.0050		.0230		(0075)		( 0076)		(0352)		
	(.0055)		(.0111)		0260***		0240***		0840**		
Age 50-54	.0220+++		.0180		.0200		.0240		( 0347)		
	(.0062)		(8110.)		(.0086)		(.0066)		(.0347)		
Non-White	0080		0290**		0140		01/0		.0200		
	(.0056)		(.0123)		(.0080)		(.0084)		(.0254)		
Married	.0270***	.0330*	0070	.0330	.0430***	.0180	.0400***	.0050	.0850***	.0730	
	(.0051)	(.0183)	(.0186)	(.0721)	(.0068)	(.0229)	(.0070)	(.0255)	(.0235)	(.0529)	
Spouse Works	.0760***	.0430***	.1240***	.1560***	.0460***	.0210***	.0460***	.0230***	.0510***	0050	
	(.0037)	(.0059)	(.0124)	(.0185)	(.0047)	(.0072)	(.0048)	(.0077)	(.0189)	(.0228)	
Kids: 1	0090**	.0080	0070	.0200	0170***	.0050	0140**	.0120	0630***	0900**	
	(.0042)	(.0094)	(.0076)	(.0177)	(.0056)	(.0121)	(.0057)	(.0126)	(.0230)	(.0460)	
Kids: 2	0170***	.0040	0180**	.0050	0180***	.0010	0160***	0020	0400*	0300	
	(.0044)	(.0131)	(.0087)	(.0245)	(.0057)	(.0167)	(.0059)	(.0175)	(.0225)	(.0558)	
Kids: 3	0300***	.0050	0440***	0350	0370***	0060	0320***	0050	0940***	.0010	
	(.0056)	(.0166)	(.0134)	(.0316)	(.0077)	(.0218)	(.0078)	(.0233)	(.0302)	(.0678)	
Kids: 4+	0470***	0120	0460**	0430	0530***	0030	0540***	0160	0560*	.0210	
	(.0072)	(.0218)	(.0182)	(.0480)	(.0111)	(.0298)	(.0116)	(.0331)	(.0310)	(.0723)	
HS Graduate	.0350***	/	.0250**		.0330***		.0320***		.0470		
	(.0052)		(.0123)		(.0081)		(.0084)		(.0284)		
Some College	.0440***		.0310**		.0330***		.0310***		.0760**		
	(.0056)		(.0129)		(.0085)		(.0088)		(.0340)		
College Graduate	.0670***		.0470***		.0540***		.0520***		.0850***		
	(.0057)		(.0125)		(.0085)		(.0088)		(.0318)		
Prior Private HI	.6010***		(						/		
	(.0057)										
Wage Splines	X	х	х	х	x	х	х	х	х	х	
Year Effects	x	X	x	х	x	Х	х	х	х	х	
State Effects	x		x		x		х		х		
Job Characteristics	х		х		х		х		х		
Individual Fixed Effect		x		x		x		×		х	
Observations	218 215	218 215	34,227	34.227	118.168	118.168	110.536	110.536	7,632	7,632	

 Table 3

 Private Health Insurance Coverage Across Employment Status

.

The dependent variable is private health insurance coverage. Results correspond to estimating Equation (1). Observations are person-month level. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001. Omitted categories: Age 25-29, White, No Kids, Unmarried, Non-Working Spouse, Less than HS.

			Cont	tinuation of	Coverage Elig	giblity						
		1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	Panel 1:	Private Heal	th Insurance	Coverage						
				Me	easure of Ma	ndate Eligibil	ity					
			Eligible				Eligible Months					
Estimation Model		LPM		Pro	bit		LPM		Pro	bit		
Mean Dependent	.5946	.5946	.5946	.59	46	.5946	.5946	.5946	.59	46		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4	4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8	;)		
Eligibility	.0716**	.0915**	.0560*	.1756*	[.0682]	.0043**	.0096***	.0060**	.0202**	[.0077]		
	(.0379)	(.0376)	(.0323)	(.1037)		(.0017)	(.0034)	(.0025)	(.0081)			
Demographics			Х	)	(			Х	)	(		
Wage Splines			х	>	(			Х	>	5		
Job Characteristics			х	>	(			х	>	[		
State Effects		Х	Х	)	(		Х	х	>	(		
Year Effects		х	Х	>	(		х	х	×	1		
Observations	20,971	20,971	20,971	20,9	971	20,971	20,971	20,971	20,9	971		
			Panel 2: He	alth Insurna	ce Coverage	(Any Source)						
	Measure of Mandate Eligibility											
			Eligible				El	igible Mont	hs			
Estimation Model		LPM		Pro	bit		LPM		Probit			
Mean Dependent	.6224	.6224	.6224	.62	24	.6224	.6224	.6224	.6224			
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4	4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	3)	3)		
Eligibility	.0765*	.0756*	.0555*	.1756*	[.0682]	.0039**	.0100**	.0053**	.0165**	[.0061]		
	(.0395)	(.0418)	(.0322)	(.1038)		(.0015)	(.0041)	(.0023)	(.0073)			
Demographics			Х	)	(			Х	)	(		
Wage Splines			Х	>	(			Х	>	1		
Job Characteristics			Х	)	(			Х	)	1		
State Effects		Х	Х	)	(		Х	Х	>			
Year Effects		х	х	>	(		х	х	>	1		
Observations	20,971	20,971	20,971	20,9	971	20,971	20,971	20,971	20,9	971		
·			Panel 3:	Public Healt	h Insurnace	Coverage						
				M	easure of Ma	ındate Eligibil	lity					
			Eligible			Eligible Months						
Estimation Model		LPM		Pro	bit		LPM		Pro	bit		
Mean Dependent	.0349	.0349	.0349	.03	49	.0349	.0349	.0349	.03	49		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4	)	(5)	(6)	(7)	3)	3)		
Eligibility	0037	0104	.0002	0716	[0025]	0005	0011	0001	0038	[0001]		
	(.0157)	(.0207)	(.0177)	(.1915)		(.0007)	(.0014)	(.0012)	(.0119)			
Demographics			Х	)	(			х	)	(		
Wage Splines			х	>	(			х	)	(		
Job Characteristics			Х	)	(			Х	)	(		
State Effects		х	х	)	(		х	х	>	(		
Year Effects		х	х	)	(		х	х	)	(		
Observations	20,971	20,971	20,971	20,9	971	20,971	20,971	20,971	20,9	971		
				1.		110						

Table 4

Dependent variable is specified for each panel. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (2). Observations are person-month level and include only UI-eligible unemployed observations for separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation. Eligibility measures the effect of any mandate eligibility or the effect of one additional month of mandate eligibility. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*\*-0.001. Marginal effects of the probit specifications are calculated at the mean and are reported in brackets alongside the relevant point estimate.

(	Lontinuation of	of Coverage	Eligibility - Alte	ernative woo						
		Measure of Mandate Eligibility								
		Eligible		Ε	Eligible Months					
Estimation Model	LPM	Spell	3-Month	LPM	Spell	3-Month				
Mean Dependent	.5946	.7038	.7427	.5946	.7038	.7427				
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)				
Eligibility	.0560*	.0512*	.0581*	.0060**	.0071***	.0081***				
	(.0323)	(.0301)	(.0320)	(.0025)	(.0021)	(.0023)				
Demographics	х	Х	X	Х	Х	Х				
Wage Splines	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х				
Job Characteristics	х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х				
State Effects	х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х				
Year Effects	Х	х	X	х	Х	х				
Observations	20,971	6,301	5,706	20,971	6,301	5,706				

 Table 5

 Continuation of Coverage Eligiblity - Alternative Models

Dependent variable varies across estimation models: LPM observations are person-month level and the dependent variable is private coverage across a given month of unemployment, estimating Equation (2); Spell observations are collapsed person-spell level and the dependent variable is average months of private coverage across the entirety of the unemployment spell, estimating Equation (3); 3-Month observations are collapsed to the person-separation level and the dependent variable is average months of private coverage across the three months following a separation, inclusive of both months unemployed and potentially re-employed, estimating Equation (4). All models include only UI-eligible unemployment separations for separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation. Eligibility measures the effect of any mandate eligibility or the effect of one additional month of mandate eligibility. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following pvalues: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

	Measure of Mandate Eligibility							
		Eligible			Eligible Months			
Pre-Separation HI Restriction	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Any Private	Unrestricted	Unrestricted	Any Private		
Dependent Variable	Any Private	Employer	Employer	Any Private	Employer	Employer		
Mean Dependent	.7255	.5679	.7828	.7255	.5679	.7828		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
Eligibility	0038	0018	.0014	0002	0001	.0001		
	(.0031)	(.0024)	(.0026)	(.0002)	(.0002)	(.0002)		
Demographics	х	х	х	х	х	х		
Wage Splines	х	X	х	х	х	х		
Job Characteristics	х	х	х	х	х	х		
State Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х		
Year Effects	х	х	х	х	X	х		
Observations	11,095	11,095	8,055	11,095	11,095	8,055		

 Table 6

 Endogeneity of Pre-Separation Coverage to Continuation of Coverage Mandates

Dependent variable is a measure of health insurance coverage pre-separation. Results correspond to estimating Equation (5). Observations are person-spell level and include only UI-eligible unemployment spells. Specifications (1) and (4) estimate the change in probability that a separation occurs with private coverage in the wave prior to separation, and the sample includes all UI-eligible unemployment spells. Specifications (2) and (5) estimate the change in probability that a separation occurs with employer-sponsored coverage in the wave prior to separation, and again the sample includes all UI-eligible unemployment spells. Specifications (2) and (5) estimate the change in probability that a separation occurs with employer-sponsored coverage in the wave prior to separation, and again the sample includes all UI-eligible unemployement spells. Specifications (3) and (6) estimate the change in probability that a separation occurs with employer-sponsored coverage in the wave prior to separation, conditional on some form of private coverage prior to separation, thus investigating a change in the composition of private coverage. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.001.

	r dis	sincation chec	K - Larry CODINA	1 11030-111						
	Measure of Mandate Eligibility									
		Eligible			Eligible Months					
Observation Window	1983-2003	1983-2003	1983-1986	1983-2003	1983-2003	1983-1986				
State Mandates	Unrestricted	Restricted	Restricted	Unrestricted	Restricted	Restricted				
COBRA Phase-In	1986-1987	1986-1987	1985-1986	1986-1987	1986-1987	1985-1986				
Mean Dependent	.7038	.6946	.6721	.7038	.6946	.6721				
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)				
Eligibility	.0512*	.0756**	0078	.0071***	.0060***	0004				
	(.0301)	(.0309)	(.0157)	(.0021)	(.0023)	(.0014)				
Demographics	х	х	х	Х	х	х				
Wage Splines	Х	х	х	х	х	Х				
Job Characteristics	х	х	х	х	х	Х				
State Effects	х	х	х	х	Х	Х				
Year Effects	Х	х	х	х	х	х				
Observations	6,301	5,712	779	6,301	5,712	779				

 Table 7

 Falsification Check - Early COBRA Phase-In

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (3). Observations are person-spell level and include only UI-eligible separations. Restricted state mandates are those occuring between the start of the panel and the phase-in of COBRA starting July 1986, including: CA, IL, IA, IA, MO, NY, OH, SD, VT, and VA. Note that IA, SD, and VT are excluded in all specifications due to a non-unique SIPP identifier. Separations occuring between the start of the panel and the end of COBRA phase-in in June 1987 are excluded where noted. The observation window 1983-1986 more precisely includes October 1983-June 1986, preceding phase-in of COBRA. COBRA phase-in 1986-1987 follows details of the text, while phase-in 1985-1986 falsely begins the phase-in in July 1985 and completes phase-in in June 1986. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

Stratified Results Across Source of Pre-Separation Coverage								
	Source of Pre-Separation Coverage							
	Emp	loyer	Private, Non-Employer					
Measure of Mandate Eligiblity	Eligible	Eligible Months	Eligible	Eligible Months				
Mean Dependent	.7038	.7038	.8972	.8972				
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)				
Eligibility	.0512*	.0071***	0143	.0004				
	(.0301)	(.0021)	(.0120)	(.0027)				
Demographics	х	х	Х	Х				
Wage Splines	Х	х	Х	х				
Job Characteristics	х	Х	Х	х				
State Effects	х	х	Х	х				
Year Effects	Х	Х	Х	Х				
Observations	6,301	6,301	1,753	1,753				

Table 8	
Stratified Results Across Source of Pre-Separation Coverage	

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (3). Observations are person-spell level and include only UI-eligible separations. Source of pre-separation coverage identifies whether a separator had employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation or private coverage not through the employer, typically coverage through a spouse's employer or purchase in the individual market. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.
	Pre-Separation Household Composition								
	Single		Mar Spouse E	rried Employed	Married Spouse Non-Employed				
Measure of Mandate Eligiblity	Eligible	Eligible Months	Eligible	Eligible Months	Eligible	Eligible Months			
Mean Dependent	.5463	.5463	.7679	.7679	.6252	.6252			
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)			
Eligibility	.0816*	.0084**	.0253	.0035	.1131**	.0126**			
	(.0433)	(.0038)	(.0401)	(.0040)	(.0519)	(.0049)			
Demographics	х	х	х	х	х	х			
Wage Splines	х	х	х	х	х	х			
Job Characteristics	х	х	х	х	х	х			
State Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х			
Year Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х			
Observations	1,752	1,752	2,848	2,848	1,701	1,701			

 Table 9

 Stratified Results Across Houshold Composition

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (3). Observations are person-spell level and include only UI-eligible separations. Pre-separation spousal dependence identifies whether a separator was unmarried at the point of separationn, married with an employed spouse, or married with a non-employed spouse. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

	Pre-Separation Health Status								
	Excellent, Very Good		Gc	bod	Fair,	Fair, Poor			
Measure of Mandate	Eligible	Eligible		Eligible	Eligible	Eligible			
Eligiblity	cligible	Months		Months	Eligible	Months			
Mean Dependent	.6799	.6799	.6010	.6010	.5600	.5600			
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)			
- Eligibility	.0402	.0059**	.0673*	.0075*	.2124**	.0158*			
	(.0352)	(.0026)	(.0382)	(.0041)	(.1017)	(.0083)			
Demographics	Х	х	х	х	х	х			
Wage Splines	Х	х	х	х	х	х			
Job Characteristics	Х	х	X	х	х	х			
State Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х			
Year Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х			
Observations	3,162	3,162	1,083	1,083	282	282			

 Table 10

 Stratified Results Across Pre-Separation Health Status

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (3). Observations are person-spell level and include only UI-eligible separations. Pre-separation health status is self-identifed; respondents indicate excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor health. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

	Number of	Mean Weekly Benefit	Standard Deviation of	Mean Simulated	Standard Deviation of
State	Spells	Amount	WBA	Instrument (WBA)	SI (WBA)
Alabama	83	134.88	21.82	125.85	5.44
Arizona	101	144.65	16.70	137.69	5.53
Arkansas	31	189.99	36.40	168.60	15.33
California	763	169.84	38.68	149.23	8.86
Colorado	82	205.24	52.68	168.51	14.01
Connecticut	92	236.02	57.19	198.13	8.86
Delaware	21	204.46	28.36	172.75	11.89
D.C.	6	190.70	60.03	200.77	16.67
Florida	253	171.29	42.10	156.37	11.80
Georgia	167	158.78	32.99	145.41	13.18
Hawaii	13	192.39	94.79	193.04	21.30
Illinois	375	202.88	59.63	168.10	10.25
Indiana	188	148.98	38.40	139.26	26.13
Kansas	63	197.11	40.43	182.65	8.59
Kentucky	95	170.23	48.98	154.08	18.78
Louisiana	118	176.58	52.53	153.26	29.77
Maryland	95	195.65	23.64	171.58	5.81
Massachusetts	148	255.57	72.12	219.08	17.25
Minnesota	213	214.72	60.13	184.76	17.69
Mississippi	86	133.40	22.77	131.81	4.63
Missouri	190	149.31	16.41	141.02	10.53
Nebraska	36	137.74	21.72	129.94	11.11
Nevada	15	184.26	24.22	164.77	6.96
New Hampshire	28	173.98	35.34	143.14	19.01
New Jersey	211	245.56	63.74	198.90	16.37
New Mexico	10	147.82	38.69	152.24	8.92
New York	412	196.49	63.12	162.88	20.02
North Carolina	203	185.53	54.92	178.57	18.39
Ohio	351	181.70	55.24	154.82	6.60
Oklahoma	78	195.98	32.13	178.70	9.13
Oregon	131	224.40	47.89	180.31	12.11
Pennsylvania	386	236.53	58.75	212.28	8.45
Rhode Island	28	270.55	63.81	221.67	21.90
South Carolina	68	152.28	30.04	144.17	12.96
Tennessee	134	150.37	31.07	143.12	15.30
Texas	446	194.66	41.31	176.03	5.84
Utah	27	194.26	43.06	176.21	13.19
Virginia	101	161.05	33.86	151.15	8.64
Washington	188	227.10	61.07	185.60	19.93
West Virginia	70	184.53	54.21	166.97	5.41
Wisconsin	195	194.67	39.85	166.25	15.48
United States	6,301	190.03	57.11	166.78	26.11

 Table 11

 Unemployment Insurance Generosity by State

Spell counts indicate the number of UI eligible unemployment spells observed within each uniquely identified state across the 1984-1988, 1990-1993, 1996, and 2001 SIPP panels. Eligibility includes both monetary and non-monetary components. Calculated weekly benefit amounts are constructed through simulation at the individual level, building upon the benefits/eligibility calculators developed in Gruber (1997) and modified by Chetty (2008). Discussion regarding construction of the simulated instrument is presented in Section 5.2. All monetary values are in real 1990 values.

Excess Sensitivity to Cash-In-Hand									
Estimation Model		Unemploy	ment Spell			3-Month Window			
Measure of Mandate Eligiblity	Elig	ible	Eligible	Months	Elig	ible	Eligible Months		
0,	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	
Mean Dependent	.7038	.7038	.7038	.7038	.7427	.7427	.7427	.7427	
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
Eligibility	.0103	.0240***	.0010***	.0018***	.0130*	.0335***	.0012***	.0015**	
	(.0072)	(.0087)	(.0004)	(.0006)	(.0077)	(.0081)	(.0004)	(.0007)	
UI WBA	.0918***	.1275*	.0791***	.1164*	.0999***	.1006**	.0839**	.1109*	
	(.0271)	(.0741)	(.0289)	(.0685)	(.0362)	(.0466)	(.0370)	(.0652)	
Interaction	.0430	.0996**	.0016	.0062**	.0513	.1018**	.0018	.0049**	
	(.0296)	(.0416)	(.0016)	(.0029)	(.0352)	(.0518)	(.0019)	(.0024)	
Demographics	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	Х	
Wage Splines	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	
Job Characteristics	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
State Effects	Х	х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	
Year Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	
Observations	6,301	6,301	6,301	6,301	5,706	5,706	5,706	5,706	

 Table 12

 Excess Sensitivity to Cash-In-Han

Dependent variable varies across estimation models: Spell observations are collapsed person-spell level and the dependent variable is average months of private coverage across the entirety of the unemployment spell, estimating Equation (6); 3-Month observations are collapsed to the person-separation level and the dependent variable is average months of private coverage across the three months following a separation, inclusive of both months unemployed and potentially re-employed, estimating Equation (7). All models include only UI-eligible unemployment separations for separators with employer-sponsored coverage prior to separation. Eligibility measures the effect of any mandate eligibility or the effect of one additional month of mandate eligibility. The UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Construction and motivation of the simulated instruments approach is discussed in Section 5.2. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a real \$100 increase in UI benefits on maintaining private coverage. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

Excess Sensitivity to cash-in-hand. Stratified by Mandate Eligibility									
Mandate Eligibility	Ineli	gible	Elig	Eligible					
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS					
Mean Dependent	.5984	.5984	.7125	.7125					
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)					
UI WBA	.0726*	.0951*	.1748***	.2285**					
	(.0414)	(.0499)	(.0460)	(.0909)					
Demographics	Х	х	Х	Х					
Wage Splines	Х	х	Х	Х					
Job Characteristics	х	х	Х	Х					
State Effects	х	х	Х	Х					
Year Effects	Х	х	Х	X					
Observations	481	481	5.820	5.820					

Table 13	
Excess Sensitivity to Cash-In-Hand: Stratified by Mandate Eligibility	

Dependent variable is average private health insurance coverage across the unemployment spell. Results correspond to estimating Equation (8). Observations are person-spell level and include only UI-eligible separations. The UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 5.1. Construction and motivation of the simulated instruments approach is discussed in Section 5.2. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a real \$100 increase in UI benefits on maintaining private coverage. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variancecovariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

## Chapter 3

# Re-evaluating Unemployment Insurance and the Crowd-Out of Spousal Labor Supply

## **3.1** Motivation

The notion that spousal labor supply may act as a form of insurance against unemployment of the household's primary earner, the 'added worker effect' (AWE), dates to Woytinsky (1942). Surveys by Hamermesh (1989) and Fallick (1996) document negative earnings effects of job displacements, as might induce spousal labor force participation. Yet, the existing literature has somewhat surprisingly produced inconsistent estimation of the AWE. By partially insuring against the adverse event of job loss of the primary earner, unemployment insurance (UI) plausibly mitigates private insurance in the form of spousal labor supply. An important question, then, is to what extent private arrangements would insure against these losses absent government intervention, recognizing that current private insurance provisions are endogenously selected in the presence of social insurance arrangements. Indeed, the generosity of the UI system has been documented to crowd-out private insurance along other margins, specifically precautionary savings (Engen and Gruber 2001, Klein 2009) and severance pay (Chetty and Saez 2010). Further, heterogeneity of this crowd-out effect with respect to liquidity constraints is of particular interest, given a recent empirical literature documenting the importance of such constraints in rationalizing excess sensitivity to transitory income shocks.

In contrast to the widely documented endogenous durations of unemployment spells to UI benefits (e.g. Moffitt 1985, Meyer 1990, Chetty 2008), work investigating the crowd-out of spousal labor supply resulting from provision of UI is limited. Cullen and Gruber (2000) investigate the role for social insurance, in the form of UI, to provide a state-contingent transitory income stream that partially offsets the negative income effect from unemployment. The au-

thors estimate that eligible UI benefits crowd-out spousal earnings at a rate of 36 percent.<sup>1</sup> The magnitudes of crowd-out reported by Cullen and Gruber (2000) are suggestive of a highly responsive margin, though the analysis exhibits some notable omissions and methodological issues addressed in this paper. Most critically, the inclusion of UI-eligible spouses in the estimation sample produces a potentially spurious negative relationship between the husband's eligible UI benefits and spousal labor supply.<sup>2</sup> To the extent that the eligible UI benefits of husbands and wives are correlated through state generosity, spouses may exhibit reduced labor supply in response to own-eligibility, as through extended spousal unemployment spells.

To address this limitation of existing evidence of the crowd-out of spousal labor supply, I restrict to the set of spells for which the spouse is identified as ineligible for UI benefits, exploiting the longitudinal nature of the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) spanning the reference period 1983-2003. These restrictions provide plausibly more accurate, though less representative, estimates of crowd-out, purged of the direct effect of UI resulting from own-eligibility of the spouse.<sup>3</sup> Employing a simulated instrument approach, I find that eligible UI benefits crowd-out spousal earnings at a rate of 33 percent. Thus, the indirect effect of UI through eligible benefits of the unemployed primary earner plays an important role in the spousal labor supply decision. Despite evidence of responsive spousal earnings, estimates of the increase in spousal labor supply absent UI imply that increased spousal earnings would only offset roughly 13 percent of lost transitory income of the unemployed primary earner. This indicates that even in the absence of social insurance, spousal labor supply would only imperfectly insure against unemployment of the primary earner. This result reflects the partial replacement of wages under UI and comparatively lower earnings potential for the spouse relative to the unemployed primary earner.<sup>4</sup>

These results suggest a surprising extent of responsiveness in the context of a life cycle model, where there is limited scope for a transitory income shock such as unemployment to substantively affect spousal labor supply. Liquidity constraints rationalize the results above, as spousal labor supply would be more responsive to transitory income fluctuations of the primary earner. In the presence of credit market imperfections, then, UI benefits may result in a socially beneficial crowd-out of spousal labor supply operating through a liquidity effect. To investigate the importance of liquidity constraints, I stratify across proxies for a couple's liquidity constrained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>That is, for every dollar of eligible UI benefits, spousal earning are reduced by 36 cents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Although Cullen and Gruber (2000) present some evidence of a comparatively diminutive relationship between UI generosity and spousal labor supply for wives of employed husbands, results discussed below suggest correlated unemployment risk across partners, thus this evidence may underestimate the implied bias.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ As this sub-population is comprised largely of non-working spouses and those with weak attachment to the labor force, the results will not generalize to the aggregate of separations. I exclude the trivial number of working, UI-ineligible spouses and focus exclusively on non-working, UI-ineligible spouses at the point of separation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Across the 1983-2003 reference period, the average UI replacement rate for unemployed primary earners is 47.6 percent of pre-separation weekly wages.

status at the point of separation.<sup>5</sup> Without conditioning on a UI-ineligible spouse, heterogenous estimates of crowd-out cannot be clearly attributed to the indirect eligible UI benefits of the primary earner (solely an income effect), given the confounding factor of the direct effect of spousal eligibility (composed of both income and substitution effects).<sup>6</sup> Restricting to UIineligible spouses, I find that couples proxied as liquidity unconstrained are only 26.2 percent as responsive as couples proxied as liquidity constrained in terms of spousal average weekly earnings, stratifying by above and below median net liquid wealth at the point of separation. Similarly, stratification across mortgage status at the point of separation suggests that relative to couples with a fixed consumption commitment, the spousal average weekly earnings of couples without a fixed consumption commitment are only 17.6 percent as responsive. Although estimates for the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses are imprecise, I find parameter concentrations suggestive of an associated liquidity effect.

The rest of the paper proceeds as follows. A brief review of the existing literature is discussed in the next section. Section 3.3 details the data and core sample selection criteria. Section 3.4 re-evaluates existing estimates of the extent to which UI crowds-out spousal labor supply across unemployment spells of the primary earner. Section 3.5 introduces proxies for a couple's liquidity constrained status at the point of separation and differentiates heterogeneous spousal labor supply crowd-out by eligible UI benefits. The last section concludes.

## **3.2** A Brief Literature Perspective

#### Documenting an Added Worker Effect

The extent to which spousal labor supply is predicted to respond to unemployment of the household's primary earner, and specifically the sequencing of this response, is unclear. Surveys by Hamermesh (1989) and Fallick (1996) document negative earnings effects of job displacements, as might induce spousal labor force participation. Yet to the extent that the transitory income shock of unemployment is relatively minor in comparison to the total negative earnings effect associated with job loss, the responsiveness of spouses across the unemployment spell will be limited. Topel (1990) and Stevens (1997) document annual earnings losses in the year of displacement that range from 25 percent to 40 percent. Instantaneous wage losses are comparatively limited in relation to permanent earnings losses (Stevens 1997, Topel 1990, Ruhm 1991). While there appears to be a case for a non-trivial spousal labor supply response, it is entirely unclear that the response in the immediate term of the unemployment spell will be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Specifically, I follow Chetty (2008) in considering net liquid wealth of the household as a proxy of liquidity constraint and the mortgage status of the household as a proxy of consumption commitment. Although Engen and Gruber (2001) suggest endogeneity of household assets to the generosity of the UI system, that work is critiqued in a recent evaluation by Klein (2009), suggesting a non-robust relationship.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This is a particular concern given strong evidence of a heterogeneous response to UI generosity with respect to extending unemployment durations (Chetty 2008).

dramatic relative to a longer-term response.

Some studies that have attempted to document a contemporaneous AWE have found modest effects (Mincer 1962; Bowen and Finegan 1968; Heckman and Macurdy 1980, 1982; Lundberg 1985; Spletzer 1991).<sup>7</sup> Others have found no effect (Layard, Barton, and Zabalza 1980; Maloney 1987, 1991; Cullen and Gruber 1996). A recent investigation by Stephens (2002) investigates the dynamics of the AWE and documents small pre-displacement effects and larger, persistent post-displacement effects for wives of husbands who experience displacement. This is consistent with notion that the transitory income shock of unemployment is modest relative to the long-term permanent earnings losses. It is, therefore, unclear that UI provision substantively affects the spousal labor supply response, particularly given evidence of persistent effects of unemployment on spousal labor supply beyond the immediate duration of the unemployment spell.

#### The Role of Unemployment Insurance

Yet, these studies fail to address the presence of social insurance that protects against precisely the sort of transitory income loss insured through the AWE. UI provides a state-contingent transitory income stream that partially counteracts the negative income effect associated with unemployment of the primary earner. Thus, increased UI benefits may mitigate the spousal labor supply response, and may be partially responsible for masking the AWE. Then absent UI, the AWE would be more prominent, as the household would be less insulated from the negative transitory income shock associated with unemployment. Cullen and Gruber (2000) investigate the role of public insurance in the form of UI; the authors estimate that eligible UI benefits crowd-out spousal earnings at a rate of 36 percent, thus providing a partial explanation for the failure of the literature to document a substantial AWE.<sup>8</sup> As previously asserted, there are numerous methodological issues that confound inference of the specifications reported in Cullen and Gruber (2000), thus the question of spousal labor supply crowd-out by UI benefits remains indeterminate.

#### Potential Liquidity Effects

As noted in Heckman and MaCurdy (1980), to the extent that unemployment is a negative transitory income shock, it should not distort the intertemporal allocation of the spouse's labor supply, consistent with the failure of the literature to identify a sizeable AWE. Yet Mincer (1962) and Lundberg (1985) suggest that liquidity constrained couples may be unable to smooth consumption across the unemployment spell, resulting in a substantive AWE. Thus

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Earlier work used aggregate geographic data and documented evidence of a 'discouraged worker effect' (DWE), whereby high area male unemployment is associated with a reduction in the labor force participation of wives (Long 1958; Mincer 1962; Bowen and Finegan 1965, 1968; Cain 1966).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>An alternative specification of financial crowd-out resulting from actual UI receipt suggests a crowd-out rate of 73 percent, though this specification likely overstates the effect given the 'option-value' of UI for non-recipients.

the sizeable estimates of crowd-out of spousal labor supply resulting from eligible UI benefits of the primary earner in Cullen and Gruber (2000) may be rationalized within the framework of liquidity constraints. Browning and Lusardi (1996) provides an inconclusive review of existing studies evaluating whether households are liquidity constrained. However, given the extremely skewed asset distribution amongst workers prior to unemployment (Gruber 2001), a non-trivial number of the unemployed are plausibly unable to smooth transitory income shocks relative to permanent income. It stands to reason that the crowd-out of spousal labor supply resulting from UI benefits may be heterogeneously distributed across households by liquidity constrained status at the point of separation.

This idea is consistent with several recent studies that have used consumption data to investigate the importance of liquidity constraints and partial insurance (Johnson, Parker, and Souleles 2006; Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston 2008). In the context of UI, Chetty (2008) differentiates moral hazard and liquidity effects in the endogenous duration of an unemployment spell to UI benefits, finding sizeable liquidity effects that suggest optimal UI benefits exceed current levels. Bloemen and Stancanelli (2005) find evidence that UI benefits help to smooth consumption for households without financial wealth at the time of job loss, a result consistent with the findings of Browning and Crossley (2001) concerning concentration of the consumption-smoothing response to the Canadian UI system within a subset of households without liquid assets. This paper then re-interprets the Cullen and Gruber (2000) estimates of spousal labor supply crowd-out by UI in considering how estimated crowd-out measures interact with a couple's liquidity constrained status or fixed consumption commitments at the point of separation.

### 3.3 Data

I incorporate Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) panels spanning the reference period October 1983 - December 2003.<sup>9</sup> Each SIPP panel surveys a national set of households at four month intervals (waves) for  $2\frac{1}{2}$ -4 years, with sample sizes ranging from approximately 14,000 to 36,700 interviewed households.<sup>10</sup> At each interview, households are asked questions in reference to the four month recall period. Data are collected regarding income and labor force participation, as well as a wide array of socioeconomic characteristics

 $<sup>^9{\</sup>rm US}$  Census Bureau. Survey of Income and Program Participation Users' Guide. http://www.census.gov/sipp/usrguide.html (Accessed September 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The length of observation varies across panels. The 1984 panel contains 9 waves. The 1985 panel contains 8 waves. The 1986 and 1987 panels contain 7 waves. The 1988 panel contains 6 waves. The 1990 and 1991 panels contain 8 waves. The 1992 and 1993 panels contain 9 waves. The 1996 panel contains 12 waves. The 2001 panel contains 9 waves. Owing to the overlapping design of the survey, observations are continuous across the reference period, excepting for January 1990, due to the incomplete nature of the omitted 1989 panel, and March – September 2000, where a minor interruption arose over a funding shortfall and the subsequent cancellation of the in-progress 2000 panel, which was re-started as the 2001 panel.

of each household member and of the household as a whole. The SIPP provides monthly data on income, including a direct measure of UI receipt, and weekly data on labor force status. Deliberate over-sampling of the low-income population provides a suitably large sample of unemployment spells. I supplement the SIPP with monthly national price indices and seasonally adjusted monthly state unemployment rates as reported by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Starting from the universe of job separations in the pooled SIPP panels, I retain spells of unemployment, defined as spells following a job separation during which individuals are either on layoff or are searching for a new job. Spells begin with the first full month of non-employment and end with the first full month of re-employment.<sup>11</sup> As labor force nonparticipation among this sample is often disguised long-term unemployment (Clark and Summers, 1979), I do not exclude observations for workers who drop out of the labor force at some point during an unemployment spell. I measure the duration of a spell as consisting of all weeks of separation from work.

I restrict the analysis to couples continuously married throughout the relevant panel with at least two years of observation. I further restrict attention to couples for which both partners are between 25-54 years old, thus focusing on job-separators who have a high rate of attachment to the labor force. This restriction also limits the impact of schooling and early retirement decisions on the resulting pool of job separations, as well as spousal labor supply decisions. I include only unemployment spells for which I observe at least one quarter of employment spell duration, as well as characteristics of pre-separation jobs, most importantly imputation of pre-separation wages and determination of pre-separation spousal labor supply. I also eliminate spells for which the pattern of earnings in the base period appear to make the unemployed worker ineligible for the relevant state UI system, discussed below.

I restrict to spells of unemployment for the household's primary earner, defined as either the sole earner or the consistently highest-earner throughout the preceding wave, irrespective of gender. Implicit, then, is the assumption that the spouse acts as the secondary earner of the household. By focusing on spousal labor supply across separations of empirically-identified primary earners, I deviate from the gender assumption of the husband as the primary earner common to the AWE literature.

Individuals from small states clustered in the SIPP are excluded, as unique identification is necessary to accurately impute eligible UI benefits.<sup>13</sup> I further exclude separations for which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Spells lasting less than one calendar month are difficult to scale, and may be false empoyment transitions.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ This exclusion eliminates all monthly observations for individuals who never work in three consecutive months, as well as the initial months of observation for workers whose first three consecutive months of work occurs later in the panel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>These states are Alaska, Idaho, Iowa, Maine, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, Vermont, and Wyoming.

I have missing individual or job characteristics for the primary earner or the spouse.<sup>14</sup> These restrictions leave 3,591 unemployment spells, of which 605 (approximately 17 percent) are separations with wives as the primary earner.

#### Unemployment Insurance Eligibility

Information on the regulations regarding UI eligibility criteria and benefit schedules across states is reported semiannually by the United States Department of Labor. The basis for both the monetary eligibility calculator and benefits calculator come from the initial calculators developed by Gruber (1997) and later updated by Chetty (2008) and Brown (2010). Eligibility for UI is multi-dimensional. Monetary eligibility is established through qualifying wages, often paired with a required wage distribution across the 'base period', defined as the first four of the past five calendar months. Further, the worker must not have exhausted available benefits within a given benefits period. Recipients must additionally demonstrate nonmonetary eligibility, generally consisting of: (1) unemployed through no fault of their own, (2) able and available to work full-time, and (3) actively seeking full-time work.

I impose restrictions approximating these eligibility criteria. A job separation for a primary earner is excluded from the sample if prior work history appears to make the worker ineligible for UI. Self-employed workers are excluded, as they cannot avail themselves to the UI system.<sup>15</sup> I restrict to spells in which the individual reports looking for work in at least some months in order to focus on unemployment and not strictly labor force exit.<sup>16</sup>

I exclude temporary layoffs, spells that include months where the primary earner is with a job and on layoff, given concerns of potentially different information about probabilities of layoff and recall. Spousal labor supply may react differently to temporary as opposed to permanent unemployment.<sup>17</sup> Further, endogeneity of layoff to state UI benefits are potentially problematic in terms of interpretation, though the literature is conflicted on this point.<sup>18</sup> Restricting temporary layoffs, the resulting sample demonstrates minimal sensitivity of layoff

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$ I also exclude outlying observations with spousal hourly wages below \$1/hour and above \$100/hour, and weekly hours of more than 90 hours/week.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>An indicator for self-employment status was removed starting with the 1996 panel. I rely upon the BLS definition of self-employed as workers for their own, unincorporated businesses, including those who worked for profit or fees in their own unincorporated business or professional practice. If self-employed as workers for their own, incorporated businesses, then these workers are not classified as self-employed because they are paid employees of their own companies. A small fraction of workers report self-employment income less than full wage income. For this group, I classify the individual as self-employed if self-employment income composes at least 50 percent of total wage income. For consistency, this measure is applied across all panels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The SIPP does not contain a consistent measure of reason for separation, so restricting to spells in which individuals report looking for work also plausibly focuses the analysis on involuntary separations. As verification, the take-up rates of UI benefits, presented in Table 1, are consistent with empirical estimates of the take-up rate for the UI-eligible population (Blank and Card 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Alterntively, these couples may constitute a particulary responsive margin as they are plausibly more aware of the UI system's parameters. Results are largely robust to inclusion of temporary layoffs, though interpretation of these inclusive results is unclear.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Feldstein (1978) and Topel (1983) document a relationship between the probability of layoff and the generosity of UI benefits, though Anderson and Meyer (1994) find an inconsistent relationship.

to state UI generosity, suggesting that results are not driven by selection.<sup>19</sup>

## 3.4 Crowd-Out of Spousal LS

#### **3.4.1** Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics across populations of interest are presented in Table 1. Most strikingly, the average spousal labor participation rate amongst employed primary earners in column (1) is 64.3 percent, compared to 57.3 percent amongst unemployed primary earners in column (2). A casual comparison of participation rates then suggests that spousal labor supply is lower during period of unemployment of the primary earner. This observation is consistent with conflicting empirical estimates of the AWE, and is often attributed to the DWE. Yet prior to separation, these primary earners report a working spouse in only 51.5 percent of spells. Failing to account for population heterogeneity amongst workers who do and do not experience unemployment, then, would imply a spurious negative relationship between unemployment of the primary earner and spousal labor supply. However, even a simple difference of spousal labor supply across unemployment spells relative to pre-separation spousal labor supply suggests a raw increase in labor force participation of 5.8 percentage points, or 11.3 percent of the pre-separation participation rate.<sup>20</sup>

Consideration of other measures of spousal labor supply supports the notion of population heterogeneity. Although the unemployed sample of primary earners report average spousal weekly earnings below that of the employed sample, \$190 compared to \$211, average weekly earnings increase across the unemployment spell relative to pre-separation earnings by \$38 or 25.0 percent of pre-separation earnings. Conditional upon non-zero weekly earnings, the average weekly earnings increase by \$11 across employment status, or 3.7 percent of pre-separation conditional weekly earnings. These comparisons are suggestive of an intensive response in addition to an extensive participation response of spousal labor supply resulting from unemployment of the primary earner.<sup>21</sup> A similar comparison can be made in terms of hours, which exhibit an increase across employment status of the primary earner of 1.0 hours or 4.9 percent of pre-separation hours.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Following Cullen and Gruber (2000), I model the probability of unemployment at any point during the panel as a function of eligible UI benefits. Consistent with their finding, I document an insignificant relationship between eligible UI benefits and the probability of permanent unemployment for the sample of primary earners.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Cullen and Gruber (1996) utilize the longitudinal nature of the SIPP to incorporate a rich control set in an attempt to tease out an AWE distinct from a DWE. Their finding against an AWE may be attributed to the failure to recognize the inherent population heterogeneity amongst always employed husbands and ever unemployed husbands in their analysis. In results not reported, I identify some support for an AWE, yet these results are difficult to interpret in consideration of local economic shocks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Under assumption that the marginal induced working spouse earns less on average than a pre-separation working spouse.

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ It is unclear in the SIPP that hours are as fluidly reported as earned income, as hours are reported in discrete amounts and exhibit considerable bunching.

In terms of composition, the husband is identified as the primary earner in 83.2 percent of spells. This is somewhat higher than the 80.3 percent of employed spells where the husband is identified as the primary earner. Compared to the employed sample of primary earners, those that experience unemployment are less educated, are married to less educated spouses, and earn considerably less on average (\$23,130 compared to \$31,755), as well as at the median (\$19,541 compared to \$28,057). Consistent with these observations, working spouses of unemployed primary earners earn an hourly wage of \$8.23 compared to \$9.15 for spouses of employed primary earners. Additionally, spousal receipt of UI at any point across the spell is considerably higher, 10.7 percent compared to 7.4 percent, for unemployed primary earners relative to the employed, suggestive of correlated unemployment risk. Population heterogeneity underscores some of the difficulties encountered in the empirical literature in terms of identifying a positive AWE, in addition to plausible crowd-out of the AWE by UI benefits.

#### **3.4.2** Baseline Specification

To evaluate the role of UI benefits in crowding-out spousal labor supply, I estimate models modified from Cullen and Gruber (2000). Collapsed models are of the form:<sup>23</sup>

$$\overline{LS}_{ist} = \beta W B A_{it} + z_{it} \gamma + \alpha_s + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(3.1)

where i indexes couples, s indexes states, and t indexes time. Observations are at the couplespell level. Documentation of duration endogeneity to UI generosity (Meyer 1990, Chetty 2008) suggests a selection bias inherent to a couple-month analysis. To avoid over-weighting long spells, which presumably appear disproportionately in response to increased UI generosity, spells are collapsed to a single observation. Similarly, spells are weighted by the reciprocal number of spells per couple, such that the sum of a couple's weight equals 1, to avoid overweighting short, repeated spells. Variation in UI is naturally drawn from across spells, as weekly benefit levels are fixed within a spell, conditional on take-up. Standard errors are clustered to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state, given correlation across repeated spells as well as across couples residing within a state.

 $\overline{LS}_{ist}$  is a measure of the average spousal labor supply across the unemployment spell of the primary earner.  $WBA_{it}$  is a measure of the eligible UI weekly benefit amount for the unemployed primary earner.<sup>24</sup>  $z_{it}$  is a vector of individual demographics and job characteristics of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>This baseline specification varies in several important ways from the analysis of Cullen and Gruber (2000). Table 3 presents sequential impacts of these modifications, evolving the approximate replication specification to the baseline model detailed here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>The eligible state UI weekly benefit amount is scaled by  $\frac{1}{100}$ . In specifications not reported, I alternatively consider crowd-out of spousal labor supply resulting from UI generosity as measured by the replacement rate  $(\frac{\text{nominal weekly benefits}}{\text{pre-separation weekly earnings}})$ . Scaled by population averages, the results are largely consistent, though specifications utilizing the replacement rate are less precisely measured.

the unemployed primary earner and the spouse.<sup>25</sup>  $\alpha_s$  is a vector of state indicators.  $\delta_t$  is a vector of panel and year indicators. I additionally include measures of employment opportunities available to the spouse. The monthly state unemployment rate proxies for economic downturn. The average spousal wage by gender, educational attainment, state, and year is constructed from the aggregate sample of the spouses of employed primary earners.<sup>26</sup> Covariates are evaluated at the point of separation, excepting for incorporation of a lagged spousal labor supply measure.<sup>27</sup> This measure is drawn from the wave prior to the primary earner's separation, respecting the seam bias inherent in the survey design.<sup>28</sup> Given the inclusion of state and year effects, the model is identified from higher-order interactions of the primary earner's wage, state, and time, assumed to be legitimately excluded from the spousal labor supply decision.<sup>29</sup> Effectively,  $\beta$  is identified by the differential spousal labor supply of high- and low-earning unemployed across states that provide these earnings levels with different relative UI benefits.

A coefficient  $\beta < 0$  is consistent with the notion of UI benefits crowding-out spousal labor supply. As labor supply is multi-dimensional, I consider three measures of spousal labor supply.<sup>30</sup>  $\overline{Employed}_{ist}$  measures spousal labor participation and is constructed as the fraction of months across the unemployment spell of the primary earner that the spouse is employed and reports non-zero earned income.  $\overline{Hours}_{ist}$  is a measure of average spousal weekly hours worked.<sup>31</sup>  $\overline{Earnings}_{ist}$  is a measure of the spousal average weekly earned income.<sup>32</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Individual characteristics include: gender of the spouse, age bins for each partner, educational attainment bins for each partner, race of each partner, and bins for number of children. Characteristics of the primary earner's job, drawn from the wave prior to separation, include: 10 Standard Industrial Classification System (SIC) major industry sector indicators, and 23 Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) major groups occupation indicators. Wage splines include a 21-knot spline in base-period wages of the primary earner, with knots located at the (1st, 5th, 10th, ..., 90th, 95th, 99th) percentiles, for the relevant sample under analysis. Alternative consideration of log-linear and cubic splines yield indistinguishable results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>I do not model a predicted wage for the spouse, as identification would be solely based on functional form assumptions, given inclusion of predictive variables into the model. Results are indistinguishable if a predicted wage is additionally incorporated.

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$ This lagged value is potentially problematic, if there are substantial pre-separation effects. Stephens (2002) documents only small pre-separation effects, mitigating this concern.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>As individuals are required to recall information from the preceding four months of the reference period in each wave, it is unclear how much unique information is contained in monthly responses. Individuals have a tendency to propagate their status at the point of the interview backwards through the preceding months. As a result, a disproportionately large number of labor force transitions are reported on the 'seam' between interviews.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>A potential violation is state trends in spousal labor supply correlation with the evolution of state UI generosity over time. Inclusion of the lagged spousal labor supply measure attempts to control for such a spurious correlation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Each specification is modified with an appropriate measure of pre-separation spousal labor supply.  $Employed_{ist}$  specifications incorporate an indicator for spousal work in the wave prior to separation.  $Hours_{ist}$ specifications incorporate a measure of average weekly hours in the wave prior to separation.  $\overline{Earnings}_{ist}$ specifications incorporate a measure of average weekly earnings in the wave prior to separation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>Both hours worked and earned income are reported monthly. Each measure is scaled by the number of weeks in the relevant month to create an average weekly hours and average weekly earnings measure for each month of the spell. These monthly values are then averaged over the duration of the unemployment spell of the primary earner. Results are comparable if monthly hours and earnings are used and the coefficients scaled by  $\frac{1}{4\cdot 3}$ , given 4.3 weeks on average per month. <sup>2</sup>Cullen and Gruber (2000) scale their crowd-out estimate of hours to derive a measure of earnings crowd-out

Estimation of the responsiveness of  $\overline{Employed}_{ist}$  to UI benefits is conducted through ordinary least squares specifications (ignoring the limited dependent variable), as well as alternative probit specifications. Estimation of the responsiveness of  $\overline{Hours}_{ist}$  and  $\overline{Earnings}_{ist}$  to UI benefits is conducted through ordinary least squares specifications (ignoring the limited dependent variable), as well as alternative Tobit specifications.<sup>33</sup> As Tobits model the 'latent' hours or earnings decision, I additionally report marginal effects on observable spousal hours and spousal earnings.<sup>34</sup>

#### Spousal UI Eligibility

To the extent that both partners' eligible UI benefits are correlated through the relative generosity of the state UI regime, then  $\beta$  will capture both the indirect effect of UI through the eligible UI benefits of the unemployed primary earner, as well as the direct effect of UI resulting from own-eligibility of the spouse. Highlighting this concern, Table 1 reports a rate of spousal UI receipt of 10.7 percent across spells of unemployment for the primary earner. Thus, a coefficient  $\beta < 0$  may spuriously capture the direct effect of UI generosity through spousal eligibility, or at least reflect a downward bias on the estimates presented below, overstating the extent of crowd-out resulting from the indirect effect of UI. In an alternative approach, I restrict to UI-ineligible spouses in Section 4.4 and find these spouses exhibit diminished sensitivity to the eligible UI benefits of the primary earner, providing evidence that the direct effect of UI through spousal eligibility is empirically relevant. Specifically, I find that the ratio of responsiveness of UI-ineligible spouses relative to the aggregate is approximately 82 percent with respect to spousal average monthly labor force participation, 71 percent with respect to spousal average weekly hours worked, and only 54 percent with respect to spousal average weekly earnings.<sup>35</sup> In order to maintain consistency with the existing literature and focus on the representative spell, my baseline specification does not impose these restrictions. Though evidence of a substantive indirect effect of UI generosity in crowding-out spousal labor supply persists efforts to purge estimates of the direct effect of spousal eligibility, the reader is cautioned to interpret these specifications with due scrutiny.

#### Interpretation

Receipt of UI benefits is not automatically provided; rather, an individual satisfying statedefined eligibility criteria must apply for benefits. Amongst eligibles, take-up is much less than

under an average earnings assumption. Yet it is the change in marginal earnings resulting from UI benefits that is of interest. There is no reason ex-ante to expect the marginal labor response to occur uniformly throughout the wage distribution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Estimating conditional hours of work or conditional earnings using a 'Heckit'-type model (Heckman 1979) is an appealing notion. Yet absent an excluded instrument, selection would be identified solely from functional form assumptions.

 $<sup>^{34}</sup>$ Further, given a heavily skewed earnings distribution amongst employed spouses, I alternatively consider a least absolute deviation estimator to ensure that the mean regression is not driven exclusively by top-earning spouses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>Motivation for the comparison and a discussion of the relevant restrictions are contained within Section 4.4. Results of the comparison are presented in Table 6.

full. Blank and Card (1991) estimate take-up rates of roughly 67 percent amongst eligibles, similar to the take-up rate of 64.7 percent amongst unemployed primary earners. An alternative to the use of eligible benefits is to incorporate actual UI benefits receipt amongst the unemployed. However, this poses a potentially serious selection bias, as take-up of UI may be endogenous to benefit level. Thus I do not condition on receipt of UI benefits.<sup>36</sup> Additionally, receipt of public assistance is noisily measured in survey data. While this may call for use of eligibility as an instrument for actual UI receipt, Gruber (1997) persuasively argues that UI benefit eligibility, rather than actual UI receipt, is of direct policy relevance. Results are then interpreted as the crowd-out of spousal labor supply, along multiple dimensions, resulting from a \$100 increase in eligible UI weekly benefits of the unemployed primary earner.

#### Eligible Unemployment Insurance Benefits<sup>37</sup>

Eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner are constructed as non-linear, and in some states complex, functions of wage levels and earnings distribution in the base period.<sup>38</sup> Accurate benefits estimation requires five calendar quarters of earnings history, which is not available for a non-trivial subset of the sample. Instead, I impute an individual's earnings history as completely as the data allow, requiring a minimum of one quarter of wage data.<sup>39</sup> Additional inputs used in determining weekly benefit amounts vary by state-year and include: annual earnings, number of children, spousal work status, and average tax rates. State-specific rules for minimum and maximum weekly benefit amounts are then imposed and vary greatly across states.<sup>40</sup>

A summary of the source of variation in UI generosity across states is presented in Table 2. Although there is benefit generosity variation with each state over time, variation is largely drawn from a cross-state comparison. Average eligible UI weekly benefits by state range from a minimum of \$122 in Alabama to a high of \$274 in Massachusetts, though for the core sample

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Restricting the sample to those who take-up UI could lead to selection bias due to the endogenous nature of the take-up decision with respect to the benefit level (Anderson and Meyer 1997). If factors determining UI take-up are correlated with the change in spousal labor supply, then the estimated crowd-out effect of UI on spousal labor supply will be biased. Further, there is some 'option value' to couples that do not take-up benefits, but derive value from the availability of UI resources should the couple experience a longer-thanexpected unemployment duration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Prior to the Tax Reform Act of 1986, which made all UI benefits taxable after December 31, 1986, UI benefits were tax subsidized for households with income below \$12,000 for single filers and \$18,000 for joint filers. Although potentially problematic, I do not model the subsidy as household income is obviously endogenous to the spousal labor supply decision. Exclusion of potentially impacted years results in comparable inference, albeit at a reduction in precision.

 $<sup>^{38}</sup>$ Example: In January 2001, Texas weekly benefit amounts are assigned as 1/25 of high quarter wages, subject to a minimum wba of \$48 and a maximum wba of \$294. With 13 weeks per quarter, this is designed to replace approximately 50 percent of a recipient's weekly wage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>An alternative approach would impute a complete earnings history for each spell using the previous quarter, regardless of data availability. This would provide a consistent treatment of data limitations, yet discards relevant information. Results are robust to this uniform imputation procedure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>If unemployment is expected to increase earnings, such that the eligible weekly benefit amount exceeds weekly earnings over the base period, I exclude an individual. Point estimates are minimally affected by this exclusion restriction, though precision is improved.

#### average UI weekly benefits are \$179.41

#### Simulated Instrument Approach

Motivation for the implementation of a simulated instruments instrumental variables strategy is drawn from Meyer (1990), noting that a primary earner's eligible UI weekly benefit amount is a function of the legislative environment in a given state-year, but also of individual characteristics. Even with flexible controls, relative state UI generosity may reflect differences in the distribution of incomes and other individual characteristics across states, thus confounding inference. I therefore instrument for predicted eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner using 'simulated eligibility', a strategy developed in Currie and Gruber (1996) and detailed in application to UI generosity in Levine (1993) and Gruber (1997). A related two-step procedure is proposed and implemented in Chetty (2008).

Using the national sample of primary earners in each six month period, given the frequency of reported policy updates, I assign that sample to each state in that period. I calculate each primary earner's eligible weekly benefit amount. I then average the resulting weekly benefit amounts across the simulated sample for each state-year. The resulting instrument is purged of potentially confounding individual characteristics of the individuals in that state-year and is a function of only the legislative environment in that state-year.<sup>42</sup> This simulated instrument is then incorporated as an excluded instrument.

A second motivation for constructing the simulated instrument is related to inherent measurement error of the UI benefits calculator. Although a noisy proxy for eligible benefits for a given individual, due to imputation and imprecise measurement of income distribution throughout the base period, the estimated weekly UI benefit amounts of the primary earners should be correct on average. This noise component, however, will drive the estimated coefficients towards zero in the classical errors-in-variables construction. Although the simulated instrument is, of course, a noisy measure as well, I can reasonably assume that the measurement error is uncorrelated across the measures, provided no systematic over- or under-estimation of weekly benefits amounts. The simulated instruments instrumental variables approach will then produce consistent estimates of the crowd-out of spousal labor supply resulting from eligible weekly UI benefits of the unemployed primary earner under this assumption.<sup>43</sup>

 $<sup>^{41}</sup>$ Nominal benefits are discounted by the CPI to Januray 1990 dollars, allowing for comparison of real benefits across states over time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>As the SIPP panels sample potentially systematically different populations over time, I have alternatively constructed the simulated instrument using a fixed national sample from 1990, with wage data inflated by the Employment Cost Index for wages and salaries. These results, not reported, produce similar results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>One limitation of this approach is the restricted variance of the simulated instrument measure as documented in Table 2. As the instrument is fixed at a point-in-time across all separations within a given state, identification of the baseline model is driven by changes within-state across-time in state UI generosity.

#### 3.4.3 Spousal Labor Supply Response

#### Approximate Replication

As the baseline specification and sample selection is distinct from the analysis of Cullen and Gruber (2000). I perform an approximate replication of their results, reported in Table 3, specification (1). The sample of spells is re-constructed to incorporate all UI-eligible unemployment spells of prime-age males with a sufficient earnings history across the 1984-1988 and 1990-1992 SIPP panels.<sup>44</sup> The estimation model is comparable to Equation (3.1), though no control for pre-separation spousal labor supply is included, and clearly no control for spousal gender is required. Despite dissimilarities in the monetary eligibility and benefits calculators, as well as minor modifications to the estimating equation, point estimates achieved through this approximate replication closely resemble those presented by Cullen and Gruber (2000). I find that a \$100 increase in eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner is associated with a fall in average labor force participation for wives of unemployed husbands of 11.7 percentage points, compared to the existing estimate of 12.6 percentage points. As discussed above, these results are only suggestive of a relationship between spousal labor supply and state UI generosity as measured by the eligible benefits of the primary earner. Inability to separate the indirect effect of UI through the eligible UI benefits of the primary earner from the direct effect of UI through spousal eligibility is problematic in terms of interpreting these results as measures of crowd-out.

#### Extension

Extensions to the approximate replication are presented alongside those results in Table 3. Specifications (2) and (3) maintain focus on the wife's labor supply decision. Through incorporation of the 1993, 1996, and 2001 SIPP panels, the reference period effectively spans 1983-2003. The extended sample produces a reduced estimated measure of responsiveness with respect to the labor participation decision of the wife. \$100 in eligible weekly benefits is associated with a fall in participation of only 7.5 percentage points in specification (2), though the result retains statistical significance. This differential relative to the approximate replication may be explained, at least in part, by a rise in aggregate female labor force participation across this period.<sup>45</sup> Specification (3) then incorporates an explicit control for the wife's preseparation labor supply with an indicator for participation in the wave prior to the husband's separation. Although the results suggests that \$100 in eligible weekly benefits is associated with a 3.3 percentage points decline in labor participation amongst wives, the estimate is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>Cullen and Gruber (2000) follow the literature norm of assigning the husband as the household's primary earner. Across their reference period, in 87 percent of couples the husband earned more over a 2-year period. A similar relationship holds true for only 83 percent of couples in the extended dataset, suggesting increasing prevalence of the wife as the primary earner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Across the extended reference period, the labor force participation of wives in the aggregate employed sample increased from 56.2 percent in 1984 to 67.7 percent in 2003. Plausibly, as wives become more strongly attached to the workforce, the spousal labor supply response along a participation margin is reduced.

statistically significant. The substantial discrepancy is point estimates across specifications casts some doubt upon the estimates of Cullen and Gruber (2000), in terms of their relevance in the presence of increasing female labor participation, but also in terms of the identification strategy.

#### Primary Earners

The baseline model restricts to UI-eligible unemployment spells of the primary earner, empirically identified rather than relying upon gender assignment.<sup>46</sup> Failing to account for the direct effect of UI through spousal eligibility, the results presented below are likely to overstate the effect of eligible weekly UI benefits on average spousal labor supply acting through the eligible UI benefits of the primary earner.

Responsiveness of spousal labor supply along the participation margin is presented in Table 3, specifications (4)-(7). OLS estimates are reported in specification (4) and suggest a marginally significant decline in spousal participation of 4.4 percentage points for every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits. By comparison, the simulated instruments approach results suggests a decline of 8.4 percentage points, reported in specification (5). Given an average participation rate of 57.3 percent across spells and average eligible weekly UI benefits of \$179, this result suggests that absent UI, spousal participation would rise by 15.0 percentage points, or 26.2 percent. Alternatively, this suggests that spousal non-employment rates would fall by 35.1 percent.<sup>47</sup> Probit estimation, incorporating a spousal binary measure of any months employed across the spell, yields similar results. Implementing the simulated instrument approach in specification (7), the marginal effect suggests that every \$100 in eligible weekly benefits reduces participation at any point across the spell by 10.2 percentage points.

Estimates of the responsiveness of spousal labor supply with respect to total hours worked are presented in Table 4. Results of OLS estimation in specification (1) suggest that \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average weekly spousal hours worked across the spell by 2.21 hours. The simulated instruments approach in specification (2) suggests a larger effect, every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average weekly spousal hours by 4.69 hours. Given an average weekly spousal hours worked across spells of 21.5 hours and average eligible weekly UI benefits of \$179, this result suggests that absent UI average weekly spousal hours would increase by 8.4 hours, or 39 percent.<sup>48</sup> Tobit specifications are largely consistent with the linear specifications. Implementing the simulated instruments approach in specification (4), the computed marginal effect on observed hours suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average hours suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average hours suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average hours suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average hours suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average weekly spousal hours suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average weekly spousal hours worked by 4.96 hours.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>Appoximately 16.8 percent of spells are separations where the wife is identified as the primary earner. However, results below are similar restricting to only husbands as the primary earner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>By comparison, Cullen and Gruber (2000) construct a similar measure suggesting that absent UI the spousal non-participation rate would fall by 45 percent.

 $<sup>^{48}</sup>$  By comparison, Cullen and Gruber (2000) estimate that absent UI average weekly spousal hours worked would rise by 30%.

Direct estimates of the spousal earnings response to eligible UI benefits of the primary earner are presented in Table 5.<sup>49</sup> Results of OLS estimation in specification (1) suggest that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average spousal weekly earned income by \$15.42, though the result is marginally significant. The simulated instrument approach in specification (2) suggest a greater responsiveness, that is every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner reduces average spousal weekly earned income by \$29.26. This result can be interpreted as a reduction in spousal earnings in response to eligible UI benefits of the primary earner at a rate of approximately 29.3 percent.<sup>50</sup> Alternatively, given average weekly spousal earned income of \$190 and average eligible weekly UI benefits of \$179, then absent UI average spousal weekly earned income would increase by approximately \$52, or 27.4 percent. Tobit specifications are largely consistent. Implementing the simulated instruments approach in specification (4), the computed marginal effect on observed average weekly spousal earnings suggests that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average weekly spousal earnings by \$30.77, though this result is marginally significant. Similarly, LAD estimation suggests an earned income response that is substantial, yet magnitudes are diminished in relation to mean regression results. Specifically, the simulated instruments approach estimates that every \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits reduces average spousal weekly earnings by \$20.83.

Although these estimates of responsiveness of spousal labor supply to eligible UI benefits of the primary earner are large, the implied increase in average weekly spousal earned income under specification (2) would replace only approximately 11.7 percent of lost income resulting directly from the primary earner's unemployment, an average weekly income loss of \$443.<sup>51</sup> This implied result is small owing primarily to only partial replacement of wages under UI and diminished earnings potential of the spouse relative to the primary earner.

#### 3.4.4 Restricting to UI-Ineligible Spouses

As previously discussed, interpretation of  $\beta$  in Equation (3.1) as a measure of crowd-out of spousal labor supply resulting from the indirect effect of UI through the eligible UI benefits of the primary earner is potentially problematic. Specifically, the state UI regime may have a direct effect on spousal labor supply through own-eligibility of the spouse. As reported in Table 1, column (2), 10.7 percent of spells of unemployment for the UI-eligible primary earner

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>I could plausibly estimate the earnings response in terms of actual UI benefits received by the primary earner by scaling these results by the inverted benefit take-up rate in my sample, 64.7 percent. This suggests that spousal earnings would fall by 45.2 percent of UI benefits received, relying upon the simulated instruments approach in specification (2). However, in light of selection bias and 'option-value' of UI for non-recipients, this may only be interpreted as an upper-bound.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>Cullen and Gruber (2000) do not directly estimate the spousal earnings response. Scaling their total hours of work result by the average spousal wage, the authors arrive at an estimated reduction in spousal earnings of 36 percent of eligible UI benefits of the primary earner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>By comparison, Cullen and Gruber (2000) calculate that spousal labor supply would increase sufficiently to offset 13 percent of the husband's lost earnings absent UI.

result in take-up of UI benefits for the spouse. By under-estimating the total household eligible UI benefits, the magnitude of the  $\beta$  coefficient is biased upwards. Further, own-eligibility for UI benefits creates a substitution effect for the spouse, subsidizing leisure and discouraging labor supply, imposing a negative bias on  $\beta$ . Both sources of bias will tend to overstate the spouse's responsiveness.<sup>52</sup> This approach is particularly problematic in terms of interpreting heterogeneous crowd-out of spousal labor supply, detailed in Section 3.5, as heterogeneity in the total effect may be driven by heterogeneity in either the indirect or direct effect of UI generosity.

In response, I impose additional sample exclusion criteria to produce a sample of unemployment spells for which spouses are identified as UI-ineligible at the point of separation. Based upon spousal earnings history within the respective panel prior to the separation of the primary earner, I exclude spells for which the spouse is identified as UI-eligible. Further, spells for which the spouse is reportedly on layoff or looking for work are excluded if there is an insufficient observation period prior to separation as to determine spousal UI eligibility. In total 1,440 spells satisfy these criteria, of which 232 are spells of unemployment of the primary earner with a working spouse prior to separation, typically with weak labor force attachment. Thus, I exclude spells with a working spouse prior to separation, and focus the analysis exclusively upon the 1,208 spells with a non-working, UI-ineligible spouse prior to separation.<sup>53</sup>

Table 1 presents descriptive statistics for the aggregate sample of all spells with a non-working spouse prior to separation in column (3), and spells satisfying the additional exclusion criteria detailed above in column (4). As expected, the spousal take-up of UI benefits at some point within the spell falls from 12.9 percent of spells for the aggregate sample to 0.9 percent of spells satisfying the additional exclusion criteria. This is consistent with the notion that the exclusion criteria eliminates major threats to interpretability poised by the direct effect of UI benefits on spousal labor supply decisions.<sup>54</sup> These exclusions do not, however, impact the UI take-up rate for the unemployed primary earner, 62.2 percent for the aggregate sample and 62.4 percent for the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses. Further, the two populations are very similar with respect to eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner, \$169 compared to \$170.

 $<sup>^{52}</sup>$ As a specification check, I estimate models of the same form as Equation (3.1) for the sample of *employed* spells for primary earners detailed in Table 1, column (1). Reassuringly, none of the estimates are significant. Implementing the simulated instruments approach, each \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits is associated with a decline in average spousal labor participation of 1.9 percentage points, a decline in average spousal weekly hours of 0.95 hours, and a decline in average spousal weekly earnings of \$6.68. Although not statistically significant, these estimates are sizeable, and cause for concern.

An alternative interpretation of these results is as rational, tempered declines in spousal labor supply while the primary earner is employed in anticipation of increased smoothing opportunities presented by more generous UI.

 $<sup>^{53}</sup>$  The sample of spells with a working, UI-ineligible spouse prior to separation is too small to warrant a separate investigation and potentially impedes interpretation of results in a jointly estimated model, particularly in the context of heterogeneous responses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>The implied take-up rate amongst excluded spells is roughly 40 percent, suggesting that the exclusion criteria rejects the majority of UI-eligible spouses as well as some UI-ineligible spouses.

Average spousal labor participation across spells, however, is greater for the aggregate sample, 25.0 percent, in comparison to the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses, 16.8 percent.<sup>55</sup> These restrictions additionally vary the composition of spells with respect to gender; husbands as the primary earner constitute 83.8 percent of the aggregate sample of spells with a non-working spouse prior to separation, compared to 88.7 percent of spells additional satisfying the criteria of a UI-ineligible spouse.<sup>56</sup>

To determine the implications of these restrictions in terms of evaluating the crowd-out of spousal labor supply, I estimate modified specifications of the form of Equation (3.1).<sup>57</sup> These results are presented in Table 6. Across all specifications, the aggregate sample of spells with a non-working spouse prior to separation exhibits increased responsiveness to eligible UI benefits of the primary earner relative to the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses. The aggregate sample demonstrates a fall in average spousal labor participation of 13.77 percentage points in response to \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner, as reported in specification (2). This estimate exceeds the 11.24 percentage points estimate in specification (4) for the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses, through which the direct effect of UI cannot operate, are only approximately 82 percent as responsive as the aggregate sample of spells with non-working spouses prior to separation. Amongst UI-ineligible spouses, this result suggests that average spousal participation absent UI would increase by 19.1 percentage points, scaled by average eligible weekly UI benefits of \$179.

In terms of spousal average weekly hours, each \$100 in eligible UI benefits of the primary earner decreases spousal weekly hours by 6.62 hours for the aggregate sample, compared to 4.70 hours for the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses. These results imply that the sample of UI-ineligible spouses, through which the direct effect of UI cannot operate, are only approximately 71 percent as responsive as the aggregate sample of spells with non-working spouses prior to separation. Amongst UI-ineligible spouses, this result corresponds to an expected increase in average weekly hours absent UI of 7.99 hours, scaled by average eligible weekly UI benefits of \$170.

Similarly, the crowd-out rate estimate of spousal average weekly earnings in response to eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner is 61.55 percent for the aggregate sample in specification (10), compared to a crowd-out rate of 32.95 percent for the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses in specification (12). These results imply that the restricted sample of

 $<sup>^{55}</sup>$  The higher rate of average labor participation for the aggregate sample does not suggest that concerns above are unwarranted. Rather, it is still entirely possible that the exit hazard from the unemployed state is impacted meaningfully by the state UI regime.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup>It would be interesting to re-evaluate the heterogeneity of crowd-out measures with respect to the gender of the spouse after restricting to UI-ineligible spouses. Regrettably, an already modest sample of wives as primary earners is reduced to an unusable size.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>As both the aggregate sample and the sample of UI-ineligible spouses are conditioned on a non-working spouse prior to separation of the primary earner, I exclude the pre-separation spousal labor supply control.

UI-ineligible spouses, through which the direct effect of UI cannot operate, are only approximately 54 percent as responsive as the aggregate sample. These results re-affirm the notion that UI-eligible spouses respond to both the indirect effect of UI through eligible UI benefits of the primary earner and the direct effect of UI through own-eligibility. Although spousal eligibility for UI poses a serious endogeneity problem for the aggregate sample of non-working spouses, the data restrictions imposed above ensure that estimates of crowd-out for the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses are purged of the direct effect of UI. Thus  $\beta$  identifies the crowd-out of spousal labor supply resulting from the indirect effect of UI through the eligible UI benefits of the unemployed primary earner. For the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses, these estimates correspond to increased spousal weekly earnings absent UI of \$56 when scaled by average eligible weekly UI benefits of the primary earner, \$170 as reported in Table 1. Yet these increased earnings would only offset roughly 13 percent of lost transitory income of the primary earner, scaled by average weekly pre-separation earnings of \$424, suggesting that spousal labor supply would only imperfectly insure against unemployment of the primary earner absent social insurance provision through UI.

## 3.5 Asset Heterogeneity

#### 3.5.1 Identifying Liquidity Constrained Households

A recent literature identifies heterogeneous effects of UI generosity across liquidity constrained groups along a number of behavioral dimensions. Browning and Crossley (2001), Bloemen and Stancanelli (2005), and Sullivan (2008) detail that consumption falls across employment status are mitigated by UI generosity for households with little financial assets, though households with higher asset holdings exhibit limited sensitivity. Chetty (2008) finds similar evidence with respect to hazard rates for leaving unemployment. In related work, Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston (2008) find that consumption-income co-movement is pronounced for households with low asset holdings. A natural extension, then, of the above framework is to evaluate heterogeneous sensitivity of spousal labor supply with respect to eligible UI benefits of the primary earner amongst plausibly liquidity constrained households relative to liquidity unconstrained households.

The SIPP is designed to provide a broader context for analysis by incorporating supplemental data contained within 'topical modules', uniquely matched to individuals within the 'core' dataset. Though the SIPP contains no direct measure of a household's access to credit markets, SIPP respondents are interviewed about detailed household holdings at a single interview point in the 1985, 1987, and 1990-1993 panels, at two points in the 1986 panel, and once annually in the 1996 and 2001 panels. As a result, pre-separation asset data are available for approximately 55 percent of these spells. Although the SIPP imputation methodology has been criticized (Curtin et al. 1989, Hoynes et al. 1998), non-random imputation suggests

potential bias from the exclusion of imputed values, thus I retain these observations.<sup>58</sup> I focus on net liquid wealth as the primary proxy for a couple's access to credit markets.<sup>59</sup> Following Chetty (2008), I define net liquid wealth as gross liquid assets less unsecured debt.<sup>60</sup> I include only observations for which I observe asset holdings prior to the point of separation, to avoid issues of asset draw-down during an unemployment spell, which may respond to the level of UI generosity.

A secondary proxy for liquidity constrained couples is mortgage status prior to separation.<sup>61</sup> Gruber (1998) finds that less than 5 percent of the unemployed sell their homes during an unemployment spell, in contrast to high mobility amongst renters. A couple burdened with mortgage payments prior to separation has a fixed consumption obligation, limiting the couple's ability to smooth other forms of consumption (Chetty and Szeidl 2007).<sup>62</sup> For both imperfect proxies of liquidity constraint status, misclassification will bias the differential across the stratified results towards zero.

Given compelling evidence of a heterogeneous unemployment duration response across household liquidity constrained status (Chetty 2008), interpreting stratified results of the form of Equation (3.1) is hindered by an inability to separate: (1) heterogeneous responses to the direct effect of spousal eligibility for UI benefits from (2) heterogeneous responses to the indirect effects of eligible UI benefits of the primary earner. Therefore, I restrict to consider only spells where the spouse is identified as UI-ineligible, as detailed previously in Section 4.4. Absent this restriction, investigation of the role of household liquidity constraints would be rendered uninterpretable.<sup>63</sup>

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

Descriptive statistics for the pooled sample and across quartiles of net liquid wealth are presented in Table 7.<sup>64</sup> The most striking statistic is that the median separation occurs with \$0 in net liquid wealth, though the distribution is skewed, with mean reporting of  $$11,676.^{65}$  Also,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>Gruber (2001) finds no systematic difference in results owing to exclusion of imputed results, though wealth adequacy is approximately 50 percent lower, reflecting the non-random imputation assignment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>Cullen and Gruber (2000) note that asset proxies for liquidity constraint may be inappropriate in light of endogeneity of household assets to UI generosity, as documented in Engen and Gruber (2001). However, recent analysis from Klein (2009) casts suspicion over the robustness of these results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>Liquid wealth is defined as total wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Net liquid wealth is defined as liquid wealth minus unsecured debts. Substantial unsecured debt may limit a household's ability to finance an unemployment spell.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>Net liquid wealth may not proxy a couple's access to credit, as couples with negative net liquid wealth may instead proxy for access to unsecured borrowing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup>This consumption commitment results in heightened risk aversion over moderate losses. Thus a mortgage may result in additional value of spousal labor supply to protect the couple against further financial shocks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>Stratification across proxies of liquidity constraint with the pooled sample of spells yields similar parameter concentrations. As mentioned, it is difficult to interpret these heterogeneous responses, so I present only the results for the restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup>Quartiles do not contain equal numbers of spells, as a non-trivial number of separators report no household wealth accumulation. As a result, the respective spell counts across quartiles are: 165, 184, 145, and 165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup>Gruber (2001) finds that the median worker holds sufficient gross financial assets to cover roughly two-thirds

net liquid wealth is non-monotonic in liquid wealth, as the first quartile has \$70 in median liquid wealth relative to \$4,895 in median unsecured debt, compared to the second quartile with \$0 in median liquid wealth, but also \$0 in median unsecured debt. In the pooled sample, 46.9 percent of spells occur amongst couples with a mortgage prior to separation. Although it is unsurprising that quartile 4 contains the highest concentration of spells with a mortgage, 64.0 percent, the next highest concentration occurs within quartile 1, with 57.6 percent.<sup>66</sup>

Average spousal labor participation across spells in the pooled sample is 17.5 percent. Conditional upon participation, the average spousal weekly hours is 27.1 hours. Both average spousal participation rates and average spousal weekly hours vary across the quartiles of net liquid wealth, ranging from 13.7 percent participation in quartile 2 to 21.3 percent participation in quartile 3, and from 21.1 conditional hours in quartile 4 to 31.4 conditional hours in quartile 1. Similarly, observed wages vary across the quartiles, from \$6.21 in quartile 2 to \$7.46 in quartile 4. As a result of relatively low spousal participation rates and relatively low conditional hours, unconditional average spousal weekly earnings range from \$20 for quartile 2 to \$43 for quartile 4. Conditional upon participation, average spousal weekly earnings range from \$106 for quartile 2 to \$184 for quartile 1.

#### 3.5.2 Stratification Across Proxies

To evaluate the potentially heterogeneous sensitivity of liquidity constrained households to eligible UI benefits, I stratify across proxies for household liquidity constraint and estimate modified specifications of the form of Equation (3.1), incorporating a further linear control for total (illiquid and liquid) wealth.<sup>67</sup> Stratification, rather than joint estimation with commonly identified controls, is important in light of demographic heterogeneity across quartiles of net liquid wealth.

Results of stratification across spells with net liquid wealth levels below and above the median pooled net liquid wealth level are presented in Table 9.<sup>68</sup> Although the results are imprecisely estimated, concentration patterns are nonetheless suggestive of an associated liquidity effect. Average spousal participation for couples proxied as liquidity constrained falls by 38.75 percentage points for each \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits in specification (2), more responsive

of income loss from an unemployment spell, though the extremely skewed distribution suggests that one-third of workers are unable to replace even 10 percent of the income loss. The implication of incorporating net liquid assets suggests further inadequacy of private savings at the median, though the distribution remains highly skewed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>This is re-assuring in light of the evidence to follow. The results suggest that this subset of spells with both negative net liquid wealth and a consumption commitment in the form of a mortgage may be most responsive to eligible UI benefits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup>As noted above, the sample of UI-eligible spells of unemployment for the primary earner with a UI-ineligible spouse imposes a non-working restriction on the spouse prior to separation of the primary earner. As a result, I omit the control for pre-separation spousal labor supply.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>Stratification across quartiles places too high a demand on the data.

that the 6.99 percentage points decline for proxied liquidity unconstrained households in specification (8).<sup>69</sup> Thus couples proxied as liquidity unconstrained are approximately only 18.0 percent as responsive as couples proxied as liquidity constrained. This is similar to the results for average spousal hours worked in specifications (4) and (10), and average spousal earnings in specifications (6) and (12), which suggest that couples proxied as liquidity unconstrained are only 17.2 percent and 26.2 percent as responsive, respectively, as couples proxied as liquidity constrained.

Results of stratification across the mortgage proxy of liquidity constraint are presented in Table 9. These results are largely consistent with the use of the net liquid wealth proxy. Yet unlike the net liquid wealth proxy, the constrained couples under the mortgage proxy typically report higher wages and higher educational attainment of both the primary earner and the spouse relative to the unconstrained couples, primarily renters. This provides a reasonable cross-check that heterogeneous effects of the crowd-out of spousal labor supply are not driven spuriously by other demographic factors. Recall that couples with a mortgage at the point of separation face a fixed consumption obligation across a period of low transitory income. Supplemental income through eligible UI benefits of the primary earner relaxes this constraint. Average spousal participation for couples proxied as liquidity constrained under the mortgage proxy falls by 35.06 percentage points for each \$100 in eligible weekly UI benefits in specification (2), more responsive that the 4.12 percentage points decline for proxied liquidity unconstrained households in specification (8). Thus, couples proxied as liquidity unconstrained under the mortgage proxy are only approximately 11.8 percent as responsive as couples proxied as liquidity constrained. This is similar to the results for average spousal hours worked in specifications (4) and (10), and average spousal earnings in specifications (6) and (12), which suggest that couples proxied as liquidity unconstrained are 13.3 percent and 17.6 percent as responsive, respectively, as couples proxied as liquidity constrained under the mortgage proxy.

These results are consistent with a negative interaction effect of eligible UI benefits and liquidity constraint on spousal labor supply, illustrating excess sensitivity to cash-in-hand for groups likely to experience a liquidity effect. Note that for this restricted sample, UI generosity is assumed to operate only indirectly through the eligible UI benefits of the primary earner, given restriction to UI-ineligible spouses. These results are suggestive of an associated liquidity effect, and are not driven through heterogeneity in the direct effect of UI.

## 3.6 Conclusion

UI plays a theoretically important role in mitigating the extent of the spousal labor supply response to unemployment of the household's primary earner. Existing empirical evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>OLS results are statistically insignificant across all specifications, though magnitudes are consistently greater for couples with below-median net liquid wealth levels relative to those with above-median levels.

of crowd-out of spousal earnings by eligible UI benefits of the unemployed primary earner suggests a spousal earnings crowd-out rate of 36 percent (Cullen and Gruber 2000). However, issues concerning identification of the crowd-out of spousal labor supply render this previous work difficult to interpret. Across all measures of spousal labor supply, the aggregate sample of non-working spouses exhibits increased responsiveness to eligible UI benefits of the primary earner relative to the sample of UI-ineligible spouses, plausibly due to the confounding factor of spousal eligibility. Within a restricted sample of UI-ineligible spouses, I find a comparable spousal earnings crowd-out rate of 33 percent. In spite of this responsiveness, the implied increase in spousal earnings absent UI would only offset roughly 13 percent of the lost transitory income of the unemployed primary earner. This indicates that even absent social insurance in the form of UI, spousal labor supply would only imperfectly insure against unemployment of the primary earner.

Extending the analysis to consideration of a couple's liquidity constrained status at the point of separation reveals parameter concentrations consistent with an associated liquidity effect. In the context of a life cycle model, there is limited scope for a transitory income shock such as unemployment to substantively affect the spousal labor supply. Liquidity constraints, proxied by low levels of net liquid wealth, or consumption commitments, such as the mortgage proxy, rationalize this behavior. In the presence of such constraints, the spousal labor supply would be relatively more responsive to transitory income fluctuations of the primary earner. Identification of a liquidity effect suggests that UI partially corrects for imperfections in credit markets.

In the context of current public policy debate, persistently high levels of unemployment have placed strain on state and federal budgets to continue providing benefits under statutory UI provisions. The role of UI in crowding-out spousal labor supply as insurance against the adverse event of unemployment of the household's primary earner provides powerful insight into the counterfactual policy where social insurance, in the form of UI, does not provide a statecontingent transitory income stream. Although estimates of crowd-out are high, suggestive evidence of an associated liquidity effect indicates a socially beneficial role of UI in crowdingout spousal labor supply. Future work should prioritize evaluation of the crowd-out of spousal labor supply with respect to extended time horizons, as unemployment has prolonged negative earnings effects not captured in this analysis.

## References

Anderson, Patricia and Bruce Meyer. 1994. "The Effects of Unemployment Insurance Taxes and Benefits on Layoffs Using Firm and Individual Data." NBER Working Paper #4960.

Anderson, Patricia and Bruce Meyer. 1997. "Unemployment Insurance Take-up Rates and the After-Tax Value of Benefits." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 112(August): 913-937.

Blank, Rebecca M. and David E. Card. 1991. "Recent Trends in Insured and Uninsured Unemployment: Is There an Explanation?" *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 106(4): 1157-89.

Bloemen, Hans and Elena Stancanelli. 2005. "Financial Wealth, Consumption Smoothing and Income Shocks Arising from Job Loss." *Economica* 72(August): 431-452.

Blundell, Richard, Luigi Pistaferri, and Ian Preston. 2008. "Consumption Inequality and Partial Insurance," *American Economic Review* 98(5): 1887-1921.

Bowen, William and T. Aldrich Finegan. 1965. "Labor Force Participation and Unemployment." *Employment Policy and the Labor Market*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Bowen, William and T. Aldrich Finegan. 1968. *The Economics of Labor Force Participation*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Brown, David. 2010. "Maintaining Health Insurance Coverage for the Unemployed: The Role of Continuation of Coverage Mandates." Unpublished paper.

Browning, Martin and Thomas F. Crossley. 2001. "Unemployment Insurance Benefit Levels and Consumption Changes." *Journal of Public Economics* 80(1): 1-23.

Browning, Martin and Annamaria Lusardi. 1996. "Household Saving: Micro Theories and Micro Facts." *Journal of Economic Literature* 34(4): 1797-1855.

Cain, Glen. 1966. Married Women in the Labor Force; An Economic Analysis. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Chetty, Raj. 2008. "Moral Hazard versus Liquidity and Optimal Unemployment Insurance." *Journal of Political Economy* 116(2): 173-234.

Chetty, Raj and Emmanuel Saez. 2010. "Optimal Taxation and Social Insurance with Endogenous Private Insurance." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 2(2): 85-114.

Chetty, Raj and Adam Szeidl. 2007. "Consumption Commitments and Risk Preferences." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 122(2): 831-877.

Clark, Kim B. and Lawrence H. Summers. 1979. "Labor Market Dynamics and Unemployment: A Reconsideration" *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1: 13–60. Cullen, Julie Berry and Jonathan Gruber. 1996. "Spousal Labor Supply as Insurance: Does Unemployment Insurance Crowd out the Added Worker Effect?" NBER Working Paper #5608.

Cullen, Julie Berry and Jonathan Gruber. 2000. "Does Unemployment Insurance Crowd out Spousal Labor Supply?" Journal of Labor Economics 18(3): 546-572.

Currie, Janet and Jonathan Gruber. 1996. "Health Insurance Eligibility, Utilization of Medical Care, and Child Health." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 111(2): 431-66.

Curtin, Richard T., F. Thomas Juster, and James N. Morgan. 1989. "Survey Estimates of Wealth: An Assessment of Quality." The Measuring of Saving, Investment, and Wealth. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Engen, Eric and Jonathan Gruber. 2001. "Unemployment Insurance and Precautionary Savings." *Journal of Monetary Economics* 47: 545-579.

Fallick, Bruce C. 1996. "A Review of the Recent Empirical Literature on Displaced Workers." Industrial and Labor Relations Review 50(1): 5-16.

Feldstein, Martin. 1978. "The Private and Social Costs of Unemployment." American Economic Review 68(2): 155-158.

Gruber, Jonathan. 1997. "The Consumption Smoothing Benefits of Unemployment Insurance." *American Economic Review* 87: 192–205.

Gruber, Jonathan. 1998. "Unemployment Insurance, Consumption Smoothing, and Private Insurance: Evidence from the PSID and CEX." *Research in Employment Policy* 1(1998): 3-32.

Gruber, Jonathan. 2001. "The Wealth of the Unemployed." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 55(1): 79-94.

Hamermesh, Daniel. 1989. "What Do We Know about Worker Displacement in the U.S.?" *Industrial Relations* 28(1): 47-74.

Heckman, James. 1979. "Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error." *Econometrica* 47: 153–61.

Heckman, James and Thomas MaCurdy. 1980. "A Life Cycle Model of Female Labour Supply." *Review of Economic Studies* 47(1): 47-74.

Heckman, James and Thomas MaCurdy. 1982. "Corrigendum on A Life Cycle Model of Female Labour Supply." *Review of Economic Studies* 49: 659-660.

Hoynes, Hilary, Michael Hurd, and Harish Chand. 1998. "Household Wealth of the Elderly Under Alternative Imputation Procedures." *Inquiries In The Economics of Aging.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press: 229-254.

Johnson, David, Jonathan A. Parker, and Nicholas S. Souleles. 2006. "Household Expenditure and the Income Tax Rebates of 2001." *American Economic Review 96* (December): 1589-1610.

Klein, Sean. 2009. "Precautionary Savings, Insurance Generosity, and Portfolio Choice." Unpublished paper.

Layard, Richard, M Barton, and Antoni Zabalza. 1980. "Married Women's Participation and Hours." *Economica*. 47(185): 51-72.

Levine, Phillip B. 1993. "Spillover Effects Between the Insured and Uninsured Unemployed." Industrial and Labor Relations Review 47: 73–86.

Long, Clarence. 1958. The Labor Force Under Changing Income and Employment. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Lundberg, Shelly. 1985. "The Added Worker Effect." Journal of Labor Economics 3(1): 11-37.

Maloney, Tim. 1987. "Employment Constraints and the Labor Supply of Married Women: A Reexamination of the Added Worker Effect." *The Journal of Human Resources* 22(1): 51-61.

Maloney, Tim. 1991. "Unobserved Variables and the Elusive Added Worker Effect." *Economica* 58(230): 173-187.

Meyer, Bruce. 1990. "Unemployment Insurance and Unemployment Spells." *Econometrica* 58 (4): 757–782.

Moffitt, Robert. 1985. "Unemployment Insurance and the Distribution of Unemployment Spells." *Journal of Econometrics* 28(April): 85-101.

Mincer, Jacob. 1962. "Labour Force Participation of Married Women." Aspects of Labour Economics. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Ruhm, Christopher. 1991. "Are Workers Permanently Scarred by Job Displacements?" American Economic Review 81(1): 319-324.

Spletzer, James R. 1997, "Reexamining the Added Worker Effect." *Economic Inquiry* 35(2): 417-427.

Stephens, Jr., Melvin. 2002. "Worker Displacement and the Added Worker Effect." *Journal of Labor Economics* 20(3): 504-537.

Stevens, Ann. 1997. "Persistent Effects of Job Displacement: The Importance of Multiple Job Losses." *Journal of Labor Economics* 15(1): 165-188.

Sullivan, James X. 2008. "Borrowing During Unemployment: Unsecured Debt as a Safety Net," *Journal of Human Resources* 43(2): 383-412.

Topel, Robert. 1983. "On Layoffs and Unemployment Insurance," *American Economic Review* 73(4): 541-59.

Topel, Robert. 1990. "Specific Capital and Unemployment: Measuring the Costs and Consequences of Job Loss." *Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy* 33(2): 181-214. Woytinsky, Wladimir S. 1942. *Three Aspects of Labor Dynamics*. Washington, DC: Committee on Social Security, Social Science Research Council.

			Spousal Restricti	ons at Separation
			Non-Working	Non-Working, UI-Ineligible
Employment Status of the Primary Earner	Employed	Unemployed	Unemployed	Unemployed
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Spousal Labor Supply				
Employed	64.3	51.5		
Mean (Employed) Across Spell		57.3	25.0	16.8
Weekly Hours	22.5	20.5		
Mean (Weekly Hours) Across Spell		21.5	9.9	6.1
Weekly Hours, Hours>0	34.9	35.4		
Mean (Weekly Hours) Across Spell, Hours>0		35.9	32.3	30.0
Weekly Earnings	\$211	\$152		
Mean (Weekly Earnings) Across Spell		\$190	\$73	\$39
Weekly Earnings, Earnings>0	\$328	\$296		
Mean (Weekly Earnings) Across Spell, Earnings>0		\$307	\$240	\$189
Mean Hourly Wage	\$9.15	\$8.23	\$7.18	\$6.41
Damagnakia				
Demographics	00.2	02.2	01.0	00 7
Spouse Female	80.3	83.2	83.8	88.7
Age	39.0	39.0	30.5	36.Z
Spouse Age	37.8	37.1	37.0	30.8
Non-White	8.3	10.2	8.9	7.5
Spouse Non-White	10.9	13.1	11.8	10.5
Number of Children	1.3	1.6	1.9	2.0
Education: Less than HS	7.9	19.4	25.6	28.3
Education: HS Graduate	30.8	37.0	37.0	35.0
Education: Some College	25.6	22.9	20.0	20.2
Education: 4+ Years of College	35.7	20.7	17.4	16.5
Spouse Education: Less than HS	9.3	17.8	25.2	27.2
Spouse Education: HS Graduate	36.8	40.3	39.8	40.6
Spouse Education: Some College	28.1	24.9	21.3	20.0
Spouse Education: 4+ Years of College	25.8	16.9	13.6	12.2
Annual Earnings	\$31,755	\$23,130	\$21,328	\$22,052
Median Annual Earnings	\$28,057	\$19,541	\$17,149	\$17,439
Mean Spousal Hourly Wage by Gender/Education/State/Year	\$9.17	\$8.53	\$8.23	\$7.98
State Unemployment Rate	6.1	6.5	6.7	6.7
Completed Spell Durations (Weeks)				
Duration		21.4	21.8	22.1
Median Duration		16.0	16.0	17.0
III Panafita				
Eligible Real W/RA		¢170	\$160	\$170
Eligible III Poplacement Pata		21/3 A7 C	10 7	γ1/U ΛQ 7
Lingible Of Replacement Rate		41.0	47./ 67.7	40.7 67 A
ULIARE-UP RATE		04./	12.2	02.4
Spousal Receipt	7.4	10.7	12.9	0.9
Number of Spells	44 614	3 591	1 743	1 208

 Table 1

 Summary Statistics Across Samples of Interest

Table entries are mean values unless noted otherwise. Unemployment spells are restricted to UI-eligible separations of the empirically-identified household primary earner. Spells are restricted to couples continuously married throughout the respective panel. The employed sample includes pre-separation employed spells for individuals experiecning UI-eligible unemployment spells as the primary earner at some point within the panel, as well as the sample of continuously employed individuals identified as the household's primary earner. Statistics are based upon the wave prior to separation unless noted otherwise, with exception of the employed sample, for which values are averaged across the spell of employment. Data are drawn from the 1984-1988, 1990-1993, 1996, and 2001 SIPP panels. Left-censored spells of unemployment (in-progress at the start of the panel), are excluded. UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. UI replacement rate is constructed as the eligible weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-separation wage. Duration is defined as weeks elapsed from end of last job to start of next job and does not adjust for right-censoring (spells in-progress at the end of the panel). All monetary values are in real 1990 values.

		onemployment	isurance denerosity by a		
	Number of	Mean Weekly Benefit	Standard Deviation of	Mean Simulated	Standard Deviation of
State	Spells	Amount	WBA	Instrument (WBA)	SI (WBA)
Alabama	76	122.37	32.67	121.44	10.07
Arizona	67	140.82	22.68	134.03	8.61
Arkansas	30	166.35	57.20	161.86	16.67
California	490	159.81	47.30	145.72	14.66
Colorado	44	199.85	61.46	159.16	24.73
Connecticut	56	236.24	58.97	189.52	22.00
Delaware	12	158.99	53.28	159.36	18.91
D.C.	5	130.10	75.78	204.00	12.59
Florida	178	162.71	48.16	151.43	17.34
Georgia	87	154.91	37.57	142.77	17.88
Hawaii	4	227.46	64.87	149.48	21.36
Illinois	188	196.76	68.66	162.76	19.52
Indiana	74	145.32	37.49	133.81	24.41
Kansas	42	192.70	47.22	172.69	16.66
Kentucky	47	154.33	58.87	149.33	19.93
Louisiana	82	157.12	57.58	142.83	30.47
Maryland	54	195.34	21.62	167.70	12.31
Massachusetts	89	274.11	73.09	208.98	27.15
Minnesota	91	203.18	73.66	174.47	24.33
Mississippi	58	130.95	29.96	130.34	7.73
Missouri	94	146.16	20.93	137.51	11.80
Nebraska	22	124.55	34.28	128.50	10.91
Nevada	8	181.10	30.82	157.54	14.97
New Hampshire	10	156.31	56.65	134.78	22.48
New Jersey	132	236.84	72.65	191.63	24.48
New Mexico	6	140.53	41.13	143.99	20.92
New York	220	181.04	66.39	155.67	23.12
North Carolina	95	189.93	56.86	170.82	24.70
Ohio	186	169.50	62.11	147.87	15.79
Oklahoma	58	173.59	45.79	171.76	14.77
Oregon	63	208.24	58.97	167.68	18.29
Pennsylvania	167	238.03	62.10	205.33	20.77
Rhode Island	13	286.94	68.91	207.77	31.36
South Carolina	42	151.50	37.52	141.25	16.32
Tennessee	84	135.82	35.35	135.95	17.55
Texas	326	175.87	56.65	169.92	15.37
Utah	14	196.91	54.15	173.15	19.87
Virginia	53	164.37	34.01	147.30	12.52
Washington	99	206.41	68.27	176.87	23.62
West Virginia	57	162.32	71.70	161.11	15.37
Wisconsin	68	181.14	53.00	159.44	21.55
United States	3 591	178 93	63.84	159.52	27.82

 Table 2

 Unemployment Insurance Generosity by State

Spell counts indicate the number of UI eligible unemployment spells observed within each uniquely identified state across the 1984-1988, 1990-1993, 1996, and 2001 SIPP panels. Eligibility includes both monetary and non-monetary components. Calculated weekly benefit amounts and replacement rates are constructed through simulation at the individual level, building upon the benefits/eligibility calculators developed in Gruber (1997) and modified by Chetty (2008). Discussion regarding construction of the simulated instruments is presented in Section 4.2. All monetary values are in real 1990 values.

	Cullen-Guber:1				• •				
Sample Restrictions	Males, 1983-1993	Males, 19	83-2003 <sup>2</sup>			Primary Earners, 1983-2003 <sup>3</sup>			
	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	2SLS	Pro	bit	IVPr	obit
Mean Dependent	0.614	0.648	0.648	.573	.573	.57	73	.57	73
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6	i)	(7	')
UI WBA	-0.1174**	-0.0753**	0334	-0.0441*	-0.0842**	-0.0970*	[-0.0332]	-0.3299***	[-0.1017]
	(0.0531)	(0.0375)	(.0308)	(0.0236)	(0.0348)	(0.0497)		(0.0905)	
Spouse Female				-0.1190***	-0.1190***	-0.5260***	[-0.1541]	-0.5250***	[-0.1541]
				(0.0280)	(0.0274)	(0.1151)	'	(0.1155)	
Average Spousal Wage	0.0100	0.0150**	0.0100**	0.0090	0.0090	0.0280	[0.0091]	0.0280	[0.0092]
	(0.0092)	(0.0066)	(0.0047)	(0.0065)	(0.0062)	(0.0218)		(0.0218)	
State Unemployment Rate	-0.0120*	-0.0110*	-0.0010	-0.0130	-0.0110	-0.0320	[-0.0108]	-0.0270	[-0.0091]
	(0.0067)	(0.0058)	(0.0044)	(0.0093)	(0.0088)	(0.0286)		(0.0259)	
Spouse Age 30-34	0.0110	0.0060	-0.0010	0.0170	0.0560	0.2090	[0.0664]	0.2040	[0.0648]
	(0.0231)	(0.0185)	(0.0217)	(0.0373)	(0.0464)	(0.1757)		(0.1777)	
Spouse Age 35-39	0.0832**	0.0670***	0.0110	0.0130	0.0540	0.1680	[0.0541]	0.1650	[0.0533]
	(0.0362)	(0.0219)	(0.0213)	(0.0322)	(0.0395)	(0.1501)		(0.1510)	
Spouse Age 40-44	0.0930	0.0530*	0.0110	0.0350	0.0760**	0.1150	[0.0375]	0.1130	[0.0369]
	(0.0607)	(0.0300)	(0.0265)	(0.0250)	(0.0341)	(0.1296)		(0.1307)	
Spouse Age 45-49	0.0380	0.0220	0.0040	0.0520	0.0930**	0.2380*	[0.0753]	0.2380*	[0.0752]
	(0.0574)	(0.0339)	(0.0253)	(0.0318)	(0.0371)	(0.1374)		(0.1374)	
Spouse Age 50-54	0.0660	0.0540	0.0260	0.0420*	0.0400*	0.0690	[0.0226]	0.0660	[0.0217]
	(0.0852)	(0.0554)	(0.0359)	(0.0247)	(0.0243)	(0.1028)		(0.1052)	
Spouse Non-White	0.0823**	0.0580	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	0.0689	[0.0233]	0.0700	[0.0237]
	(0.0375)	(0.0450)	(0.0160)	(0.0361)	(0.0344)	(0.1130)		(0.1127)	
Kids: 1	-0.0740***	-0.0670***	-0.0240	-0.0460**	-0.0430**	-0.0010	[-0.0002]	0.0040	[0.0014]
	(0.0240)	(0.0205)	(0.0155)	(0.0213)	(0.0216)	(0.0865)		(0.0884)	
Kids: 2	-0.1210***	-0.1100***	-0.0390**	-0.0820***	-0.0780***	0.0210	[0.0071]	0.0280	[0.0094]
	(0.0268)	(0.0211)	(0.0152)	(0.0176)	(0.0173)	(0.0837)		(0.0861)	
Kids: 3	-0.1900***	-0.1990***	-0.0510**	-0.1600***	-0.1540***	-0.0910	[-0.0309]	-0.0780	[-0.0265]
	(0.0457)	(0.0390)	(0.0208)	(0.0335)	(0.0337)	(0.1104)		(0.1122)	
Kids: 4+	-0.1990***	-0.2070***	-0.0490**	-0.1750***	-0.1710***	-0.1720	[-0.0596]	-0.1650	[-0.0570]
	(0.0386)	(0.0301)	(0.0208)	(0.0305)	(0.0301)	(0.1234)		(0.1226)	
Spouse Less HS	-0.1730***	-0.1490***	-0.1170***	-0.1170***	-0.1160***	-0.2310***	[-0.0798]	-0.1170***	[-0.0791]
	(0.0291)	(0.0252)	(0.0238)	(0.0238)	(0.0228)	(0.0777)		(0.0238)	
Spouse Some College	0.0350	0.0410**	0.0470***	0.0470***	0.0450***	0.0330	[0.0108]	0.0470***	[0.0095]
	(0.0238)	(0.0202)	(0.0148)	(0.0148)	(0.0141)	(0.0620)		(0.0148)	
Spouse College Graduate	0.0230	0.0520	0.0280	0.0280	0.0270	0.0500	[0.0165]	0.0280	[0.0158]
	(0.0506)	(0.0443)	(0.0333)	(0.0333)	(0.0321)	(0.1356)		(0.0333)	
Suppressed Demographics	х	Х	Х	Х	х	х		х	
Wage Splines	x	x	х	х	x	x		х	
Job Characteristics	x	х	х	х	х	х		x	
State Effects	x	х	х	х	х	х		×	
Year Effects	x	х	x	х	х	х		x	
Prior Spousal LS			x	x	x	х		x	
Observations	2,532	4,136	4,136	3,591	3,591	3,5	91	3,5	91

Table 3						
Spousal Labor Supply - Participation Response						

Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). In specifications (1)-(5), the dependent variable is average monthly spousal labor participation across the duration of the unemployment spell of the primary earner or husband as relevant. In specifications (6)-(7), the dependent variable is an indicator for any spousal work over the course of the spell. Observations are person-spell level. Spells are restricted to couples continuously married throughout the respective panel. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the couple's number of spells, such that a couple's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. The web has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on average spousal labor force participation. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001. Omitted categories include: spouse age 25-29, spouse white, no kids, and spouse HS. Suppressed demographics not reported include: primary earner age bins, primary earner race, and primary earner educational attainment bins.

<sup>1</sup> Specification (1) sample is constructed to proxy the baseline specification of Cullen and Gruber (2000). UI-eligible unemployment spells of prime-age males with sufficient earnings history to impute high-quarter wages are retained. Spells are drawn exclusively from the 1984-1988 and 1990-1992 panels. No restriction is placed on relative earnings of the spouses.

<sup>2</sup> Specification (2) and (3) extend the framework of specification (1) by incorporating the 1993, 1996, and 2001 panels. Specification (3) incorporates a binary control for pre-separation spousal labor supply.

<sup>3</sup> Specifications (4) and (5) do not restrict by gender, but rather restrict to UI-eligible separations of the household's empirically-identified primary earner. An additional gender control is incorporated into the demographics set. Specifications (6) and (7) consider probit specifications as an alternative to linear estimation. Marginal effects are reported in brackets alongside the relevant coefficients.

	10							
Spousal Labor Supply - Hours Response								
	OLS	2SLS	Tobit	IVTobit				
Mean Dependent	21.5	21.5	21.5	21.5				
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)				
UI WBA	-2.212**	-4.692**	-3.265**	-7.530**				
	(1.027)	(2.162)	(1.494)	(3.366)				
			[-2.013]	[-4.961]				
Demographics	х	x	х	х				
Wage Splines	Х	х	х	Х				
Job Characteristics	Х	х	х	Х				
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х				
Predicted Wage	х	х	х	х				
State Effects	Х	х	х	х				
Year Effects	х	х	х	х				
Prior Spousal LS	х	х	х	Х				

Table A

=

	Spousa	I Labor Supply	/ - Earnings Re	esponse		
	OLS	2SLS	Tobit	IVTobit	LAD	IVLAD
Mean Dependent	\$190	\$190	\$190	\$190	\$190	\$190
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
UI WBA	-15.42*	-29.26**	-26.53*	-58.26*	-7.57	-20.83**
	(8.55)	(14.61)	(15.124)	(30.03)	(6.59)	(9.40)
			[-14.33]	[-30.77]		
Demographics	х	х	х	x	х	х
Wage Splines	х	х	х	х	Х	Х
Job Characteristics	х	х	х	х	Х	Х
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х	Х	Х
Predicted Wage	х	х	х	х	Х	Х
State Effects	х	х	х	х	Х	Х
Year Effects	х	х	х	х	Х	Х
Prior Spousal LS	х	х	x	х	х	х
Observations	3,591	3.591	3.591	3,591	3.591	3.591

Table 5

3,591 Observations Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). Dependent variable is average weekly spousal hours worked across the duration of the unemployment spell of the empirically-identified primary earner. Observations are person-spell level. Spells are restricted to couples continuously married throughout the respective panel. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the couple's number of spells, such that a couple's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on average weekly spousal hours worked. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Tobit marginal effects on observed average weekly spousal hours worker are reported in brackets alongside the relevant coefficients. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

3,591

3.591

3.591

Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). Dependent variable is average weekly spousal earnings across the duration of the unemployment spell of the empiricallyidentified primary earner. Earnings are expressed in real 1990 dollars. Observations are personspell level. Spells are restricted to couples continuously married throughout the respective panel. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the couple's number of spells, such that a couple's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on average weekly spousal earnings. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Tobit marginal effects on observed average weekly spousal hours worker are reported in brackets alongside the relevant coefficients. LAD and IVLAD 'median regression' standard errors are bootstrapped, owing to the two-stage nature of the IVLAD estimator. Sampling units are defined as couples, rather than states, given severely limited states relative to couples. Thus bootstrapped standard errors will be robust to inter-spell correlation for a given couple, but not inter-spell correlation across couples within a state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

	Employed				Hours				Earnings			
Sample Restriction	Non-Working Spouse		UI-Ineligible Spouse		Non-Working Spouse		UI-Ineligible Spouse		Non-Working Spouse		UI-Ineligible Spouse	
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS
Mean Dependent	0.250	0.250	0.168	0.168	9.9	9.9	6.1	6.1	\$73	\$73	\$39	\$39
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)
UI WBA	-0.0781*	-0.1377**	-0.0455*	-0.1124**	-2.269	-6.623**	-1.410	-4.701*	-20.34	-61.55**	-12.34	-32.95**
	(0.0443)	(0.0610)	(0.0260)	(0.0532)	(1.622)	(3.017)	(1.516)	(2.453)	(13.71)	(25.32)	(9.09)	(16.47)
Demographics	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	X	X
Wage Splines	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Job Characteristics	Х	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	х	х	х
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Predicted Wage	Х	х	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	х	х
State Effects	Х	х	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Year Effects	х	х	х	x	x	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Observations	1,743	1,743	1,208	1,208	1,743	1,743	1.208	1,208	1,743	1,743	1.208	1.208

Table 6 Purging Spousal UI Eligibility

Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). Dependent variable is average spousal labor supply (average monthly participation, weekly spousal hours worked, weekly spousal earnings) across the duration of the unemployment spell of the empirically-identified primary earner. Observations are person-spell level. Spells are restricted to couples continuously married throughout the respective panel. All specifications are restricted to spells where the spouse is non-working in the wave prior to separation of the primary earner. 'UI-Ineligible' specifications impose further restrictions on the status of the spouse in the wave prior to separation to target UI-ineligible spouses at the point of separation. Specifically, a spell is excluded if: (a) the spouse is non-employed, reports layoff or searching for work, and UI-eligibility cannot be inferred, or (b) the spouse is unemployed and prior earnings appear to make the spouse UI-eligible. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the couple's number of spells, such that a couple's weights sum to 1. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wba on average spousal labor supply. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.
		Net	Net Liquid Wealth Quartile				
Sample	Pooled	1	2	3	4		
Net Liquid Wealth Range	•	<(\$1,089)	(\$1,089)-\$0	\$1-\$5,735	>\$5,735		
Spousal Labor Supply Across Spell							
Mean (Employed)	17.5	16.9	13.7	21.3	19.0		
Mean (Weekly Hours)	5.3	6.7	4.4	7.1	3.3		
Mean (Weekly Hours), Hours>0	27.1	31.4	26.3	28.5	21.1		
Mean (Weekly Earnings)	\$36	\$38	\$20	\$43	\$43		
Mean (Weekly Earnings), Earnings>0	\$156	\$184	\$106	\$152	\$182		
Mean Hourly Wage	\$6.70	\$6.48	\$6.21	\$6.84	\$7.46		
Demographics							
Spouse Female	91.0	87.8	92.9	93.4	89.9		
Age	38.7	37.8	37.9	38.6	40.8		
Spouse Age	36.5	35.4	36.3	36.2	39.0		
Non-White	6.5	2.9	11.5	7.4	3.6		
Spouse Non-White	8.8	3.6	16.0	10.7	4.3		
Number of Children	2.0	2.1	2.3	1.8	1.6		
Education: Less than HS	27.9	28.1	45.5	22.1	12.9		
Education: HS Graduate	33.6	37.4	36.5	41.8	19.4		
Education: Some College	21.9	27.3	14.1	19.7	27.3		
Education: 4+ Years of College	16.5	7.2	3.8	16.4	40.3		
Spouse Education: Less than HS	25.9	27.3	40.4	23.0	10.8		
Spouse Education: HS Graduate	41.7	43.2	42.3	48.4	33.8		
Spouse Education: Some College	21.0	23.7	14.7	21.3	25.2		
Spouse Education: 4+ Years of College	11.3	5.8	2.6	7.4	30.2		
Annual Earnings	\$22,681	\$17.365	\$14.333	\$24.318	\$35.931		
Median Annual Earnings	\$18,148	\$15,113	\$11.135	\$23,102	\$28,839		
Predicted Mean Spousal Hourly Wage	\$7.85	\$7.81	\$7.15	\$7.55	\$8.95		
State Unemployment Rate	6.5	6.3	6.6	6.8	6.3		
Completed Spell Durations (Weeks)							
Duration	21.6	19.4	24.9	21.0	20.7		
Median Duration	17.0	16.0	17.0	16.0	17.0		
UI Benefits							
Eligible Real WBA	\$173	\$164	\$138	\$188	\$209		
Eligible UI Replacement Rate	49.4	53.1	56.9	47.5	38.7		
UI Take-Up Rate	55.6	56.8	48.7	54.9	62.6		
Spousal Receipt	0.9	0.6	1.1	1.3	0.6		
Assets							
Net Liquid Wealth	\$11,676	-\$6,827	-\$228	\$1,570	\$52,409		
Median Net Liquid Wealth	\$0	-\$4,520	\$0	\$1,082	\$30,181		
iquid Wealth	\$14,723	\$740	\$196	\$2,743	\$55,523		
Median Liquid Wealth	\$461	\$70	\$0	\$1,444	\$31,929		
Jnsecured Debt	\$3,047	\$7,567	\$425	\$1,172	\$3,114		
Median Unsecured Debt	\$613	\$4,895	\$0	\$97	\$331		
Home Equity	\$28,909	\$21,844	\$9,409	\$28,064	\$58,602		
Median Home Equity	\$7,126	\$7,636	\$0	\$11,594	\$45,092		
Mortgage Indicator	46.9	57.6	23.7	45.1	64.0		
Renter Indicator	34.2	27.3	55.8	34.4	16.5		
Number of Spells	659	165	184	145	165		

 Table 7

 Summary Statistics by Net Liquid Wealth Quartile

Table entries are means unless otherwise noted. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. Replacement rate is individual weekly benefit amount divided by weekly pre-unemployment wage. Unemployment duration is defined as time elapsed from end of last job to start of next job and does not adjust for right-censoring. Asset and liability data are collected at a single point within the 1985, 1987, and 1990-1993 panels, at two points in the 1986 panel, and once annually in the 1996 and 2001 panel. Eligible unemployment spells without sufficient asset data are excluded, including spells for which asset data are observed following a job separation. This restriction excludes approximately 45% of the restricted sample of UI-ineligible, non-employed spouses prior to UI-eligible separation of the household primary earner. Liquid wealth is defined as total household wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Net liquid wealth is defined as liquid wealth minus unsecured debt. All monetary values are in real 1990 dollars.

				Hetero	ogeneous Effe	ts by Househol	ld NLW							
		Household Net Liquid Wealth												
		Below Median						Above Median						
Measure of Spousal LS	Employed		Hours		Earnings		Employed		Hours		Earnings			
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS		
Mean Dependent	0.152	0.152	5.5	5.5	\$28	\$28	0.201	0.201	5.1	5.1	\$43	\$43		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)		
UI WBA	-0.0973	-0.3875**	-3.724	-10.043**	-18.30	-72.62*	-0.0188	-0.0699	-0.918	-1.724	-7.68	-19.02		
	(0.083)	(0.1738)	(3.571)	(4.886)	(15.55)	(38.73)	(0.0615)	(0.2020)	(2.396)	(3.185)	(26.12)	(42.26)		
Demographics	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	x	x	x		
Wage Splines	х	х	x	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		
Job Characteristics	х	х	x	х	х	x	x	х	x	х	х	х		
Unemployment Rate	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	х	х	х	x	x		
Predicted Wage	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	х	х		
State Effects	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	x		
Year Effects	x	x	x	х	х	х	x	x	x	x	x	x		
Observations	349	349	349	349	349	349	310	310	310	310	310	310		

Table 8 eterogeneous Effects by Household NLW

Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). Dependent variable is average spousal labor supply (average monthly participation, weekly spousal hours worked, weekly spousal earnings) across the duration of the unemployment spell of the empirically-identified primary earner. Observations are person-spell level. Spells are restricted to couples continuously married throughout the respective panel. Specifications are restricted to spells where the spouse is non-employed and UI-ineligible in the wave prior to the UI-eligible separation of the primary earner. A spell is excluded if: the spouse is non-employed and UI-ineligible in the wave prior to the UI-eligible separation of the primary earner. A spell is excluded if: the spouse is non-employed, reports layoff or searching for work, and UI-eligibility cannot be inferred; or the spouse is unemployed and prior earnings appear to make the spouse UI-eligible. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the couple's number of spells, such that a couple's weights sum to 1. Liquid wealth is defined as total household wealth minus home, business, and vehicle equity. Net liquid wealth is defined as liquid wealth minus unsecured debt. Individual UI weekly beneft amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. The wba has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in what on average spousal labor supply. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.

				Heterogeneo	ous Effects by	Household Wort	gage status							
		Household Mortgage Status at Point of Separation												
		Mortgage=1						Mortgage=0						
Measure of Spousal LS	Employed		Hours		Ear	Earnings		Employed		Hours		Earnings		
	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS	OLS	2SLS		
Mean Dependent	0.182	0.182	4.8	4.8	\$44	\$44	0.169	0.169	5.7	5.7	\$29	\$29		
Specification	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)		
	-0.1245	-0.3506**	-6.084**	-15.260***	-54.83**	-127.17***	-0.0228	-0.0412	-1.005	-2.027	-16.36	-22.38		
OI WEA	(0.0964)	(0.1473)	(2.388)	(5.792)	(24.99)	(40.67)	(.0236)	(.0413)	(2.667)	(6.017)	(20.64)	(31.05)		
Demographics	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	х	х	х		
Wage Splines	х	x	х	х	х	х	х	x	х	x	х	x		
lob Characteristics	х	х	х	x	х	х	х	x	х	x	х	х		
Unemployment Rate	x	x	x	x	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	X		
Predicted Wage	x	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	х		
State Effects	x	х	х	х	х	х	x	х	х	х	х	х		
Year Effects	x	x	x	x	х	x	х	х	х	x	x	x		
Observations	309	309	309	309	309	309	350	350	350	350	350	350		

 Table 9

 Heterogeneous Effects by Household Mortgage Status

Results correspond to estimating modifications of Equation (1). Dependent variable is average spousal labor supply (average monthly participation, weekly spousal hours worked, weekly spousal earnings) across the duration of the unemployment spell of the empirically-identified primary earner. Observations are person-spell level. Spells are restricted to couples continuously married throughout the respective panel. Specifications are restricted to spells where the spouse is non-employed and UI-ineligible in the wave prior to the UI-eligible separation of the primary earner. A spell is excluded if: the spouse is non-employed, reports layoff or searching for work, and UI-eligibility cannot be inferred; or the spouse is unemployed and prior earnings appear to make the spouse UI-eligible. Spells have been weighted by the reciprocal of the couple's number of spells, such that a couple's weights sum to 1. Mortgage proxy indicates household status at the point of separation. Individual UI weekly benefit amount is simulated per discussion in Section 4.2. The wha has been expressed in real 1990 dollars and scaled by 1/100, thus the coefficient corresponds to the effect of a \$100 increase in wha on average spousal labor supply. Standard errors, reported in parentheses beneath the estimated coefficients, are adjusted to accommodate an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix within each state. Statistical significance is reported at the following p-values: \*-0.10, \*\*-0.05, \*\*\*-0.001.